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I.  Letter to Shareholders 

Dear Shareholders, 

In 2019, although eMemory suffered a slight decline in revenue due to the dramatic changes in the 
global political and economic environment and the replacement of customer products, but it still has 
considerable results in product applications and technology platforms. 

In the following we will report our operation results of 2019. 
Operation results: The overall revenue is NT$ 1,410.09 million, license fee contribute NT$ 430.27 
million which is accounts for 30.5% of revenue, whereas royalty contribute NT$ 979.82 million 
which is accounts for 69.5% of the revenue. As compared to 2018, the license fee down 4.3% and the 
royalty down 4.06%. The royalty from NeoFuse technology grows 50.7% because of increasing 
production from advanced node. In addition, NeoPUF has begun to generate revenue which is very 
exciting to us. 
Financial results: Our operating profit is NT$ 621.32 million and down 7.6% as compared to 2018, 
and net income is NT$ 542.07 million and down 11.6% yearly, the earning per share is NT$ 7.30 
which down 10.2% as compared to 2018. 
The net cash flow is reduced by NT$ 38.15 million due to the payment of cash dividends. 

eMemory has developed various new embedded non-volatile memory process platforms to meet the 
demands of different applications among them: 
For technology platform ready for production. OTP / PUF has been advanced to 7 nm, 12/14nm and 
22/28 nm. We are now the only IP provider to provide 7 nm OTP IP. And, 0.13um MTP in BCD 
process with automotive-grade also moves into production phase.  
For new technology development. We continue developing more OTP platforms from 14 nm to 5 nm 
across foundries. In addition, we continue to develop MTP in BCD and provide solutions for Power 
Management applications. Besides the progress in OTP and MTP, our disruptive innovation in PUF 
(Physical Unclonable Function) has also been verified in 7 nm, which is a very significant milestone 
for eMemory to move into security era.  
Due to wide availability of OTP & MTP process platforms, in 2019, we have achieved more than 400 
design licenses and more than 3.92 million of wafers manufactured using our technologies. 
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Looking forward in 2020 and beyond, our IPs will keep deployed widely in the applications of 
OLED/LCD Driver IC, TDDI, PMIC, Type-C, DTV, Surveillance and STB IC’s. In the meantime, 
eMemory IP solutions will penetrate into the application segments of DRAM, under-glass fingerprint 
sensors, wireless charger and connectivity IC’s. The applications in more chips with the security 
functions of PUF are also highly expected. 

eMemory is ranked as the top 10 IP companies in the world, receives TSMC’s IP Partner Award for 10 
consecutive years, and is the No.1 player in the logic NVM technology. Regarding corporate 
governance, eMemory was awarded the "Top 5 Percent Companies" by the 5th Corporate Governance 
Evaluation by the Securities and Futures Market Development Foundation. The competence is 
attributed to the spirit of teamwork and innovation, excellent service quality, and professional 
operation flows. We are very confident that our technologies and IP’s will continue to add values to 
our customers, and our disruptive technology, NeoPUF, will lead us to expand our business greatly in 
the emerging markets, such as IoT, AI, Autonomous driving and Blockchain. 

At last not the least, we thank you all for the long term support to eMemory. We will continue to move 
forward to make eMemory become world -leading technology and IP company. 

Chairman:  
Charles Hsu 

President:  
Rick Shen 

Accounting Officer:  
Teresa Kuo 
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II. Company Profile 

2.1  Date of Incorporation: Sep. 2, 2000 

2.2  Corporate Milestones 

Year Milestones 
Aug. 2000 eMemory founded as eMemory Technology Inc. 
Mar. 2001 eMemory receives approval to move into Hsinchu Science Park 
Sep. 2001 Wholly owned subsidiary Lotus Glade Investment Inc. founded 
Apr. 2002 eMemory licenses technology to Mitsubishi Electric 
Jul. 2002 eMemory moves into Hsinchu Science Park 
Nov. 2002 eMemory licenses technology to Chartered Semiconductor 
Apr. 2003 eMemory licenses technology to Renesas Technology 
Apr. 2003 eMemory announces NeoBit applications for ROM replacement in MCU 

Sep. 2003 
eMemory licenses technology to Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Company 
(TSMC) 

Oct. 2003 eMemory announces NeoBit applications for electrical fuse 
Jan. 2004 eMemory licenses technology to Chartered Semiconductor 
Jun. 2004 eMemory announces NeoBit applications for trimming circuit in LCD driver 
Aug. 2004 eMemory announces NeoBit applications for RFID  

Oct. 2004 
eMemory announces NeoBit prototype in 0.11um technology for DRAM 
redundancy  

Oct. 2004 eMemory provides 0.18um NeoBit OTP/MTP solutions for LCD driver IC 
Jan. 2005 eMemory announces NeoBit applications for speech IC 

Jan. 2005 
eMemory licenses technology to Vanguard International Semiconductor 
Corporation (VIS) 

Mar. 2005 eMemory announces NeoBit prototype in 0.13um process 
Apr. 2005 eMemory licenses technology to Ricoh 
Apr. 2005 eMemory licenses technology to Powerchip Semiconductor Corporation (PSC) 
Jun. 2005 Production of NeoBit reaches 10,000 wafers  
Oct. 2005 NeoBit NVM wins the National Invention and Creation Gold Medal Award 
Oct. 2005 eMemory licenses technology to Toshiba  
Mar. 2006 eMemory licenses technology to OKI  
Mar. 2006 eMemory licenses technology to NJRC  
Apr. 2006 Advance NeoFlash embedded non-volatile memory technology is qualified 
Apr. 2006 eMemory licenses technology to Silterra 

Jul. 2006 
eMemory provides high voltage NeoBit processes and improves wafer yield and 
performance 

Oct. 2006 NeoBit production reaches 100,000 wafers 
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Year Milestones 
Dec. 2006 eMemory wins Industrial Innovation Award 
Mar. 2007 Production of NeoBit reaches 150,000 wafers 
Mar. 2007 eMemory listed in Taiwan Emerging Market: ticker number #3529 
Jul. 2007 eMemory customers adopt 0.13um NeoBit in mass production 
Jul. 2007 eMemory licenses technology to NECEL 
Sep. 2007 eMemory licenses technology to Magnachip  
Oct. 2007 Production of NeoBit reaches 300,000 wafers  
Nov. 2007 NeoBit qualified in 0.13um high-voltage process for LCD driver applications 
Feb. 2008 Production of NeoBit reaches 400,000 wafers 

Feb. 2008 
Expanded NeoBit non-volatile memory cooperation in 0.18um logic process 
platform with Magnachip 

May 2008 eMemory licenses technology to Fujitsu Microelectronics Limited  
May 2008 eMemory licenses technology to United Microelectronics Corporation (UMC) 
Jun. 2008 eMemory licenses technology to Dongbu HiTek 

Sep. 2008 
Expanded non-volatile memory cooperation in high-voltage and logic process 
platforms with Magnachip 

Oct. 2008 
eMemory wins Industrial Technology Advancement Award and National Invention 
and Creation Award 

Nov. 2008 
0.13um high-voltage NeoBit process for LCD driver applications goes into mass 
production 

Dec. 2008 NeoFlash qualified in 0.18um ULL process 

Dec. 2008 Production of NeoBit reaches 900,000 wafers 

Jan. 2009 
NeoFlash in 0.13um process demonstrates ultra-low power program/erase 
performance 

Apr. 2009 eMemory licenses technology to Mitsumi Electronic 

May 2009 eMemory announces NeoROM, a low-cost OTP mass production solution 

Jul. 2009 
eMemory’s NeoBit OTP production reaches 1 million wafers; IP solutions for 65 
nm processes launched 

Jul. 2009 eMemory licenses technology to Mitsumi Electronic 

Sep. 2009 
eMemory breaks new ground launching industrial-grade embedded NVM for 
power management solution 

Nov. 2009 
Successful development of high-density OTP in advanced high-voltage process to 
meet requirement for larger memory when LCD driver and touch panel 
applications are combined in one chip 

Mar. 2010 
eMemory collaborates with MagnaChip to offer 0.11um high-voltage embedded 
NVM technology 

Mar. 2010 eMemory announces NeoEE prototype in 0.18um process technology 
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Year Milestones 

May 2010 
eMemory responds to market needs by offering complete set of multiple-time 
programmable (MTP) embedded NVM solutions 

Jun. 2010 
NeoEE in 0.18um process demonstrates ultra-high endurance (100,000) 
performance 

Jul. 2010 eMemory announces industry’s first Green High Density OTP solution 

Jul. 2010 
eMemory becomes the first automotive-grade OTP provider to automotive IC 
makers 

Oct. 2010 eMemory wins TSMC’s 2010 IP Partner Award 

Nov. 2010 eMemory is honored as one of Asia’s 200 Best Under A Billion by Forbes 

Nov. 2010 eMemory holds the first Embedded Tech Forum 

Dec. 2010 
eMemory NeoFlash offers an unrivalled, highly reliable embedded flash solution 
for automotive electronic applications  

Jan. 2011 eMemory lists on Taipei Exchange (GreTai Securities Market) on 24 January 2011

Mar. 2011 
Volume production of cost-effective OTP solution for MCU application with 
GSMC 

Mar. 2011 
Use of touch panel controllers and energy-saving devices proliferates, leading to 
significant growth in NeoFlash applications 

Apr. 2011 eMemory's NeoEE verified, targets NFC applications 

Jun. 2011 eMemory's NeoBit OTP qualified at 12" foundry in 80nm technology  

Jul. 2011 eMemory offers eNVM IP in TSMC 80nm high-voltage technology  

Aug. 2011 
eMemory licenses technology to Shanghai Huali Microelectronics Corporation 
(HLMC) 

Sep. 2011 eMemory licenses technology to GSMC 

Oct. 2011 eMemory honored again as one of Asia's 200 Best Under A Billion by Forbes 

Oct. 2011 eMemory wins TSMC’s 2011 IP Partner Award 

Oct. 2011 
eMemory and Grace Semiconductor expand partnership, developing diverse 
solutions and advanced processes 

Nov. 2011 eMemory NeoBit silicon IP advances in 3D image application 

Dec. 2011 
eMemory masters developing trends in technology and expands into advanced 
technology 

Dec. 2011 NeoBit in 65nm is qualified in a Tier 1 foundry and enters mass production 

Jan. 2012 eMemory licenses technology to Vanguard 

Mar. 2012 eMemory announces ultra-low power OTP solution in low-cost process platform 

Mar. 2012 eMemory and HLMC collaborate on high-voltage advanced fabrication platform 

Mar. 2012 eMemory licenses technology to Mitsubishi Electronic 

May 2012 eMemory’s NeoBit silicon IP to play important role in MEMS applications 
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Year Milestones 

Jun. 2012 eMemory licenses technology to TSMC 

Jul. 2012 
eMemory's embedded MTP solution- NeoEE passes verification in 65nm process 
node 

Sep. 2012 eMemory introduces new NeoMTP technology 

Oct. 2012 eMemory licenses technology to Magnachip 

Oct. 2012 eMemory receives TSMC’s IP Partner Award for the third straight year 

Nov. 2012 eMemory licenses technology to NXP 

Nov. 2012 
NeoFlash in 0.11um logic process qualified and enters mass production, 
demonstrating the best solution for touch-panel applications 

Dec. 2012 
eMemory’s eNVM silicon IP global deployment contributes to the growth of 
royalty income 

Dec. 2012 eMemory NeoEE silicon IP passes verification in SMIC 0.18um logic process 

Dec. 2012 MagnaChip joins eMemory in developing leading-edge 0.18um EEPROM IP 

Jan. 2013 eMemory's NeoEE silicon IP qualified for 2.4GHz RF product application 

Jan. 2013 
Taiwan Corporate Governance Association accredited eMemory with the 
Certificate of Corporate Governance System Evaluation – Version CG6007  

Mar. 2013 Production of eMemory's eNVM silicon IPs reaches 5 million wafers 

Mar. 2013 eMemory licenses technology to UMC 

Mar. 2013 
eMemory NeoEE Silicon IP passes verification in TSMC 0.16um mixed-signal 
process 

May 2013 eMemory develops NeoFuse—an innovative anti-fuse eNVM technology 

Jun. 2013 
eMemory and UMC expand non-volatile memory cooperation to advanced 28nm 
process  

Jun. 2013 
eMemory NeoEE silicon IP passes qualification in TSMC 0.16um mixed-signal 
process 

Aug. 2013 eMemory NeoEE silicon IP passes qualification in SMIC 0.18um logic process 

Aug. 2013 
eMemory offers mature Full-HD SDDI solutions in advanced 55nm high-voltage 
process  

Aug. 2013 
eMemory ranks as 「The Top 50 TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies with Most 
Valuable US Patents」according to the cooperatives evaluation result by Institute 
for Information Industry and Ocean Tomo 

Aug. 2013 
eMemory's NeoEE technology advances into BCD process platform, augmenting 
P-Gamma silicon IP product range and accelerating integration with power 
management ICs 

Sep. 2013 
eMemory's NeoMTP technology advances in extensive Touch Panel MCU and 
TDDI applications 
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Year Milestones 

Sep. 2013 eMemory receives SMIC’s IP Partner Award 

Oct. 2013 eMemory receives TSMC’s IP Partner Award for the fourth year in a row 

Oct. 2013 eMemory NeoEE silicon IP passes verification in HHGrace 0.153um logic process

Oct. 2013 eMemory NeoEE silicon IP passes verification in UMC 0.3m BCD process 

Oct. 2013 eMemory NeoEE silicon IP passes verification in UMC 0.18m BCD process 

Dec. 2013 eMemory and SMIC expand partnership in eNVM technical development 

Dec. 2013 MagnaChip and eMemory offer 0.18um EEPROM silicon IP 

Jan. 2014 eMemory NeoMTP silicon IP passes verification in UMC 0.11um logic process 

Jan. 2014 
eMemory NeoEE silicon IP passes qualification in HHGrace  0.11um 1.5V/3.3V 
low-power process 

Feb. 2014 eMemory expands NeoFlash’s industrial applications 

Feb. 2014 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes qualification in UMC 40nm low-power 
process 

Feb. 2014 eMemory NeoEE silicon IP passes qualification in UMC 0.3m BCD process 

Feb. 2014 
eMemory offers mature Full-HD SDDI solutions in advanced 55nm high-voltage 
process  

Mar. 2014 
eMemory's silicon IP NeoFuse received CA certification for advanced security 
applications  

Apr. 2014 eMemory's silicon IP introduced to electro-medical applications 

Apr. 2014 eMemory NeoEE silicon IP passes qualification in UMC 0.18m BCD process 

Apr. 2014 
eMemory publishes first book by eNVM IP providers: LOGIC NON-VOLATILE 
MEMORY－NVM Solutions from eMemory 

Jun. 2014 
eMemory NeoEE silicon IP passes verification in HHGrace 0.18m 3.3V 
cost-effective process 

Jun. 2014 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes qualification in SMIC 55nm low-power 
process 

Jun. 2014 
eMemory ranked A+ in R.O.C. Securities & Futures Institute’s 11th Information 
Disclosure and Transparency Evaluation of Public Companies Ranking 

Jul. 2014 eMemory’s eNVM silicon IP NeoFuse contributes to revenue growth momentum 

Jul. 2014 eMemory NeoEE silicon IP expands wireless communication ICs applications  

Aug. 2014 
eMemory provides tailor-made MTP solutions in low-cost Green process 
platforms, develops diverse MCU product range 

Sep. 2014 eMemory receives again SMIC’s IP Partner Award  

Sep. 2014 eMemory receives TSMC’s IP Partner Award for five consecutive years 

Sep. 2014 eMemory NeoMTP silicon IP passes qualification in UMC 0.11um logic process 

Sep. 2014 eMemory NeoEE silicon IP passes verification in HHGrace 0.18m logic process 
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Year Milestones 

Sep. 2014 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes qualification in TSMC 28nm HKMG 2.5V 
process 

Oct. 2014 eMemory NeoEE silicon IP advances into automotive electronics applications 

Nov. 2014 eMemory offers IP industry-leading hybrid MTP silicon IP 

Nov. 2014 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes qualification in TSMC 28nm low-power 
process 

Dec. 2014 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes qualification in TSMC 55nm low-power 
process 

Dec. 2014 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes qualification in TSMC 55nm high-voltage 
process 

Jan. 2015 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes qualification in UMC 55nm high-voltage 
process 

Jan. 2015 eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes verification in SMIC 28nm low-power process

Jan. 2015 
eMemory NeoEE silicon IP passes verification in HHGrace 0.13um 1.5V/3.3V 
low-power process 

Feb. 2015 
Fingerprint application opens up market demands for eMemory’s logic NVM IP 
solutions 

Feb. 2015 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes qualification in SMIC 40nm low-power 
process 

Feb. 2015 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes qualification in GLOBALFOUNDRIES 28nm 
low-power process 

Mar. 2015 
Andes and eMemory announce new IC security solutions for IoT security 
applications 

Mar. 2015 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes qualification in TSMC 40nm low-power 
process 

Apr. 2015 
eMemory ranked A++ in R.O.C. Securities & Futures Institute’s 12th Information 
Disclosure and Transparency Evaluation of Public Companies Ranking 

Apr. 2015 
eMemory was ranked TOP 20% in the 2014 Corporate Governance Evaluation of 
Public Companies conducted by R.O.C Securities & Futures Institute 

May 2015 eMemory NeoFuse technology is verified in 16nm FinFET process 

May 2015 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes verification in VIS 0.15um 1.8V/13.5V 
process 

Jun. 2015 
eMemory NeoEE silicon IP passes verification in GLOBALFOUNDRIES 0.18um 
3.3V MCU process 

Jun. 2015 eMemory launches ultra-low power MTP silicon IP for IoT applications 

Jun. 2015 eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes verification in TSMC 0.13um BCD process 

Jun. 2015 eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes verification in UMC 55nm CMOS-image 
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Year Milestones 
sensor process 

Jul. 2015 
eMemory offers logic NVM solutions to enhance IC performance for camera 
modules 

Jul. 2015 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes verification in GLOBALFOUNDRIES 55nm 
high-voltage process 

Jul. 2015 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes verification in PowerChip 63nm DRAM 
process 

Aug. 2015 
eMemory integrates OTP and MTP to offer industry-leading Combo and Hybrid 
silicon IPs 

Aug. 2015 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes qualification in UMC 28nm low-power 
process 

Aug. 2015 
eMemory NeoFuse silicon IP passes verification in TSMC 16nm FinFET Plus 
process 

Aug. 2015 
eMemory NeoMTP silicon IP passes verification in UMC 80nm high-voltage 
process 

Sep. 2015 eMemory receives again SMIC’s IP Partner Award 

Sep. 2015 eMemory receives TSMC’s IP Partner Award for six consecutive years 

Sep. 2015 
eMemory announces the first verified NeoFuse OTP IP in 16nm FinFET Plus 
process 

Jan. 2016 eMemory’s NeoFuse Technology: A Major Advance in Automotive Panel Driver IC

Mar. 2016 eMemory Announces Innovative Solution for Cryptographic Security 

Mar. 2016 
eMemory Announces Industry’s First 16nm FinFET Compact (FFC) Process 
Verified OTP Silicon IP 

Mar. 2016 
eMemory NeoEE silicon IP passes qualification in GLOBALFOUNDRIES 0.18um 
Green process 

Apr. 2016 
eMemory was ranked TOP 20% in the 2015 Corporate Governance Evaluation of 
Public Companies conducted by R.O.C Securities & Futures Institute 

Apr. 2016 eMemory Launches Enhanced NeoFuse IP for IoT Applications 

May 2016 eMemory NeoFuse IP Qualified in 40nm EHV Process 

Jul. 2016 
eMemory’s NeoEE Solution Facilitates Module Integration for Fingerprint 
Applications 

Jul. 2016 
eMemory Announces Comprehensive NVM Solution in 0.13um BCD Process for 
PMIC Applications 

Aug. 2016 eMemory Unveils EcoBit Technology for RFID and NFC Applications 

Sep. 2016 
eMemory once again receives TSMC’s IP Partner Award-the only eNVM Silicon 
Intellectual Property (Silicon IP) supplier in the world to receive the honor for 
seven consecutive years 
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Year Milestones 

Oct. 2016 eMemory Receives SMIC Best IP Partner Award for 4th Year in a Row 

Nov. 2016 eMemory’s NeoFuse IP Verified in TSMC 10nm FinFET Process 

Feb. 2017 eMemory Qualified NeoFuse in TSMC 16FFC Process 

Mar. 2017 eMemory’s NeoFuse Implemented in HV Process for OLED Application 

Apr. 2017 Over 100,000 Wafers Embedded with eMemory’s NeoEE IP Shipped 

Apr. 2017 
eMemory was ranked TOP 20% in the 2016 Corporate Governance Evaluation of 
Public Companies conducted by R.O.C Securities & Futures Institute 

May 2017 eMemory Taps into IoT Markets with its Game-Changing Security IP 

Jul. 2017 eMemory Announces Validation of On-Chip Security IP on UMC Advanced Nodes

Sep. 2017 eMemory receives TSMC’s IP Partner Award for eight consecutive years 

Oct. 2017 Over 18,000,000 Wafers Embedded with eMemory’s IP Shipped 

Dec. 2017 
eMemory receives Hsinchu Science Park Bureau Research and Development 
Achievement Award 

Dec. 2017 eMemory receives Hsinchu Science Park Bureau Innovative Product Award 

Apr. 2018 Over 20 Million Wafers Embedded with eMemory’s IP Shipped 

Apr. 2018 
eMemory was ranked TOP 20% in the 2017 Corporate Governance Evaluation of 
Public Companies conducted by R.O.C. Securities & Futures Institute 

Aug. 2018 
eMemory's 2nd Generation NeoMTP Enables a Wide Range of Power Management 
Applications on BCD Process    

Oct. 2018 
NeoFuse is qualified on Fully-Depleted Silicon On-Insulator (FD-SOI) process 
technology 

Oct. 2018 eMemory receives TSMC’s IP Partner Award for 9 consecutive years 

Feb. 2019 eMemory Receives ISSCC Award for Breakthrough Security Technology 

Mar. 2019 eMemory receives National Industrial Innovation Award 

Apr. 2019 
eMemory was ranked TOP 5% in the 2018 Corporate Governance Evaluation of 
Public Companies conducted by R.O.C. Securities & Futures Institute 

May 2019 Wholly owned subsidiary PUFsecurity Corporation founded 

Jun. 2019 eMemory’s NeoFuse Qualified on Winbond 25nm DRAM Process 

Sep. 2019 eMemory receives TSMC’s IP Partner Award for 10 consecutive years 

Sep. 2019 
eMemory IP Garners Most Stringent Level of Certification for Automotive 
Applications 
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3.1.2 Major Corporate Functions 

Department Functions 

Chairman Office 

Set up the target for the Company, management strategy and planning of the Company, 

strategy and planning for the long term development of the Company, strategy and 

planning for technology development, investors relations etc. 

President Office 

1. Product strategy and managing the business of the Company. 

2. Provide managers for analysis strategy and execution of business operation and 

product planning, according to the Company’s need for business operation. 

Audit Office 
Establish and revise the internal control system, plan and execute the audit of internal 

control and follow up the improvement. 

Quality Management & 

Process Integration Department 

According to the requirements of International standard to establish the quality 
management system and ensure the system is effectively operated. From the viewpoint 
of process integration to setup the project and management system.  

Finance Department 
Funds management, bank transactions, accounting processing, production and analysis 

of financial statements, financial forecasting and control, stock-related matters.   

Administration 

Center 

Human 

Resource 

Department 

Human resources management and organizational development. 

Information 

Technology 

Department 

Information system framework, information system operation and development, 

information security management. 

Legal Affairs 

Department 

Legal affairs and contract management/contract drafting, review and negotiation /other 
general legal matters. 

Business Group 

I 

Product 

Division I 

Managing the silicon IP development project of NeoBit embedded floating gate 

technology for One-Time Programmable (OTP) non-volatile memory. 

Product 

Division II 

Managing the silicon IP development project of NeoFuse embedded Antifuse 

technology for One-Time Programmable (OTP) non-volatile memory and NeoPUF 

technology etc.  

Business Group 

II 

Product 

Division IV 

Managing the silicon IP development project of Multiple-Time Programmable (MTP) 

non-volatile memory (NeoEE, EcoBit, ReRAM… etc.). 

Product 

Division V 

Managing the silicon IP development project of Multiple-Time Programmable (MTP) 

non-volatile memory (NeoMTP, MagnaChip EEPROM, Neoflash … etc.). 

Engineering  

Center 

Product 

Integration 

Division 

Test & verification for product development, backend engineering outsourcing for IP 

product. 

IP Integration 

Division 
Layout engineering of product development. 
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Department Functions 

Engineering  

Center 

Integration 

Design 

Division 

CAD environment maintenance for product development, development of design 

automation and IP database system. 

Sales & 

Marketing 

Center 

Sales 

Department 
Sell products and develop/maintain relationships with customers. 

Customer 

Engineering 

Department 

1. Provide technical support including the delivery of specification and IP usage 

relevant information and the assistance in customer production. 
2. Cooperate with sales team to promote eMemory’s solutions. 

Customer 

Service 

Department 

Execute and manage sales flow, analysis sales and revenue, improve system working 

flow and manage key items. 

Market 

Development 

Department 

1. Have product marketing and promotion for major application and deal license 

agreement for strategic technology and platforms. 

2. Organize the trade shows/events and provide the promotion relevant materials. 
3. Make the marketing strategies and propose business models, analyze the market and 

applications of embedded NVM IP, advise on the deployment of technology 

platform for new product applications, plan and manage product strategy projects. 
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Major shareholders of the institutional shareholders                                                
04/12/2020 

Name of Institutional Shareholders Major Shareholders 

How-Han Investment Corporation 

Teresa Cheng 25.00%
Charles Hsu 15.00%
Felix Hsu 20.00%
Alexander Hsu 20.00%
Rosalind Hsu 20.00%

Major shareholders of the Company’s major institutional shareholders：None. 

Professional qualifications and independence analysis of Directors：
                              04/12/2020 

    Criteria  

Name 

Meet One of the Following Professional 
Qualification Requirements, Together with 

at Least Five Years Work Experience 
Independence Criteria(Note) 

Number of 
Other Public 
Companies in 

Which the 
Individual is 
Concurrently 
Serving as an 
Independent 

Director 

An Instructor 
or Higher 
Position in a 
Department 
of 
Commerce, 
Law, 
Finance, 
Accounting, 
or Other 
Academic 
Department 
Related to 
the Business 
Needs of the 
Company in 
a Public or 
Private 
Junior 
College, 
College or 
University 

A Judge, 
Public 
Prosecutor, 
Attorney, 
Certified 
Public 
Accountant, or 
Other 
Professional or 
Technical 
Specialist Who 
has Passed a 
National 
Examination 
and been 
Awarded a 
Certificate in a 
Profession 
Necessary for 
the Business 
of the 
Company 

Have Work 
Experience in 
the Areas of 
Commerce, 
Law, 
Finance, or 
Accounting, 
or Otherwise 
Necessary for 
the Business 
of the 
Company 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 

Charles Hsu  - - - - - -  -  2 

Mu-Chuan 
Hsu 

- - - - - -  0 

Teresa Cheng - - - - - - -  -  - 1 

Jason Hsu  -  - 1 

Li-Jeng Chen - - -  0 

Rick Shen - -  - -  1 

Kenneth Kin  -  2 

Ming-To Yu - -  1 

T.C. Chen - -  1 

Note: Please tick the corresponding boxes that apply to the directors or supervisors during the two years prior to being elected 

or during the term of office. 

1. Not an employee of the Company or any of its affiliates. 
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2. Not a director or supervisor of the Company or any of its affiliates. Not applicable in cases where the person is an 

independent director of the Company, its parent company, or any subsidiary as appointed in accordance with the 

Act or with the laws of the country of the parent or subsidiary. 

3. Not a natural-person shareholder who holds shares, together with those held by the person’s spouse, minor children, 

or held by the person under others’ names, in an aggregate amount of 1% or more of the total number of 

outstanding shares of the Company or ranking in the top 10 in holdings. 

4. Not a spouse, relative within the second degree of kinship, or lineal relative within the third degree of kinship, of 

any of the persons in the preceding 1 subparagraph, or of any of the above persons in the preceding subparagraphs 2 

and 3. 

5. Not a director, supervisor, or employee of a corporate/institutional shareholder that directly holds 5% or more of the 

total number of issued shares of the Company, ranks as of its top 5 shareholders, or has representative director(s) 

serving on the Company’s board based on Paragraph 1 or 2 Article 27 of the Company Act. Not applicable in cases 

where the person is an independent director of the Company, its parent company, or any subsidiary as appointed in 

accordance with the Act or with the laws of the country of the parent or subsidiary. 

6. Not a director, supervisor, or employee of a company of which the majority of board seats or voting shares is 

controlled by a company that also controls the same of the Company. Not applicable in cases where the person is an 

independent director of the Company, its parent company, or any subsidiary as appointed in accordance with the 

Act or with the laws of the country of the parent or subsidiary.  

7. Not a director, supervisor, or employee of a company of which the Chairman or President (or equivalent) 

themselves or their spouse also serve as the Company’s Chairman or President (or equivalent). Not applicable in 

cases where the person is an independent director of the Company, its parent company, or any subsidiary as 

appointed in accordance with the Act or with the laws of the country of the parent or subsidiary. 

8. Not a director, supervisor, officer, or shareholder holding 5% or more of the shares of a specified company or 

institution that has a financial or business relationship with the Company. Not applicable in cases where the person 

is an independent director of the Company, its parent company, or any subsidiary holds 20% or more and no more 

than 50% of the total number of issued shares of the Company and as appointed in accordance with the Act or with 

the laws of the country of the parent or subsidiary. 

9. Not a professional individual who, or an owner, partner, director, supervisor, or officer of a sole proprietorship, 

partnership, company, or institution that, provides auditing services to the Company or any affiliate of the Company, 

or that provides commercial, legal, financial, accounting or related services to the Company or any affiliate of the 

Company for which the provider in the past 2 years has received cumulative compensation exceeding NT$500,000, 

or a spouse thereof; provided, this restriction does not apply to a member of the remuneration committee, public 

tender offer review committee, or special committee for merger/consolidation and acquisition, who exercises 

powers pursuant to the Act or to the Business Mergers and Acquisitions Act or related laws or regulations. 

10. Not having a marital relationship, or a relative within the second degree of kinship to any other director of the 

Company.  

11. Not been a person of any conditions defined in Article 30 of the Company Act.  

12. Not a governmental, juridical person or its representative as defined in Article 27 of the Company Act. 
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3.3  Implementation of Corporate Governance 

3.3.1 Board of Directors 

A total of 5 (A) meetings of the Board of Directors were held in 2019. The attendance of director 
were as follows: 

Title Name 
Attendance in 

Person (B) 
By 

Proxy
Attendance Rate 

(%)【B/A】
Remarks 

Chairman Charles Hsu 5 0 100.00% 

Director Mu-Chuan Hsu 4 0  80.00% 

Director 

How-Han Investment 
Corporation 
Representative：
Teresa Cheng 

4 1  80.00% 

Director 

How-Han Investment 
Corporation 
Representative：
Jason Hsu 

4 1 80.00%  

Director Li-Jeng Chen 5 0 100.00% 

Director Rick Shen 5 0 100.00% 

Independent 
 Director 

Kenneth Kin 5 0 100.00% 

Independent 
 Director 

Ming-To Yu 4 1  80.00% 

Independent 
 Director 

T.C. Chen 5 0 100.00% 

Other mentionable items: 
1. If any of the following circumstances occur, the dates of the meetings, sessions, contents of 

motion, all independent directors’ opinions and the company’s response should be specified:  
(1) Matters referred to in Article 14-3 of the Securities and Exchange Act：The Company had 

established the Audit Committee, that the provisions of Article 14-3 shall not apply. With 
respect to the descriptions for the matters listed in Article 14-5 of the Securities and Exchange 
Act, please take a reference to 3.3.2 Audit Committee in page 33 of this Annual Report. 

(2) Other matters involving objections or expressed reservations by independent directors that 
were recorded or stated in writing that require a resolution by the board of directors：None. 

2. Any recusal of Directors due to conflicts of interests during the period of 2019 and up to April 12, 
2020 is set forth below: 

(1) The sixth meeting of seventh Board of Directors (2019.02.26) 
Subject: The distribution of employees’ compensation and team operation bonus to 

management team of the Company for 2018. 
Resolution: Chairmen Mr. Charles Hsu and Director Mr. Rick Shen (concurrently is the 

President) are the persons to be distributed in this proposal, Director Ms. Teresa 
Cheng is the spouse of Chairman, that they shall enter into recusal pursuant to the 
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law, and shall not participate in the discussion and vote. The chairperson was 
changed to be served by the Independent Director Mr. Kenneth Kin. After 
inquiring the other Directors attended at the meeting, this proposal was approved 
according to the examination result concluded by the Remuneration Committee 
convened on 2019.02.26 without any objection. 

(2) The seventh meeting of seventh Board of Directors (2019.04.24) 
Subject: Proposal of removing the prohibition on Directors from participation in competitive 

business newly added. 
Resolution: Director Mr. Rick Shen, Independent Directors Mr. Ming-To Yu, Mr. T.C. Chen 

are involved persons, Director Ms. Teresa Cheng and Mr. Jason Hsu are 
representatives of How-Han Investment Company who is a juristic person 
Director, shall enter into recusal pursuant to the law, and shall not participate in 
the discussion and vote. After inquiring the other Directors attended at the 
meeting, this proposal was approved according to the examination result 
concluded by the Audit Committee convened on 2019.04.24 without any 
objection. 

(3) The eighth meeting of seventh Board of Directors (2019.07.30) 
Subject: Distribution of the respective remuneration of Directors of the Company in 2018. 
Resolution: 1. Chairman Mr. Charles Hsu, Director Ms. Li-Jeng Chen, Mr. Mu-Chuan Hsu, 

Mr. Rick Shen are persons to be distributed under this proposal who shall enter 
into recusal pursuant to the law, and shall not participate in the discussion and 
vote. 

2. Director Ms. Teresa Cheng and Mr. Jason Hsu are representatives of 
How-Han Investment Company who is a juristic person Director shall enter 
into recusal pursuant to the law, and shall not participate in the discussion and 
vote. 

3. The chairperson was changed to be served by the Independent Director Mr. 
Kenneth Kin. After inquiring the other Directors attended at the meeting, this 
proposal was approved according to the examination result concluded by the 
Remuneration Committee convened on 2019.07.30 without any objection. 

Subject: Distribution of the remuneration of Independent Directors of the Company in 2018. 
Resolution: Independent Directors Mr. Kenneth Kin, Mr. T.C. Chen are persons to be 

distributed under this proposal who shall enter into recusal pursuant to the law, 
and shall not participate in the discussion and vote. After the chairperson inquired 
the other Directors attended at the meeting, this proposal was approved according 
to the examination result concluded by the Remuneration Committee convened 
on 2019.07.30 without any objection. 

(4) The ninth meeting of seventh Board of Directors (2019.10.23) 
Subject: The employee stock option certificates of subsidiary which are distributed to the 

managers of the Company and its subsidiary. 
Resolution: 1. The employee stock option certificates of the subsidiary, PUFsecurity, were 

distributed to the Chairman Mr. Charles Hsu due to his position as the manager 
of that subsidiary, and distributed to the Director Rick Shen due to his position 
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as the manager of the Company. Therefore, they should recuse themselves 
from the discussion and voting according to law. 

2. The chairperson was changed to be served by the Independent Director Mr. 
Kenneth Kin. After inquiring the other Directors attended at the meeting, this 
proposal was approved according to the examination result concluded by the 
Remuneration Committee convened on 2019.10.23 without any objection. 

(5) The eleventh meeting of seventh Board of Directors (2020.02.19) 
Subject: The distribution of employees’ compensation and team operation bonus to 

management team of the Company for 2019. 
Resolution: Chairmen Mr. Charles Hsu and Director Mr. Rick Shen (concurrently is the 

President) are the persons to be distributed in this proposal, Director Ms. Teresa 
Cheng is the spouse of Chairman, that they shall enter into recusal pursuant to the 
law, and shall not participate in the discussion and vote. The chairperson was 
changed to be served by the Independent Director Mr. Kenneth Kin. After 
inquiring the other Directors attended at the meeting, this proposal was approved 
according to the examination result concluded by the Remuneration Committee 
convened on 2020.02.19 without any objection. 

3. The evaluation of the Board of Directors: 
The rules and methodology for evaluating the performance of Board of Directors of the Company 
will be established before the end of 2020, and the performance appraisal is anticipated to be 
performed annually from the current year; the result of performance appraisal will be reported to 
the Board of Directors. 

4. The targets of enhancing the competence of Board of Directors in current year and latest year (ex. 
establishing the Audit Committee, enhancing the information transparency etc.) and the 
assessment of execution: 

(1) The Remuneration Committee had been established on October 20, 2011 by the Company, 
who takes charge of assisting the Board of Directors in assessing and establish the salary and 
remuneration of Directors and managers periodically, and on a regular schedule review the 
performance assessment of Directors and managers and the remuneration policy, system, 
standards and structure. 

(2) In order to further conform to the spirits of corporate governance, the Audit Committee had 
been voluntarily established on June 9, 2015, exercise the authority provided for in the 
Securities and Exchange Act, Company Act and other laws and regulations. 

(3) The “ Investor Relations” had been established on the website of the Company, which provides 
investors the information of financial, business, material information and corporate 
governance for reference, and have specific persons appointed to maintain the information; the 
spokesperson system and email address of Audit Committee had been established, for 
shareholders to inquire the financial , business related information of the Company. 

(4) The Company is dedicated in implementing corporate governance evaluation to improve the 
information transparency, in 2019, the Company was honorably ranked as “Top 5%” in the 
corporate governance evaluation system. Besides, the Company also selected as “TPEx 
Corporate Governance Index”, “TPEx 50 Index”,“TPEx 200 Index”, “TPEx Compensation 
Index” Constituents. 
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3.3.2 Audit Committee 

The main purpose of Audit Committee is assisting the Board of Directors in performing the 
supervision on the quality and faith of execution regarding accounting, audit, financial report 
process and financial control of the Company, the focuses of its practice in 2019 are set forth 
below: 

1. Reviewing and approving the annual and quarterly financial reports. 
2. Reviewing and approving the business report and proposal for distribution of profit. 
3. Reviewing and approving the amendments of “Procedures for Acquisition or Disposal of 

Assets”, “Procedures for Lending Funds to Other Parties”, “Procedures for Endorsement and 
Guarantee”, “Delegation of Authorization”. 

4. Assessing the effectiveness of internal control system. 
5. Reviewing and approving the fees, independence and performance of certified public 

accountant. 
6. Reviewing and approving the loan contract signed with bank. 
7. Reviewing and approving the newly added prohibition on Directors from participation in 

competitive business. 
8. Reviewing and approving the investment of establishing subsidiary. 
9. Reviewing and approving the transfer of employee stock option certificates to general shares 

and relevant change of registration. 
10. Reviewing and approving the proposal of audit plan. 
11. Reviewing and approving the amendments of “Internal Control System” and relevant 

“Implement of Internal Audit”. 
12. Reviewing and approving the proposal of annual budget. 

A total of 5 (A) Audit Committee meetings were held in 2019. The attendance of the 
independent directors was as follows: 

Title Name 
Attendance in 

Person (B) 
By Proxy 

Attendance Rate (%)
【B/A】

Remarks 

Independent 
 Director 

Kenneth Kin 5 0 100.00%  

Independent 
 Director 

Ming-To Yu 5 0 100.00%  

Independent 
 Director 

T.C. Chen 5 0 100.00%  

Other mentionable items: 
1. If any of the following circumstances occur, the dates of meetings, sessions, contents of motion, 

resolutions of the Audit Committee and the Company’s response to the Audit Committee’s opinion 
should be specified:  
(1) Matters referred to in Article 14-5 of the Securities and Exchange Act：After being approved by 

the concurrence of one-half or more of all members of the Audit Committee, all of these 
matters were sent to Board of Directors for approval by resolutions, there was not the situation 
of being approved by the concurrence of two-thirds or more of all members of the Board of 
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Directors and without the approval of Audit Committee, please take a reference to the Major 
Resolutions of Board Meetings in page 62~65 of this Annual Report . 

(2) Other matters which were not approved by the Audit Committee but were approved by 
two-thirds or more of all directors：None. 

2. Any recusal of Independent Directors due to conflicts of interests during the period of 2019 and up 
to April 12, 2020 is set forth below: 
The fifth meeting of second Audit Committee (2019.04.24) 
Subject: Proposal of removing the prohibition on Directors from participation in competitive 

business newly added. 
Resolution: (1) The current Independent Director Mr. Ming-To Yu, Mr. T. C. Chen are involved 

persons who shall enter into recusal pursuant to the law, and shall not participate in 
the discussion and vote. 

(2) To make the procedure go smoothly, the Independent Director under this proposal 
was reviewed individually and entered into recusal by turns, the resolution is 
concluded as in the followings: 
a. The review on Director: After inquiring all the attended members in the meeting 

by chairperson, this proposal was approved without any objection and sent to the 
Board of Directors for discussion and approval. 

b. The review on Mr. T. C. Chen: Director Mr. T. C. Chen entered into recusal, that 
Director Mr. Ming-To Yu (the chairperson) and Mr. Kenneth Kin performed the 
review, this proposal was approved as is without any objection, and proposed to 
the Board of Directors for approval. 

c. The review on Mr. Ming-To Yu: Director Mr. Ming-To Yu entered into recusal, 
that Director Mr. Kenneth Kin (the chairperson) and Mr. T. C. Chen performed 
the review, this proposal was approved as is without any objection, and proposed 
to the Board of Directors for approval. 

3. The Communication Situation Between the Independent Directors and Internal Audit Officer and 
CPA (shall include the communicated material matters, style and result in terms of financial, 
business status of the Company) 
(1) The Audit Officer attended to each meeting of the Audit Committee, and reported the audit 

practices during the meeting, the Independent Directors may thoroughly communicate with 
Audit Officer in face. 

(2) The Audit Officer will periodically submit audit report to the Independent Directors for review.
(3) The CPA of the Company attended to the meeting of Audit Committee for reviewing each 

quarter financial report and reported the situation of review or audit, the members of Audit 
Committee and CPA may thoroughly communicate with each other in face. 
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3.3.3 Corporate Governance Implementation Status and Deviations from “the Corporate 
Governance Best-Practice Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies” 

Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations from 
“the Corporate 

Governance 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” and 

Reasons 

Yes No Abstract Illustration 

1. Does the Company establish 
and disclose the Corporate 
Governance Best-Practice 
Principles based on 
“Corporate Governance 
Best-Practice Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx Listed 
Companies”? 

V  The Company had established the 
“Corporate Governance Practice 
Principles” based on “Corporate 
Governance Best-Practice Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies” and 
made it disclosed on the Company’s 
website and Market Observation Post 
System. 

None 

2. Shareholding structure & 
shareholders’ rights 
(1) Does the Company 

establish an internal 
operating procedure to 
deal with shareholders’ 
suggestions, doubts, 
disputes and litigations, 
and implement based on 
the procedure? 

(2) Does the Company 
possess the list of its major 
shareholders as well as the 
ultimate owners of those 
shares? 

(3) Does the Company 
establish and execute the 
risk management and 
firewall system within its 
conglomerate structure? 

(4) Does the Company 
establish internal rules 

V 

V 

V 

V 

(1) The Company had established 
spokesperson system and delegated 
specific person to take charge of 
shareholder services and handle the 
proposals submitted by shareholders, 
and further employed the legal 
counsel to assist replying and 
handling the legal inquiries from the 
shareholders.  

(2) The Company on schedule possesses 
the list of major shareholders of the 
actual controlling company and the 
ultimate owner of the major 
shareholders according to the 
shareholders roster provided by the 
stock agency when the share transfer 
registration is suspended. 

(3) The assets, finance, business and 
accounting affairs of the affiliates 
are all operated independently, and 
under the charge of specific person 
as well as controlled and audited by 
the parent company. 

(4) The Company had established the 
“Ethical Corporate Management 

None 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations from 
“the Corporate 

Governance 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” and 

Reasons 

Yes No Abstract Illustration 

against insiders trading 
with undisclosed 
information? 

Practice Principles” in which 
definitely provided that the 
personnel of the Company shall 
obey the provisions of the Securities 
and Exchange Act, and shall in no 
event make use of undisclosed 
information for insiders trading, as 
well as shall not disclose to any third 
party, to prevent insiders from 
trading with undisclosed 
information. 

3. Composition and 
Responsibilities of the Board 
of Directors 
(1) Does the Board develop 

and implement a 
diversified policy for the 
composition of its 
members? 

V (1) The composition of Directors is 
stipulated in the “Corporate 
Governance Practice Principles” of 
the Company, in consideration of 
diversification and the operation, type 
of business activities, and demands of 
development, the properly diversified 
policies are provided for the major 
two phases including but not limited 
to essential conditions and value (in 
gender, age, nationality, culture, etc.) 
and professional knowledge and skills 
(e.g. law, accounting, industry, 
finance, marketing, technology, etc.), 
and they generally possess the 
knowledge, skills and competence 
necessary for practicing their jobs. 
Currently, the 9 members of the 
Board of this term have professional 
backgrounds in industries, academia 
and medical science, 
and  professional specialties in the 
scopes of management, leadership 
and policy decision, industrial 

None 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations from 
“the Corporate 

Governance 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” and 

Reasons 

Yes No Abstract Illustration 

(2) Does the Company 
voluntarily establish other 
functional committees in 
addition to the 
Remuneration Committee 
and the Audit Committee? 

(3) Has the Company 
established the rules and 
methodology for 
evaluating the 
performance of its Board 
of Directors and taken the 
performance appraisal on 
an annual basis then 
making the appraisal result 
reported to the Board of 
Directors, which will be 
used as a reference for the 
remuneration and 
nomination for the renewal 
of respective director? 

(4) Does the Company 

V 

V 

V 

knowledges, academy and financial. 
Among the Directors, Directors with 
employee identity take a ratio of 11%; 
the Independent Directors take a ratio 
of 33%. In addition, the Company 
also concerns about the gender 
distribution of the Board; it is the 
target to have at least one seat of 
female Director. Currently, there are 
two female Directors which account 
for 22%. The seniority of the three 
Independent Directors are 4, 5, and 11 
years respectively; 6 Directors are 
more than 60 years old, and 3 
Directors are under the age of 60. 

(2) The Company had established Audit 
Committee voluntarily in 2015 while 
the establishment of Audit Committee 
is not compulsorily required; other 
functional committees will be 
established according to the demands 
of business operation in the future. 

(3) The rules and methodology for 
evaluating the performance of Board 
of Directors of the Company will be 
established before the end of 2020, 
and the performance appraisal is 
anticipated to be performed annually 
from the current year; the result of 
performance appraisal will be 
reported to the Board of Directors, 
and will be used as a reference for the 
remuneration and nomination for the 
renewal of respective director. 

(4) The Audit Committee and Board of 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations from 
“the Corporate 

Governance 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” and 

Reasons 

Yes No Abstract Illustration 

regularly evaluate the 
independence of CPAs? 

Directors of the Company annually 
evaluate the independence of CPAs 
pursuant to the provisions of No. 10 
of the Bulletin of Norm of 
Professional Ethics for Certified 
Public Accountant of the Republic of 
China, and obtain the Confirmation of 
Independence from CPAs; the latest 
evaluation date is December 18, 2019. 

4. Does the Company have an 
adequate number of corporate 
governance personnel with 
appropriate qualifications, and 
appoint a chief corporate 
governance officer who takes 
charge of the corporate 
governance affairs (including 
but not limited to furnishing 
information required for 
business execution by 
directors and supervisors, 
assisting directors and 
supervisors with legal 
compliance, handling matters 
relating to board meetings and 
shareholders’ meetings 
according to the laws, and 
producing minutes of board 
meetings and shareholders’ 
meetings, etc.)?  

V  Although the capital of the Company 
does not reach the standard of 
establishing a chief corporate governance 
officer, every unit of the Company takes 
charge of corporate governance related 
affairs according to their job functions: 
The stock affairs unit is responsible for 
handling the operation of Board of 
Directors, Audit Committee and 
Shareholders’ Meeting, and assists 
Directors in business execution in time 
and efficiently according to the “Standard 
Operational Protocol for Responding to 
Requests from Directors” of the 
Company; Human Resource Department 
is responsible for the works related to 
meetings of the Compensation 
Committee; President Office is the top 
leading unit for the scope of ethic 
corporate management and corporate 
social responsibility which is responsible 
for coordinating the target of corporate 
social responsibility and formulate the 
sustainable development policies, and 
annually report to the Board of Directors. 

None 

5. Does the Company establish a 
communication channel and 
build a designated section on 
its website for stakeholders 

V  The stakeholders of the Company may 
find the corresponding contact 
information through the “Stakeholder 
Engagement” on the website of the 

None 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations from 
“the Corporate 

Governance 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” and 

Reasons 

Yes No Abstract Illustration 

(including but not limited to 
shareholders, employees, 
customers, and suppliers), as 
well as handle all the issues 
they care for in terms of 
corporate social 
responsibilities? 

Company, or express opinions by sending 
emails to the members of Audit 
Committee. Furthermore, the area of 
“Social Responsibility” on the corporate 
website interprets the corporate social 
responsibility policy and explicit achieves 
in detail which provides the stakeholders 
for the ideas related to corporate social 
responsibility of the Company. 

6. Does the Company appoint a 
professional shareholder 
service agency to deal with 
shareholder affairs? 

V  The Company delegates the Brokerage 
Registry and Transfer Services 
Department of KGI Securities Co., Ltd. to 
deal with the shareholder affairs. 

None 

7. Information Disclosure 
(1) Does the Company have a 

corporate website to 
disclose both financial 
standings and the status of 
corporate governance? 

(2) Does the Company have 
other information 
disclosure channels (e.g. 
building an English 
website, appointing 
designated people to 
handle information 
collection and disclosure, 
creating a spokesman 
system, webcasting 
investor conferences)? 

(3) Does the Company publish 
and report its annual 
financial report within two 
months after the end of a 
fiscal year, and publish 

V 

V 

V 

(1) The Company has a corporate 
website both in Chinese and English 
to disclose both financial standings 
and the status of corporate 
governance. 

(2) The Company had built a corporate 
website both in Chinese and English 
and appointed designated people to 
handle information collection and 
disclosure; carried out the 
spokesman system; participate in the 
investor conference held by the 
external institutes without a fixed 
schedule, and voluntarily webcast 
the investor meeting each quarter, 
the information for investor 
conference had been disclosed on 
the Market Observation Post System 
and the corporate website. 

(3) The Company had published and 
reported its annual financial reports 
of 2018 and 2019 on February 27, 
2019 and February 20, 2020 
respectively, and the financial 

None 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations from 
“the Corporate 

Governance 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” and 

Reasons 

Yes No Abstract Illustration 

and report its financial 
reports for the first, second 
and third quarters as well 
as its operating status for 
each month before the 
specified deadline? 

reports for the first, second and third 
quarters of 2019 and the financial 
reports for the first quarter of 2020 
as well as its operating status for 
each month had been published and 
reported before the specified 
deadline. 

8. Is there any other important 
information to facilitate a 
better understanding of the 
Company’s corporate 
governance practices (e.g., 
including but not limited to 
employee rights, employee 
wellness, investor relations, 
supplier relations, rights of 
stakeholders, directors’ and 
supervisors’ training records, 
the implementation of risk 
management policies and risk 
evaluation measures, the 
implementation of customer 
relations policies, and 
purchasing insurance for 
directors and supervisors)? 

V  (1) The Company actively protects the 
rights and benefits of employees and 
is concerned with employees, except 
obeying the provisions related to 
labor laws and regulations, also 
provide the leave better than labor 
laws and regulations. 

(2) The Company had established the 
unit of Investor Relations which can 
immediately handle the inquiries 
rendered by the investors. 

(3) The procurement unit of the 
Company manages the suppliers 
pursuant to the Procedures for 
Control of Procurement Operation, 
and re-examine the list of qualified 
suppliers, to secure the supplier 
quality. 

(4) The stakeholders may communicate 
through the Stakeholder Engagement 
of the corporate website. 

(5) All Directors of the Company 
actively participated in various 
professional enhancement courses, 
the Directors profession 
enhancement status had disclosed on 
the Market Observation Post 
System. 

(6) The Board Meeting is convened at 
least quarterly, the status of 
attendance is good, the Director had 

None 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations from 
“the Corporate 

Governance 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” and 

Reasons 

Yes No Abstract Illustration 

avoided the vote or discussion if 
he/she has a personal interest in the 
matter under discussion. 

(7) The internal control system, fiscal 
year budgets and necessary 
management rules and procedures 
are the risk control policies and 
measurement standards, and those 
system, budgets and procedures shall 
be examined by the Audit 
Committee and approved by the 
Board of Directors; the unit being in 
charge has to report the status of 
execution to Audit Committee and 
the Board. 

(8) The Company had established the 
Procedures for Control of Customer 
Services Provision, the Procedures 
for Customer Satisfaction Survey, 
which provide the handling 
procedures, and periodically 
evaluate the satisfactory of 
customers to make sure the 
customers have best services. 

(9) The Directors and manager had been 
insured for liabilities and this is 
disclosed on the Market Observation 
Post System. 

9. Please explain the improvements which have been made in accordance with the results of the 
Corporate Governance Evaluation System released by the Corporate Governance Center, Taiwan Stock 
Exchange, and provide the priority enhancement measures. 
The examination of Corporation Governance Evaluation System in 2019, with respect to the failed 
items of the Company, the improvements are set forth below: 
(1) The Company will establish the rules for evaluating the performance of its Board of Directors 

before the end of 2020, and take the performance appraisal on an annual basis; the results of
performance appraisal will be disclosed on the corporate website or in the Annual Report. 

(2) The Company had disclosed the annual working summaries of Audit Committee in the Annual 
Report of 2019; please refer to page 33 of this Annual Report. 
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3.3.4 Composition, Responsibilities and Operations of the Remuneration Committee 

A. Professional Qualifications and Independence Analysis of Remuneration Committee Members 

Note: Please tick the corresponding boxes that apply to a member during the two years prior to being elected or during the 
term(s) of office. 
1. Not an employee of the Company or any of its affiliates. 
2. Not a director or supervisor of the Company or any of its affiliates. Not applicable in cases where the person is an 

independent director of the Company, its parent company, or any subsidiary as appointed in accordance with the 
Act or with the laws of the country of the parent or subsidiary. 

3. Not a natural-person shareholder who holds shares, together with those held by the person’s spouse, minor 
children, or held by the person under others’ names, in an aggregate amount of 1% or more of the total number of 
outstanding shares of the Company or ranking in the top 10 in holdings. 

4. Not a spouse, relative within the second degree of kinship, or lineal relative within the third degree of kinship, of 
any of the persons in the preceding 1 subparagraph, or of any of the above persons in the preceding subparagraphs 
2 and 3. 

5. Not a director, supervisor, or employee of a corporate/institutional shareholder that directly holds 5% or more of 
the total number of issued shares of the Company, ranks as of its top 5 shareholders, or has representative 
director(s) serving on the Company’s board based on Paragraph 1 or 2 Article 27 of the Company Act. Not 
applicable in cases where the person is an independent director of the Company, its parent company, or any 
subsidiary as appointed in accordance with the Act or with the laws of the country of the parent or subsidiary. 

6. Not a director, supervisor, or employee of a company of which the majority of board seats or voting shares is 
controlled by a company that also controls the same of the Company. Not applicable in cases where the person is 
an independent director of the Company, its parent company, or any subsidiary as appointed in accordance with 
the Act or with the laws of the country of the parent or subsidiary.  

7. Not a director, supervisor, or employee of a company of which the Chairman or President (or equivalent) 
themselves or their spouse also serve as the Company’s Chairman or President (or equivalent). Not applicable in 
cases where the person is an independent director of the Company, its parent company, or any subsidiary as 
appointed in accordance with the Act or with the laws of the country of the parent or subsidiary. 

Criteria 

Title/ 
Name 

Meets One of the Following Professional Qualification 
Requirements, Together with at Least Five Years’ Work 

Experience 
Independence Criteria (Note) 

Number of 
Other Public 
Companies in 

Which the 
Individual is 
Concurrently 
Serving as an 
Remuneration 

Committee 
Member 

Remarks

An instructor or 
higher position in a 
department of 
commerce, law, 
finance, 
accounting, or 
other academic 
department related 
to the business 
needs of the 
Company in a 
public or private 
junior college, 
college or 
university 

A judge, public 
prosecutor, 
attorney, Certified 
Public Accountant, 
or other 
professional or 
technical specialist 
who has passed a 
national 
examination and 
been awarded a 
certificate in a 
profession 
necessary for the 
business of the 
Company 

Has work 
experience in 
the areas of 
commerce, law, 
finance, or 
accounting, or 
otherwise 
necessary for 
the business of 
the Company 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

Independent 
Director 
Kenneth Kin 

-  2 

Independent 
Director 
Ming-To Yu 

- -  1 

Independent 
Director 
T.C. Chen 

- -  0 
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8. Not a director, supervisor, officer, or shareholder holding 5% or more of the shares of a specified company or 
institution that has a financial or business relationship with the Company. Not applicable in cases where the 
person is an independent director of the Company, its parent company, or any subsidiary holds 20% or more and 
no more than 50% of the total number of issued shares of the Company and as appointed in accordance with the 
Act or with the laws of the country of the parent or subsidiary. 

9. Not a professional individual who, or an owner, partner, director, supervisor, or officer of a sole proprietorship, 
partnership, company, or institution that, provides auditing services to the Company or any affiliate of the 
Company, or that provides commercial, legal, financial, accounting or related services to the Company or any 
affiliate of the Company for which the provider in the past 2 years has received cumulative compensation 
exceeding NT$500,000, or a spouse thereof; provided, this restriction does not apply to a member of the 
remuneration committee, public tender offer review committee, or special committee for merger/consolidation 
and acquisition, who exercises powers pursuant to the Act or to the Business Mergers and Acquisitions Act or 
related laws or regulations. 

10. Not been a person of any conditions defined in Article 30 of the Company Act. 
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B. Attendance of Members at Remuneration Committee Meetings 

The Remuneration Committee of the Company takes charge of assisting the Board of Directors in 
executing and assessing the entire remuneration and welfare policies of the company, and the 
remuneration of Directors and managers. The focuses of its practice in 2019 are set forth below: 

(1) Reviewing and approving the distribution of employees’ compensation and the remuneration 
of Directors. 

(2) Reviewing and approving the performance assessment of managers. 

(3) Reviewing and approving the distribution of employees’ compensation and team operation 
bonus to management team. 

(4) Reviewing and approving the amendments of “Remuneration Committee Charter”. 

(5) Reviewing and approving the distribution of the respective remuneration of Directors and 
Independent Director. 

(6) Reviewing and approving the employee stock option certificates of subsidiary which are 
distributed to the managers of the Company and its subsidiary. 

Resolutions of the remuneration committee and the Company’s response to the remuneration 
committee ’s opinion in 2019, please take a reference to the Major Resolutions of Board Meetings  
in page 62~65 of this Annual Report. 

There are 3 members in the Remuneration Committee. A total of 3 (A) Remuneration Committee 
meetings were held in 2019. The attendance record of the Remuneration Committee members was 
as follows: 

Title Name 
Attendance 

in Person(B)
By 

Proxy
Attendance Rate 

(%)【B/A】
Remarks 

Convener Kenneth Kin 3 0 100.00%  
Committee Member Ming-To Yu 3 0 100.00%  
Committee Member T.C. Chen 3 0 100.00%  
Other mentionable items: 
1. If the board of directors declines to adopt or modifies a recommendation of the remuneration 

committee, it should specify the date of the meeting, session, content of the motion, resolution by the 
board of directors, and the Company’s response to the remuneration committee’s opinion (eg., the 
remuneration passed by the Board of Directors exceeds the recommendation of the remuneration 
committee, the circumstances and cause for the difference shall be specified): None. 

2. Resolutions of the remuneration committee objected to by members or expressed reservations and 
recorded or declared in writing, the date of the meeting, session, content of the motion, all members’ 
opinions and the response to members’ opinion should be specified: None. 
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3.3.5 Corporate Social Responsibility Implementation Status and Deviations from “the Corporate 
Social Responsibility Best Practice Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies” 

Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 
Corporate 

Social 
Responsibility 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Explanation 

1. Does the Company make 
the risk assessment on the 
issues concerning 
environment, society and 
corporate governance 
which are related to the 
operation of Company 
according to the materiality 
principle, and establish 
relevant risk management 
policies or strategy? 

V  To ensure the thorough implementation of 
sustainable strategy, the Company has its 
President convene Management 
Examination Meeting every six months to 
review the issues related to environment, 
society and corporate governance which 
are concerned by stakeholders; in 
consideration of the materiality principle, 
the Company establishes risk assessment 
which is relevant to the business operation, 
and proposes related policies and 
measures. Please refer to page 118~119 of 
this Annual Report. The information with 
respect to the issues which are concerned 
by stakeholders and the communication 
performances is disclosed in the 
“Stakeholder Engagement” area on the 
corporate website. 

None 

2. Does the Company 
establish exclusively (or 
concurrently) dedicated 
first-line managers 
authorized by the board to 
be in charge of proposing 
the corporate social 
responsibility policies and 
reporting to the board? 

V  On December 21, 2016, the Board of 
Directors had appointed the President 
Office as the dedicated unit which is 
responsible for establishing the corporate 
social responsibility, and report to the 
Board of Directors the status of 
implementation on an annual basis; the 
annual report of implementation of the 
corporate social responsibility for each 
year shall be published on the corporate 
website.

None

3. Environment Topic 
(1) Does the Company 

establish proper 
environmental 
management systems 

V (1) The main business of the Company is 
silicon IP licensing, which is 
non-pollution business; therefore, the 
verification of Environmental 

None 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 
Corporate 

Social 
Responsibility 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Explanation 

based on the 
characteristics of their 
industries? 

(2) Does the Company 
endeavor to utilize all 
resources more 
efficiently and use 
renewable materials 
which have low 
impact on the 
environment? 

(3) Does the Company 
evaluate the potential 
risk and opportunity 
caused by the climate 
change currently and 
in the future, and take 
measures 
corresponding to the 
climate relevant 
issues? 

(4) Does the Company 
make statistics of total 
greenhouse gas 

V 

V 

V 

Management System is not applicable. 

(2) The Company obeys the laws and 
regulations related to environment 
protection to sign the contracts with 
legal cleaning service companies for 
cleaning and recycling the recyclable 
wastes to implement the sustainable 
policy of environment protection and 
resource recycling. 

(3) The Company has evaluated that 
climate change may cause disaster 
hazard, market risk, operation risk 
etc., and to minimize the impact of 
increased operation costs caused by 
the relevant potential risks, the 
Company alters the green 
environmental protection from duties 
to opportunities by the innovation of 
core technologies, implementing 
component reduced product design 
which substitutes the complex 
manufacturing process required by the 
conventional non-volatile memory, 
and reduces the emission of carbon 
dioxide; depending on the innovation 
in several aspects of strategy, market, 
management, research and 
development, and accompanying with 
power of implementation, the 
Company keeps change for 
sustainability. 

(4) The Company is a professional silicon 
IP company, and not engaged in 
production and manufacturing 

-46-



Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 
Corporate 

Social 
Responsibility 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Explanation 

emissions, water 
consumption and 
waste weight of the 
Company during past 
two years, and 
establish strategies for 
energy conservation, 
carbon and greenhouse 
gas reduction, water 
consumption saving or 
waste management? 

(intangible product); thus, there is no 
industrial waste being produced. For 
general waste, the Company had 
contracted with cleaning service 
company to perform the daily 
cleaning and recycle the resource 
waste, which practically implements 
the protection of environment and 
resource reusing. In addition, the 
Company is devoted to environmental 
protection policies of energy 
conservation and carbon reduction 
and water resource protection; thus, 
timers are configured on the air 
conditioners, and water savers are 
installed on faucets. Switching off 
when leaving, paperless operation, 
water saving are publicized to the 
employees. The inventory of 
greenhouse gas and water 
consumption is performed annually; 
the goal is to decrease the emission of 
carbon dioxide and consumption of 
water year by year. The averaged 
emission of carbon dioxide for each 
person of the Company in 2019 is 
2,563 kg, which is almost equivalent 
to 2,559 kg in 2018. The emission of 
carbon dioxide is expected to reach 
2,500 kg/person after 3 years. The 
averaged water consumption for each 
person is 15.6 cubic meters in 2019, 
which is almost equivalent to 15.2 
cubic meters in 2018, the water 
consumption is expected to reach 13 
cubic meters/person after 3 years. 

-47-



Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 
Corporate 

Social 
Responsibility 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Explanation 

4. Society Topic 
(1) Does the Company 

formulate appropriate 
management policies 
and procedures 
according to relevant 
regulations and the 
International Bill of 
Human Rights? 

(2) Does the Company 
establish and 
implement rational 
employee welfare 
measures (including 
remuneration, leave 
and other welfare etc.) 
and appropriately 
reflect the corporate 
business performance 
or achievements in the 
employee 
remuneration policy? 

V 

V 

(1) The “Human Rights Protection 
Policy” had been established by the 
Company and publicly disclosed on 
the corporate website. The Company 
abides by local laws and regulations, 
and complies with internationally 
recognized human rights standards 
such as <UN Guiding Principles on 
Business and Human Rights>, 
<International Labor Organization 
Declaration of Fundamental Principles 
and Rights at Work>, <Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights>, 
<Responsible Business Alliance Code 
of Conduct>, and treat all employees, 
contractors and contingent workers, 
interns with dignity and respect. 

(2) It is definitely provided for in the 
Articles of Incorporation that if there 
is any pre-tax profit, 1% to 25% of the 
profit shall be distributed to eligible 
employees for profit sharing. Based 
on the ideas of human-based 
management and profit sharing with 
employees, and also taking account of 
the external competitiveness, internal 
fairness and legality, the “Salary 
Management Rule” is established, 
which provides various and 
competitive salary, welfare and 
reward programs. In addition to the 
fixed bonus paid for the three 
traditional festivals, the annual target 
will be set each year, and the seasonal 
bonus or performance bonus, project 

None 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 
Corporate 

Social 
Responsibility 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Explanation 

(3) Does the Company 
provide a healthy and 
safe working 
environment and 

V 

bonus and compensations (bonus) will 
be distributed to employees to 
encourage them according to the 
business operation performance and 
the status of completion of the target 
reviewed each season. The employee 
promotion is processed according to 
the “Rules for Performance 
Management”, two assessments are 
performed each year which will be the 
basis for the salary adjustment, 
promotion, bonus. 
The Company concerns the balance of 
employees’ work and life, except 
providing the competitive salary, the 
leaves and activities are offered under 
the conditions better than those 
required by laws. The subsidy for 
daily afternoon tea is granted; there 
are society activities every week; 
birthday parties are held by the 
Welfare Committee each season. The 
travel subsidy is provided as well as 
the family day and year-end party are 
held each year. In addition to the 
leaves stipulated in the Labor 
Standards Act, the Company grants 7 
days of special leaves and the leave 
for birthday. Under certain 
requirements, 7 days of full-pay sick 
leaves will be given which are better 
than those provided by laws. 

(3) The Company is dedicated in the 
topics of securing labor health and 
working environment by periodically 
implementing safety and health 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 
Corporate 

Social 
Responsibility 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Explanation 

organize training on 
health and safety for 
its employees on a 
regular basis? 

(4) Does the Company 
provide its employees 
with career 
development and 
training sessions? 

V 

education and holding “Fire Safety 
Seminar” propaganda courses 
pursuant to the occupational safety 
and health relevant laws and 
regulations. And by providing specific 
parking spaces or transportation 
allowances, nursery room, full time 
security system, multifunction rest 
area etc. the employees can enjoy a 
comfortable and healthy environment. 
We believe that the most fortune of 
the Company shall be the healthy 
employees, we provide full exercise 
allowances for fitness and hold health 
examination periodically, and the 
nursing personnel on-site services are 
available in the Company to manage 
the health of employees and provide 
health consulting services. 

(4) In order to improve the scheduled 
milestone and develop the employees’ 
abilities in profession and 
management to make human 
resources efficiently available and 
obtain the knowledge, skill and ability 
required for work, develop the goals 
of each stage on the basis of deeply 
establishing human resource of the 
Company, every Wednesday is set as 
eMemory’s learning day, that 
professional internal training courses 
will be held, and expenses for external 
training courses can be subsidized. 
The goal of employee’s career 
development, learning capability, 
execution status, effectiveness review 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 
Corporate 

Social 
Responsibility 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Explanation 

(5) Has the Company 
complied with relevant 
laws and regulations 
and international 
standards for the 
health and safety of 
customers, customer 
privacy, marketing and 
labeling of products 
and services, and 
formulated relevant 
consumer protection 
policies and complaint 
procedures? 

(6) Does the Company 
establish supplier 
management policy 
and request suppliers 
to comply with related 
standards on the topics 
of environmental 
protection, 
occupational safety 

V 

V 

will be further planned and connected 
with internal practices, that the annual 
program planning can be proposed. 

(5) The major business of the Company is 
silicon IP licensing, that labeling will 
not be applicable for the products are 
intangible; The marketing of goods 
and services of the Company 
conforms to the requirements of 
relevant regulations and international 
standards. Besides, the Company 
insists on the spirit of “Quality First, 
Service Best, Customer Satisfied” and 
focuses on product quality to reach 
the main goal of increasing the 
customer’s satisfaction, provides 
customers with safe, reliable and high 
quality products, and maintain good 
communication channel with 
customers by providing transparent 
and effective complaint handling 
procedures for products and services. 
In addition, the customer satisfaction 
survey is conducted every year, the 
Company deserves recognition from 
customers for years, the average score 
of 2019 is 95.22.  

(6) The Company established “eMemory 
Supplier Code of Conduct” to require 
the supply chain vendors for being 
qualified with the requirements of 
safe working environment, that their 
employees shall be respected with 
dignity, facilitating environment 
protection in business operation and 
complying with ethics. Except 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 
Corporate 

Social 
Responsibility 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Explanation 

and health or labor 
right, and their 
implementation status? 

requiring the suppliers for following 
the code of conduct, the major 
suppliers are also required for signing 
the “ eMemory Supplier Social 
Responsibility Commitment” and 
complying with the local laws and 
regulations implemented in the place 
their businesses are operated. 
Otherwise, the suppliers are also 
encouraged to require their 
downstream suppliers, contractors and 
service providers for recognizing and 
adopting the “eMemory Supplier 
Code of Conduct”. The supplier will 
be required for performing the 
self-examination pursuant to the 
“Supplier_Checking List” annually by 
the Company, where the five phases 
of labor, health and safety, 
environment protection, ethics and 
management system are included in 
the content, and the suppliers are 
required for complying with the 
regulations related to the subjects of 
environment protection, health and 
safety etc. There were 30 
“Supplier_Checking List” distributed 
to the suppliers in 2019, and all of the 
checking list forms were received 
after the suppliers filled in them. The 
Quality Management & Process 
Integration Department will review 
the collected checking list forms and 
make them as a basis for supplier 
management. If it is necessary, the 
on-site audit will be performed by the 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 
Corporate 

Social 
Responsibility 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Explanation 

Quality Management & Process 
Integration Department to ensure the 
supply chain’s performance of 
corporate social responsibility. 

5. Does the Company refer to 
international reporting rules 
or guidelines to publish 
CSR Report to disclose 
non-financial information 
of the Company? Has the 
said Report acquired 3rd 
certification party 
verification or statement of 
assurance? 

V  Although the capital of the Company does 
not reach the standard of preparing for 
CSR report, the information relevant to the 
performance of social responsibility is 
disclosed on the corporate website, in the 
Annual Report and Market Observation 
Post System. 

None

6. If the Company has established the corporate social responsibility principles based on “the 
Corporate Social Responsibility Best-Practice Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies”, 
please describe any discrepancy between the Principles and their implementation：None. 

7. Other important information to facilitate better understanding of the Company’s corporate social 
responsibility practices：
(1) The Company has established the Social Responsibility area on the corporate website, in 

which interprets the corporate social responsibility policy of the Company and explicit 
achievements, that the internal and external persons can be clearly aware of the social 
responsibility ideas of the Company. 

(2) The Company participates in the philanthropic activities and gives back to the society. In 2019, 
we donated NT$ 300,000 to National Tsing Hua University for scholarships, donated computer 
equipment to ” Hsinchu West Area Office of World Vision” and “Hsinchu Office of World 
Peace”, donated stationery to “Hsinchu I-Link Community Care Association- Green Light 
Seeds Classroom” and participated in the Christmas flower bazaar for “Development Center of
Spinal Cord Injury”. 

(3) The Company dedicated to diversified learning program, except internally providing various 
knowledge inheritance courses, especially cooperate in opening related courses with 
universities and colleges, hope this can well fulfill the social responsibility by the opportunity 
of sharing resources, and establish the cooperation platform for both the industries and 
academies, share and exchange the practices of industry with academia. 
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3.3.6 Ethical Corporate Management Implementation Status and Deviations from “the Ethical 
Corporate Management Best Practice Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies” 

Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 

Ethical 
Corporate 

Management 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Illustration 

1. Establishment of ethical 
corporate management 
policies and programs 
(1) Does the Company 

establish the ethical 
corporate management 
policies which are 
approved by the Board 
of Directors, and 
clearly specify in the 
rules and external 
documents the ethical 
corporate management 
policies and measures, 
and the commitment 
made by the Board of 
Directors and senior 
management on 
rigorous and thorough 
implementation of such 
policies?  

(2) Does the Company 
establish a risk 
assessment mechanism 
against unethical 
conduct, analyze and 
assess business 
activities within their 
business scope which 

V 

V 

(1) The Company engages in commercial 
activities by basing on the fair, honest, 
trustworthy, transparent principle, that 
the “Ethical Corporate Management 
Practice Principles” had been 
established and approved by the Board 
of Directors on December 21, 2016 to 
make ethical management practicable 
and prevent form unethical conducts. 
The President Office is appointed as a 
dedicated unit which is responsible for 
establishing the ethical corporate 
management policies and prevention 
programs and supervising the 
implementation and report on the same 
to the Board of Directors on an annual 
basis, as well as publicly disclose 
“Ethical  Corporate Management 
Practice Principles” on the corporate 
website and Market Observation Post 
System; furthermore, the 
implementation of the ethical corporate 
management for each year shall be 
published on the corporate website. 

(2) The Company had established the 
“Work Rules” in which provided 
definitely that all the employees are 
required to be honesty without 
accepting bribes to prevent the benefit 
of the Company from being damaged 
for the individual benefit of the 
employee; the handling procedures and 

None 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 

Ethical 
Corporate 

Management 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Illustration 

are at a higher risk of 
being involved in 
unethical conduct, and 
establish prevention 
programs, which at 
least include preventive 
measures against the 
conducts provided for 
in paragraph 2 of 
Article 7 of the “Ethical 
Corporate Management 
Best Practice Principles 
for TWSE/GTSM 
Listed Companies”? 

(3) Dose the Company 
clearly and thoroughly 
prescribe the 
operational procedures, 
guidelines, discipline 
for violation and 
complaints system in 
the programs of 
preventing unethical 
conducts, on rigorous 
and thorough 
implementation of such 
programs, and review 
the programs 
periodically? 

V 

the reward and penalty system for 
inhibiting the Director, manager, 
employee etc. to provide or accept 
improper benefits are also definitely 
provided in the “Ethical Corporate 
Management Practice Principles” of the 
Company. Besides, in order to ensure 
the fulfillment of ethical management, 
the President Office, as the unit in 
charge, shall annually report to the 
Board of Directors. 

(3) The clear directions of “Ethical 
Corporate Management Practice 
Principles” for performance of duties, 
operation procedures, discipline for 
violation and complaint channel, 
stakeholders may find the 
corresponding contact information 
through the area of ”Stakeholder 
Engagement” on the corporate website, 
or send emails to the Company or the 
members of Audit Committee to inform 
of unethical or complain. 

2. Fulfill operations integrity 
policy 
(1) Does the Company 

evaluate business 
partners’ ethical records 
and include 
ethics-related clauses in 
business contracts? 

V (1) The sales unit and procurement unit of 
the Company respectively evaluates 
customer’s credit and manages the 
quality of supplier’s services pursuant 
to the internal procedures. The 
Company also cooperate with 

None 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 

Ethical 
Corporate 

Management 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Illustration 

(2) Does the Company 
establish a dedicated 
unit that is under the 
Board of Directors and 
responsible for 
establishing the ethical 
corporate management, 
and report to the Board 
of Directors the ethical 
corporate management 
policies, prevention 
programs and the status 
of implementation 
under supervising 
periodically (at least on 
an annual basis)?  

(3) Does the Company 
establish policies to 
prevent conflicts of 
interest and provide 
appropriate 
communication 
channels, and 
implement it? 

V 

V 

customers to sign the Supplier Code of 
Conduct or Supplier Social 
Responsibility Commitment and 
requires major suppliers to sign the 
“eMemory Supplier Social 
Responsibility Commitment” in which 
the requirement of ethical conduct has 
been provided. 

(2) On December 21, 2016, the Board of 
Directors had appointed the President 
Office as the dedicated unit which is 
responsible for establishing the ethical 
corporate management, and report to 
the Board of Directors the ethical 
corporate management, prevention 
programs and the status of 
implementation under supervising on 
an annual basis, the  implementation 
of the ethical corporate management for 
each year shall be published on the 
corporate website. 

(3) The recusal for Directors’ interest 
conflict had been provided in the 
“Rules of Procedure for Board of 
Directors Meetings”, that the Director 
him/herself or the corporate he/she 
represents for has a stake in the 
proposal at the meeting where there is a 
likelihood that the interests of the 
Company would be prejudiced, may 
state opinions or answer the inquiry but 
not participate in the discussion or vote 
on that proposal, shall recuse himself or 
herself from any discussion and voting, 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 

Ethical 
Corporate 

Management 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Illustration 

(4) Does the Company had 
established effective 
accounting system, 
internal control system 
for rigorous and 
thorough 
implementation of 
ethical corporate 
management, and based 
on the results of 
assessment of the risk 
of involvement in 
unethical conducts 
under internal control 
operation, does the 
internal auditor devise 
internal audit plans and 
perform the 
examination on the 
compliance with 

V 

and may not exercise voting rights as 
proxy on behalf of another director. 
Furthermore, the “Ethical Corporate 
Management Practice Principles” of the 
Company has provided the situation 
that in the event the personnel of the 
Company find there is conflict to the 
interests of his/her or the entity he/she 
represents for, or there is a likelihood 
that himself or herself, his or her 
spouse, parent, child or the stakeholder 
may obtain the improper benefits when 
executing the business of the Company, 
shall report the related events to his/her 
direct supervisor and the unit in charge, 
and the direct supervisor shall provide 
proper direction. 

(4) In order to fulfill the ethical 
management, the Company had 
established effective accounting system 
and internal audit system. The financial 
statements of the Company had been 
reviewed by the CPAs with audit report. 
Based on the results of assessment of 
the risk of involvement in unethical 
conducts under internal control 
operation, the internal auditor devises 
internal audit plans and performs the 
examination. 
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Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 

Ethical 
Corporate 

Management 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Illustration 

programs of preventing 
from unethical 
conducts, or delegate a 
certified public 
accountant to perform 
the examination? 

(5) Does the Company 
regularly hold internal 
and external 
educational trainings on 
operational integrity? 

V (5) The fulfillment of ethical principle by 
employees is highly valued during the 
daily business, that the “Information 
Environment and Information Safety 
Propaganda” course is arranged in the 
new employee’s training courses, 
which emphasize on well preserving 
and keeping the confidentiality of either 
tangible information equipment or 
intangible information assets to prevent 
the confidentiality of the Company 
from being revealed. The course of 
“Personal Information Protection Act 
Propaganda” puts emphasis on the 
execution of non-disclosure agreement 
by the personnel who handles personal 
information to well conform to the 
confidentiality obligations and not 
illegally use the personal information. 
And the course of “Insider Trading 
Propaganda” which propagates the 
inhibition of making use of undisclosed 
information to conduct insider trading 
and disclose to others. In 2019, the total 
number of new employees of the 
Company who participated in the 
courses mentioned above are 16, and 
total in 22.8 hours. 

3. Operation of the integrity 
channel 
(1) Does the Company V (1) The whistle-blowing system and related 

None 

-58-



Evaluation Item 

Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 

Ethical 
Corporate 

Management 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Illustration 

establish both a 
reward/punishment 
system and an integrity 
hotline? Can the 
accused be reached by 
an appropriate person 
for follow-up? 

(2) Does the Company 
establish the standard 
operational procedures 
for investigation when 
whistle-blowing case 
occurs, the follow-up 
measures as well as the 
confidential mechanism 
after the investigation? 

(3) Does the Company 
provide proper 
whistleblower 
protection? 

V 

V 

processing procedures had been 
established in the “Stakeholders 
Engagement” area on the corporate 
website, or the whistle-blowing can be 
made by sending an email to the 
member of Audit Committee, the 
whistle-blowing case will be handled 
by a person appointed by the Company 
according to the accused. 

(2) After receiving the whistleblowing 
case, according to the matters, the 
Company shall appoint a person to 
accept and investigate the case. The 
appointed person shall report to the 
Company and the whistleblower about 
handling methods, schedule and result, 
the whistleblower and appointed person 
shall keep the investigation and related 
information confidential, that it shall 
not be disclosed, and the Company 
shall protect the whistleblower from 
revenge or other improper treatment. 

(3) As mentioned in the above, the 
Company shall protect the 
whistleblower from improper treatment 
due to the whistleblowing. The 
involved person who fails to keep the 
confidentiality and causes the 
confidentiality revealed shall be 
disciplined pursuant to the related rules. 

4. Strengthening information 
disclosure 
(1) Does the Company 

disclose its ethical 
corporate management 
policies and the results 
of its implementation on 

V  The “Ethical Corporate Management 
Practice Principles” of the Company had 
been established and publicly disclosed on 
the corporate website and Market 
Observation Post System; the execution 
status of ethical management of the 
Company is further interpreted on the 

None 
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Implementation Status Deviations 
from “the 

Ethical 
Corporate 

Management 
Best-Practice 
Principles for 
TWSE/TPEx 

Listed 
Companies” 
and Reasons

Yes No Abstract Illustration 

the Company’s website 
and MOPS? 

corporate website and in the Annual Report. 

5. If the Company has established the ethical corporate management policies based on the Ethical 
Corporate Management Best-Practice Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies, please 
describe any discrepancy between the policies and their implementation：None. 

6. Other important information to facilitate a better understanding of the Company’s ethical 
corporate management policies (e.g., review and amend its policies)：None. 

3.3.7 Corporate Governance Guidelines and Regulations 

To enhance corporate management system, the Company had established the corporate management 
related rules such as Rules of Procedure for Shareholders Meetings, Rules of Procedure for Board of 
Directors Meetings, Rules for Election of Directors, Corporate Governance Practice Principles, 
Corporate Social Responsibility Practice Principles, Ethical Corporate Management Practice 
Principles, Rules Governing the Scope of Powers of Independent Directors, Audit Committee Charter 
and Remuneration Committee Charter, relevant contents of the fore mentioned 9 rules are available on 
the Market Observation Post System and the corporate website. 

3.3.8 Other Important Information Regarding Corporate Governance 

To implement the hierarchical responsibilities management mechanism, the delegation of 
authorization had been established and authorized by the Board of Directors; the internal control 
system includes the management of related party transactions, supervision and management of 
subsidiaries, management of operation of Board meetings, management of Audit Committee meeting 
operations and management of Remuneration Committee meeting operations, that internal audit unit 
shall annually arrange the audit and report to the Audit Committee and Board of Directors. 
The Company further established the rules related to corporate governance including Procedures for 
Acquisition or Disposal of Assets, Procedures for Endorsement and Guarantee, and Procedures for 
Lending Funds to Other Parties which are available on the Market Observation Post System and the 
corporate website. 
The Directors of the Company continuingly participate in the corporate governance and professional 
knowledge training courses and obtained the certified documents every fiscal year pursuant to the 
“Directions for the Implementation of Continuing Education for Directors and Supervisors of TWSE 
Listed and TPEx Listed Companies”. The Directors profession enhancement status had disclosed on 
the Market Observation Post System.
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3.3.9 Internal Control System Execution Status 

A. Statement of Internal Control System 

eMemory Technology Inc. 
Statement of Internal Control System 

February 19, 2020

Based on the findings of a self-assessment, eMemory Technology Inc. (eMemory) states the following 
with regard to its internal control system during the year 2019:  

1. eMemory’s Board of Directors and management are responsible for establishing, implementing, and 
maintaining an adequate internal control system. Our internal control is a process designed to 
provide reasonable assurance over the effectiveness and efficiency of our operations (including 
profitability, performance and safeguarding of assets), reliability, timeliness, transparency of our 
reporting, and compliance with applicable rulings, laws and regulations.  

2. An internal control system has inherent limitations. No matter how perfectly designed, an effective 
internal control system can provide only reasonable assurance of accomplishing its stated 
objectives. Moreover, the effectiveness of an internal control system may be subject to changes due 
to extenuating circumstances beyond our control. Nevertheless, our internal control system contains 
self-monitoring mechanisms, and eMemory takes immediate remedial actions in response to any 
identified deficiencies.  

3. eMemory evaluates the design and operating effectiveness of its internal control system based on 
the criteria provided in the Regulations Governing the Establishment of Internal Control Systems by 
Public Companies (herein below, the “Regulations”). The criteria adopted by the Regulations 
identify five key components of managerial internal control: (1) control environment, (2) risk 
assessment, (3) control activities, (4) information and communication, and (5) monitoring activities. 

4. eMemory has evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of its internal control system 
according to the aforesaid Regulations.  

5. Based on the findings of such evaluation, eMemory believes that, on December 31, 2019, it has 
maintained, in all material respects, an effective internal control system (that includes the 
supervision and management of our subsidiaries), to provide reasonable assurance over our 
operational effectiveness and efficiency, reliability, timeliness, transparency of reporting, and 
compliance with applicable rulings, laws and regulations.  

6. This Statement is an integral part of eMemory’s annual report and prospectus, and will be made 
public. Any falsehood, concealment, or other illegality in the content made public will entail legal 
liability under Articles 20, 32, 171, and 174 of the Securities and Exchange Law.  

7. This Statement was passed by the Board of Directors in their meeting held on February 19, 2020, 
with none of the nine attending directors expressing dissenting opinions, and the remainder all 
affirming the content of this Statement.  

eMemory Technology Inc. 

Chairman：Charles Hsu 

President：Rick Shen
B. If CPA Was Engaged to Conduct a Special Audit of Internal Control System, Provide Its 

Audit Report: None.  
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3.3.10 Legal penalty against the Company or its internal personnel, or any disciplinary penalty by 
the Company against its internal personnel for violation of the internal control system, 
where the result of such penalty could have a material effect on shareholder equity or 
securities prices, disclose the penalty, the main shortcomings, and condition of 
improvement.: None. 

3.3.11 Major Resolutions of Shareholders’ Meeting and Board Meetings 

A. Major Resolutions of Shareholders’ Meeting in 2019 
Major Resolutions Status of Execution 

Adoption of the Business Report of 2018 and 
Financial Statements 

Approved by resolution. 

Adoption of the Proposal for Distribution of 
2018 Profit 

July 8, 2019 was set as the distribution 
closing date, July 26, 2019 was set as the 
distribution date.( cash dividends were 
distributed by NT$ 7.4985 per share; cash 
derived from Capital Surplus was distributed 
by NT$0.4999 per share) 

Adoption of Distributing the Cash from 
Capital Surplus 

Adoption of Amendment to the “Procedures 
for Acquisition or Disposal of Assets” 

Approved by resolution, and implemented 
according to the amendment to the articles. 

Adoption of Amendment to the “Procedures 
for Lending Funds to Other Parties” 

Approved by resolution, and implemented 
according to the amendment to the articles. 

Adoption of Amendment to the “Procedures 
for Endorsement and Guarantee” 

Approved by resolution, and implemented 
according to the amendment to the articles. 

Adoption of Removing the Prohibition on 
Directors from Participation in Competitive 
Business Newly Added 

Approved by resolution. 

B. Major Resolutions of Board Meetings in 2019 and up to April 12, 2020 

Time Term Major Resolutions 
Status of 

Execution 
2019.02.26 The sixth 

meeting of 
seventh 

term 

1. Adopted the distribution of employees’ 
compensation and the remuneration of 
Directors of 2018 (*2) 

2. Adopted the financial statements and business 
report of 2018 (*1) 

3. Adopted the proposal for distribution of 2018 
Profit (*1) 

4. Adopted the proposal of distributing the cash 
from capital surplus 

5. Adopted the proposal of amending a part of the 
provisions of the “Procedures for Acquisition 
or Disposal of Assets” (*1) 

6. Adopted the proposal of convening the 
shareholders’general meeting of 2019 

All of the 
items were 
executed 

according to 
the 

resolutions.
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Time Term Major Resolutions 
Status of 

Execution 
7. Adopted the performance assessment of 

managers of 2018 (*2) 
8. Adopted the proposal of distribution of 

employees’ compensation and team operation 
bonus to management team of the Company for 
2018 (*2) 

9. Adopted the proposal of amending a part of the 
provisions of the ”Remuneration Committee 
Charter” (*2) 

10. Adopted the report of self-assessment of 
internal control system and the “Statement of 
Internal Control System ” for 2018 (*1) 

11. Adopted the professional fees of CPA for 2019 
(*1) 

2019.04.24 The 
seventh 

meeting of 
seventh 

term 

1. Acknowledged the loans had been signed with 
the bank for the need of business operation (*1) 

2. Adopted the financial statements of the first 
quarter of 2019 (*1) 

3. Adopted the proposal of amending of the 
“Procedures for Lending Funds to Other 
Parties” and the “Procedures for Endorsement 
and Guarantee” (*1) 

4. Adopted the proposal of removing the 
prohibition on Directors from participation in 
competitive business newly added (*1) 

5. Adopted the amendment of subjects for 
convening the shareholders’general meeting of 
2019 

6. Adopted the amendments of the “Delegation of 
Authorization” (*1) 

7. Adopted the “Standard Operational Protocol for 
Responding to Requests from Directors”  

8. Adopted the investment of establishing 
subsidiary (*1) 

All of the 
items were 
executed 

according to 
the 

resolutions.

2019.07.30 The eighth 
meeting of 

seventh 
term 

1. Acknowledged the loans had been signed with 
the bank for the need of business operation (*1) 

2. Adopted the transfer of employee stock option 
certificates first issued in 2016 to general 
shares and relevant change of registration (*1) 

3. Adopted the consolidated financial statements 
of the second quarter of 2019 (*1) 

4. Adopted the amendments of audit plan of 2019 
(*1) 

All of the 
items were 
executed 

according to 
the 

resolutions.
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Time Term Major Resolutions 
Status of 

Execution 
5. Adopted the proposal of distribution of the 

respective remuneration of Directors of the 
Company in 2018 (*2) 

6. Adopted the proposal of distribution of the 
remuneration of Independent Directors of the 
Company in 2018 (*2) 

7. Adopted the amendments of the “Rules for the 
Third Time Shares Repurchase and Transfer to 
Employee” 

8. Adopted the removing the prohibition on 
managers from participation in competitive 
business newly added 

2019.10.23 The ninth 
meeting of 

seventh 
term 

1. Adopted the transfer of employee stock option 
certificates first issued in 2016 to general 
shares and relevant change of registration (*1) 

2. Adopted the consolidated financial statements 
of the third quarter of 2019 (*1) 

3. Adopted the amendments of “Internal Control 
System” and the relevant “Implementation 
rules for internal audits” (*1) 

4. Adopted the employee stock option certificates 
of subsidiary which are distributed to the 
managers of the Company and its subsidiary 
(*2) 

Except the 
distributions 

under 
proposal 4 

are not 
completed,  
the other 

items were 
executed 

according to 
the 

resolutions.
2019.12.18 The tenth 

meeting of 
seventh 

term 

1. Adopted the proposal of budget of 2020 (*1) 
2. Adopted the proposal of audit plan of 2020 of 

the Company and its subsidiary (*1) 
3. Adopted the assessment of the independence 

and performance of the CPA engaged by the 
Company (*1) 

All of the 
items were 
executed 

according to 
the 

resolutions.
2020.02.19 The 

eleventh 
meeting of 

seventh 
term 

1. Adopted the distribution of employees’ 
compensation and the remuneration of 
Directors of 2019 (*2) 

2. Adopted the transfer of employee stock option 
certificates first issued in 2016 to general 
shares and relevant change of registration (*1) 

3. Adopted the financial statements and business 
report of 2019 (*1) 

4. Adopted the proposal for distribution of 2019 
Profit (*1) 

5. Adopted the proposal of distributing the cash 
from capital surplus 

6. Adopted the proposal of amending of the 

Except the 
distributions 

under 
proposal 1 & 

10 are not 
completed, 

and the 
proposal 3~8 

will be 
determined  
during the 

shareholders’ 
general 
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Time Term Major Resolutions 
Status of 

Execution 
“Rules of Procedure for Shareholders 
Meetings” 

7. Adopted the proposal of amending of the 
“Procedures for Acquisition or Disposal of 
Assets” (*1) 

8. Adopted the proposal of convening the 
shareholders’general meeting of 2020 

9. Adopted the performance assessment of 
managers of 2019 (*2) 

10. Adopted the proposal of distribution of 
employees’ compensation and team operation 
bonus to management team of the Company for 
2019 (*2) 

11. Adopted the report of self-assessment of 
internal control system and the “Statement of 
Internal Control System ” for 2019 (*1) 

12. Adopted the amendments of “Internal Control 
System” and the relevant “Implementation 
rules for internal audits” (*1) 

13. Adopted the professional fees of CPA for 2020 
(*1) 

meeting on 
2020.06.10,  

the other 
items were 
executed 

according to 
the 

resolutions.

2020.02.19 The twelfth 
meeting of 

seventh 
term 

1. Adopted the proposal of implementing treasury 
stock to repurchase the shares of the Company, 
which will be the source of the stock used to 
transfer to employees 

The declared 
share 

repurchase 
period is to 

2020.05.19; as 
of the Annual 

Report 
publication 

date, it is still 
in the process 
of execution.

*1: The matters that Audit Committee of the Company submits to the Board of Directors for approval 
Pursuant to Article 14-5 of the “Securities and Exchange Act”. 

*2: The matters that Remuneration Committee of the Company submits to the Board of Directors for 
approval Pursuant to Article 7 of the “Regulations Governing the Appointment and Exercise of 
Powers by the Remuneration Committee of a Company Whose Stock is Listed on the Stock 
Exchange or Traded Over the Counter”. 

3.3.12 Major Issues of Record or Written Statements Made by Any Director or Supervisor 
Dissenting to Important Resolutions Passed by the Board of Directors：None. 

3.3.13 Resignation or Dismissal of the Company’s Key Individuals, Including the Chairman, CEO, 
and Heads of Accounting, Finance, Internal Audit, Corporate Governance and R&D：None. 
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3.4 Information Regarding the Company’s Audit Fee and Independence 

Audit Fee Scale 

3.4.1 Non-Audit Fee Paid to Auditors and the Accounting Firm Accounted for More Than 
One-Fourth of Total Audit Fee Shall Disclose the Amount and The Service Item:  

Audit Fee and Non-Audit Fee Paid to the Accounting Firm in 2019 are provided below：

Unit: NT$ thousands 

3.4.2 When the Company Changes Its Accounting Firm and the Audit Fees Paid for the Fiscal 
Year in Which Such Change Took Place Are Lower Than Those for the Previous Year, The 
Reduction in the Amount of Audit Fees, Reduction Percentage, and Reason(s) Therefore 
Shall Be Disclosed: None. 

3.4.3 When the Audit Fees Paid for the Current Year Are Lower Than Those for the Previous 
Fiscal Year by 10 Percent Or More, the Reduction in the Amount of Audit Fees, Reduction 
Percentage, and Reason(s) Therefore Shall Be Disclosed: None. 

3.5 Replacement of CPA 

A. Regarding the former CPA 

                             Fee Items
Fee Range Audit Fee Non-audit Fee 

1 Under NT$ 2,000,000  
2 NT$2,000,000 ~ NT$3,999,999
3 NT$4,000,000 ~ NT$5,999,999
4 NT$6,000,000 ~ NT$7,999,999
5 NT$8,000,000 ~ NT$9,999,999
6 NT$100,000,000 or above 

Accounting 
Firm 

Name of 
CPA 

Audit 
Fee 

Non-audit Fee Period 
Covered by 
CPA’s Audit 

Remarks System of 
Design 

Company 
Registration

Human 
Resource Others Subtotal

Deloitte & 
Touche 

Yu-Feng 
Huang 

2,005 None None None 30 30 2019 
Other Non-Audit Related 
Fee: Review of Annual 
Report in Amount of 

NT$30K.
Su-Li 
Fang 

Replacement Date Approved by the Board Meeting on 2018.12.19 

Replacement reasons 
and explanations 

The original CPAs of the Company were Yih-Shin Kao and Su-Li Fang from 
Deloitte & Touche. Due to internal restructuring at Deloitte & Touche, the 
CPAs of the Company were changed to Yu-Feng Huang and Su-Li Fang, 
beginning the fist quarter of 2019.

Describe whether the 
Company terminated 
or the CPA did not 
accept the 
appointment 

Parties

Status 
CPA The Company 

Termination of 
appointment - - 
No longer accepted 
(continued) appointment - - 
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B. Regarding the successor CPA 
Name of accounting firm Deloitte & Touche 

Name of CPA Yu-Feng Huang and Su-Li Fang 

Date of appointment Approved by the Board Meeting on 2018.12.19 

Consultation results and opinions on 
accounting treatments or principles with 
respect to specified transactions and the 
company's financial reports that the CPA 
might issue prior to the engagement 

None 

Succeeding CPA’s written opinion of 
disagreement toward the former CPA None 

C. Reply Letter from the former CPA：None. 

3.6 The Company’s Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and Managers in 
charge of its finance and accounting operations did not hold any positions in the Company’s 
independent auditing firm or its affiliates during 2019. 

Other issues (except 
for  unqualified 
issues) in the audit 
reports within the last 
two years 

None 

Differences with the 
company 

None 

- Accounting principles or practices 
- Disclosure of Financial Statements 
- Audit scope or steps 
- Others 

Remarks/specify details: 
Other Revealed 
Matters None 

-67-



3.7 Changes in Shareholding and Shares Pledged by the Directors, Supervisors, Managers and 
Shareholders with 10% Shareholdings or More 

A. Changes in Shareholding of Directors, Supervisors, Managers and Major Shareholders 

Title Name 

2019 2020
(As of April 12)

Holding 
Increase 

(Decrease) 

Pledged 
Holding 
Increase 

(Decrease) 

Holding 
Increase 

(Decrease) 

Pledged 
Holding 
Increase 

(Decrease) 
Chairman Charles Hsu 0 0 0 0 
Director Mu-Chuan Hsu 0 0 0 0 

Director 
How-Han 
Investment 
Corporation 

0 0 0 0 

Director Li-Jeng Chen 0 60,000 0 50,000 
Director and 
President Rick Shen (10,000) 0 2,168 0 

Independent 
Director Kenneth Kin 0 0 0 0 

Independent 
Director Ming-To Yu 0 0 0 0 

Independent 
Director T.C. Chen 0 0 0 0 

Vice President Ching-Yuan Lin (2,000) 0 0 0 
Vice President Anita Chang 0 0 0 0 
Vice President Chris Lu 0 0 0 0 
Vice President John Ho 0 0 0 0 
Vice President Evans Yang 0 0 0 0 
Vice President Michael Ho 0 0 0 0 
Accounting and 
Financial Officer Teresa Kuo 0 0 0 0

B. Shares Trading with Related Parties: None. 

C. Shares Pledge with Related Parties: None. 
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3.8 Relationship among the Top Ten Shareholders 

   04/12/2020；Unit: Share；% 

Name 
Current 

Shareholding 
Spouse’s/minor’s 

Shareholding 

Shareholding 
by Nominee 
Arrangement 

Name and Relationship 
Between the Company’s 
Top Ten Shareholders, or 

Spouses or Relatives 
Within Two Degrees 

Remarks

Shares % Shares % Shares % Name Relationship

Government of 
Singapore 5,328,000 7.03 N/A N/A N/A N/A None None None

SmallCap World 
Fund Inc. 4,024,334 5.31 N/A N/A N/A N/A None None None

Swedbank Robur 
Globalfond 3,027,000 3.99 N/A N/A N/A N/A None None None

New Labor Pension 
Fund 2,878,000 3.80 N/A N/A N/A N/A None None None

Li-Jeng Chen 2,345,000 3.09 - - - - None None None

Fubon Life 
Insurance Co., Ltd. 1,950,000 2.57 N/A N/A N/A N/A None None None

Charles Hsu 1,629,407 2.15 1,423 0 - - None None None

eMemory 
Technology Inc. 1,567,000 2.07 N/A N/A N/A N/A None None None

Diamond Hosiery 
& Thread Co., Ltd. 1,552,000 2.05 N/A N/A N/A N/A None None None

Allianz Global 
Investors Taiwan 
Technology Fund 

1,504,000 1.98 N/A N/A N/A N/A None None None

Taiwan Life 
Insurance Co., Ltd. 1,470,000 1.94 N/A N/A N/A N/A None None None

3.9 Ownership of Shares in Affiliated Enterprises 
      04/12/2020；Unit: Thousand shares；% 

Affiliated 
Enterprises 

(Note 1) 

Ownership by the 
Company 

Direct or Indirect Ownership by 
Directors/Supervisors/Managers 

(Note 2) 
Total Ownership 

Shares % Shares % Shares % 

iMQ Technology Inc. 2,057    3.38    4,039     6.64    6,096 10.02 

Note 1：Investments accounted for using equity method. 
Note 2：If the Director or Supervisor is a legal entity, its shares include legal entity and its representative. 
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IV. Capital Overview
4.1 Capital and Shares 

4.1.1 Source of Capital 
Unit: Thousand shares / NT$ thousands

Month/ 
Year 

Par 
Value 
(NT$) 

Authorized Capital Paid-in Capital Remark 

Shares Amount Shares Amount Sources of Capital 
(Amount) 

Capital 
Increased by 
Assets Other 

than Cash 
(Amount) 

Other 

09/2000 10 40,000 400,000 30,895 308,950 Set up Capital : 308,950 
Technology : 

60,000 
09/22/2000 Jin (089) Sun 
Tzu No.089134296 

01/2002 10 40,000 400,000 40,000 400,000 Cash Offering : 91,050 None 01/09/2002 Jin So Sun Tzu
No.09101006950 

12/2003 10 60,000 600,000 46,000 460,000 Cash Offering : 60,000 None 12/11/2003 Yuan Shang Tzu 
No. 0920034610 

11/2004 10 61,500 615,000 32,689 326,889
Capital Reduction : 
203,111 
Cash offering : 70,000 

None 11/24/2004 Yuan Shang Tzu 
No.0930032426 

10/2005 10 61,500 615,000 33,425 334,249 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 7,360 None 10/24 /2005Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.0940028474 

01/2006 10 61,500 615,000 33,500 334,999 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 750 None 01/23/2006 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.0950001176A 

08/2006 10 61,500 615,000 38,357 383,565

Capitalization of Profits : 
41,133 
Capitalization of 
Employee Bonus : 7,433

None 08/01/2006Yuan Shang Tzu 
No.0950019826 

10/2006 10 61,500 615,000 39,446 394,455 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 10,890 None 10/23/2006 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.0950027836 

01/2007 10 61,500 615,000 39,452 394,515 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 60 None 01/10/2007Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.0960000825 

08/2007 10 61,500 615,000 44,869 448,694

Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 4,940 
Capitalization of Profits : 
41,721 
Capitalization of 
Employee Bonus : 7,518

None 08/31/2007 Yuan Shang Tzu 
No.0960023515 

10/2007 10 61,500 615,000 45,415 454,154 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 5,460 None 10/16/2007 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.0960027729 

01/2008 10 61,500 615,000 45,558 455,584 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 1,430 None 01/28/2008 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.0970002528 

04/2008 10 61,500 615,000 45,744 457,444 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 1,860 None 04/29/2008 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.0970011421 

07/2008 10 61,500 615,000 53,497 534,974

Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 1,690 
Capitalization of Profits : 
64,050 
Capitalization of 
Employee Bonus : 11,790

None 07/29/2008 Yuan Shang Tzu 
No.0970020537 

11/2008 10 61,500 615,000 53,966 539,664 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 4,690 None 11/06/2008 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.0970031028 

01/2009 10 61,500 615,000 54,116 541,164 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 1,500 None 01/19/2009 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.0980001857 

04/2009 10 61,500 615,000 54,300 543,004 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 1,840 None 04/20/2009 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.0980010553 

08/2009 10 80,000 800,000 60,392 603,916

Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 800 
Capitalization of Profits : 
54,116 

None 08/05/2009 Yuan Shang Tzu 
No.0980021773 
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Month/ 
Year 

Par 
Value 
(NT$) 

Authorized Capital Paid-in Capital Remark 

Shares Amount Shares Amount Sources of Capital 
(Amount) 

Capital 
Increased by 
Assets Other 

than Cash 
(Amount) 

Other 

Capitalization of 
Employee Bonus : 5,995

10/2009 10 80,000 800,000 60,427 604,266 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 350 None 10/26/2009 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.0980030178 

02/2010 10 80,000 800,000 62,422 624,221 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 19,955 None 02/11/2010 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.0990004274 

03/2010 10 80,000 800,000 62,452 624,521 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 300 None 06/02/2010 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.0990015194 

08/2010 10 100,000 1,000,000 65,358 653,567

Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 320 
Capitalization of Profits : 
18,727 
Capitalization of 
Employee Bonus : 10,000

None 08/26 /2010Yuan Shang Tzu 
No.0990024779 

10/2010 10 100,000 1,000,000 65,378 653,777 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 210 None 10/29/2010 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.0990032379 

01/2011 10 100,000 1,000,000 76,086 760,855
Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 7,078 
Cash offering : 100,000 

None 02/09/2011 Yuan Shang Tzu 
No.1000003917 

01/2012 10 100,000 1,000,000 76,514 765,138 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 4,283 None 01/17/2012 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.1010001845 

05/2012 10 100,000 1,000,000 76,706 767,058 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 1,920 None 05/09/2012 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.1010013550 

11/2012 10 100,000 1,000,000 76,833 768,323 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 1,265 None 11/06/2012 Yuan Shang Tzu 

No.1010034298 

02/2016 10 100,000 1,000,000 75,783 757,823 Cancellation of Treasury 
Shares: 10,500 None 02/18/2016 Zhu Shang Tzu 

No. 1050004206 

04/2018 10 100,000 1,000,000 75,791 757,908 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 85 None 05/09/2018 Zhu Shang Tzu 

No. 1070013293 

07/2019 10 100,000 1,000,000 75,805 758,050 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 142 None 08/20/2019 Zhu Shang Tzu 

No. 1080023864 

10/2019 10 100,000 1,000,000 75,831 758,314 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 264 None 11/05/2019 Zhu Shang Tzu 

No. 1080032062 

02/2020 10 100,000 1,000,000 75,834 758,336 Exercise of Employee 
Stock : 22 None 03/02/2020 Zhu Shang Tzu 

No. 1090005834 

04/12/2020；Unit: Share     

Share Type 
Authorized Capital 

Remarks 
Issued Shares Un-issued Shares Total Shares 

Common Share 75,833,542 24,166,458 100,000,000 TPEx stocks 

4.1.2 Status of Shareholders 
04/20/2020 

Item Government 
Agencies 

Financial 
Institutions 

Other 
Juridical 
Persons 

Domestic 
Natural 
Persons 

Foreign 
Institutions & 

Natural Persons
Total 

Number of 
Shareholders 0 9 155 6,686 166 7,016 

Shareholding 
(shares) 0 5,300,000 15,513,243 24,876,255 30,144,044 75,833,542

Percentage (%) 0 6.99 20.46 32.80 39.75 100 
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4.1.3 Shareholding Distribution Status 
04/12/2020 

4.1.4 List of Major Shareholders 
04/12/2020 

Class of Shareholding  
(Unit: Share) Number of Shareholders Shareholding (Shares) Percentage (%)

1 ~ 999 4,081 81,885 0.11 
1,000 ~ 5,000 2,267 4,024,349 5.31 

5,001 ~ 10,000 231 1,802,842 2.38 
10,001 ~ 15,000 77 963,352 1.27 
15,001 ~ 20,000 73 1,312,294 1.73 
20,001 ~ 30,000 66 1,657,401 2.19 
30,001 ~ 40,000 33 1,148,708 1.51 
40,001 ~ 50,000 26 1,150,325 1.52 
50,001 ~ 100,000 59 4,295,556 5.66 

100,001 ~ 200,000 50 7,473,655 9.86 
200,001 ~ 400,000 17 4,940,626 6.52 
400,001 ~ 600,000 6 2,664,000 3.51 
600,001 ~ 800,000 9 6,006,679 7.92 

800,001 ~ 1,000,000 3 2,752,000 3.63 
1,000,001 or over 18 35,559,870 46.88 

Total 7,016 75,833,542 100.00 

Shareholder's Name 
Shareholding 

Shares Percentage (%) 
Government of Singapore 5,328,000 7.03 
SmallCap World Fund Inc. 4,024,334 5.31 
Swedbank Robur Globalfond 3,027,000 3.99 
New Labor Pension Fund 2,878,000 3.80 
Li-Jeng Chen 2,345,000 3.09 
Fubon Life Insurance Co., Ltd 1,950,000 2.57 
Charles Hsu 1,629,407 2.15 
eMemory Technology Inc. 1,567,000 2.07 
Diamond Hosiery & Thread Co., Ltd. 1,552,000 2.05 
Allianz Global Investors Taiwan Technology Fund 1,504,000 1.98 
Taiwan Life Insurance Co., Ltd. 1,470,000 1.94 
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4.1.5 Market Price, Net Worth, Earnings, and Dividends per Share 
Unit: NT$ / Thousand shares

Year
Item 

2018 2019 
2020

(As of April 12)
(Note 4) 

Market Price per Share 
(Note 1) 

Highest Market Price 455.0 410.0 372.5 
Lowest Market Price 181.0 241.0 159.5 
Average Market Price 289.46 334.76 250.96 

Net Worth per Share 
(Note 2) 

Before Distribution 23.36 22.92 25.32 
After Distribution 15.36 (Note 2) N/A 

Earnings per Share 
Weighted Average Shares 75,425 74,247 74,267 
Earnings Per Share 8.13 7.30 2.38 

Dividends per Share 
(Note 3) 

Cash Dividends 7.9984 (Note 3) N/A 

Stock 
Dividends 

Dividends from Retained Earnings - (Note 3) N/A 

Dividends from Capital Surplus - (Note 3) N/A 

Accumulated Undistributed Dividends - (Note 3) N/A 

Return on Investment 

Price / Earnings Ratio (Note 5) 40.00 46.23 N/A 

Price / Dividend Ratio (Note 6) 40.66 48.21 N/A 

Cash Dividend Yield Rate (Note 7) 2.46% 2.07% N/A 

Note 1: Market price per share is based on the information posted on the official website of TPEx. 
Note 2: Information on 2018 is based on the resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting in 2019; the distribution of profits 

for 2019 is still pending on the final resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting in 2020. 
Note 3: Cash dividend paid by eMemory for 2019 is NT$7 per share (dividend from the retained earnings amounted to 

NT$5.5 and from capital Surplus amounted to NT$1.5). This proposal is pending on the final resolution of the 
Shareholders’ Meeting in 2020. 

Note 4: The net worth and earnings per share in this column are the information on the reviewed consolidated financial 
statements for the first quarter of 2020. 

Note 5: Price / Earnings Ratio = Average Closing Price per Share in current year / Earnings per Share. 
Note 6: Price / Dividend Ratio = Average Closing Price per Share in current year / Cash Dividends per Share. 
Note 7: Cash Dividend Yield = Cash Dividends per Share / Average Closing Price per Share in current year. 

4.1.6 Dividend Policy and Implementation Status 

A. Dividend Policy 

If there is any profit in an annual general financial statement of the Company, such profit shall 
be distributed in the following orders: 
1.  Reserve for tax payments. 
2.  Offset accumulated losses, if any. 
3.  Legal reserve, which is 10% of remaining net profits after deducting the aforementioned 

items. However, this restriction does not apply in the event that the amount of the 
accumulated legal reserve equals or exceeds the Company’s total capital stock. 

4.  Allocation or reverse of special reserves as required by law or government authorities. 
5.  The remaining net profits and retained earnings from previous years will be allocated as 

shareholders’ dividend. The Board will prepare a distribution proposal and submit it to the 
Meeting for review and approval by a resolution. 
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Since the Company is in an industry in a growth phase, the dividend policy shall take into 
consideration factors such as the Company’s current and future investment and capital needs, 
and capital budgeting plans. The proposal should strike a balance between the shareholders’ 
benefits and the Company’s long-term financial plans. Dividends to shareholders shall not be 
less than 50% of the remaining retained earnings available for distribution and may be 
distributed in cash or in stock. Cash dividends shall not be lower than 10% of total dividends to 
shareholders. Each year the Board shall prepare a profit distribution proposal and present it at 
the Meeting for approval. 

B. Proposed Distribution of Dividend 

The proposal for 2019 profit distribution was resolved by the Board dated February 19, 2020; 
pending on the final resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting scheduled on June 10, 2020 with 
authorization to the Chairman for setting the ex-dividend day. 

eMemory Technology Inc. 
Statement of Profit Distribution 

2019 
Unit: NT$ 

Item
Amount

Subtotal Total

Beginning Balance of Unappropriated Retained Earnings  $ 5,186,112

Net Profit of 2019 542,072,418 

Remeasurement of Defined Benefit Plans Counted in Retained Earnings (1,604,141) 540,468,277

10% Legal Reserve Appropriated (54,046,828)

Special Reserve Appropriated  (3,653,957)

Retained Earnings Available for Distribution 487,953,604

Distribution of Shareholder Dividends - Cash (NT$ 5.5 per share)  (408,465,981)

Ending Balance of Unappropriated Retained Earnings  $ 79,487,623

Chairman: Charles Hsu President: Rick Shen Accounting Officer: Teresa Kuo 

Remarks: 1. According to the Rule No.871941343 issued by the Ministry of Finance on April 30, 1998, when 
distributing earnings, it shall be identified respectively; the earnings distributed in this year shall 
be those of the latest year. 

2. The shareholder cash dividends is in a total amount of NT$ 408,465,981, to be distributed by 
NT$ 5.5 per share, this is calculated by basing on the issued 74,266,542 outstanding shares up to 
February 18, 2020, and rounded down to the nearest whole number, the fractional balance less 
than NT$ 1 shall be summed up and recognized as other income of the Company. 

C. Anticipation of Future Change in Dividend Policy: None. 

4.1.7 Impact to 2019 Business Performance and EPS Resulting from Stock Dividend Distribution: 
Not applicable. 
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4.1.8 Compensation of Employees, Directors and Supervisors 

A. Information Relating to Compensation of Employees, Directors and Supervisors in the 
Articles of Incorporation 

If there is any pre-tax profit, 1% to 25% of the profit shall be distributed to eligible employees 
in the form of cash or stock for profit sharing. No more than 2% of the profit shall be 
distributed to directors for compensation. 

B. The basis for estimating the amount of employee, director, and supervisor compensation, for 
calculating the number of shares to be distributed as employee compensation, and the 
accounting treatment of the discrepancy, if any, between the actual distributed amount and the 
estimated figure, for the current period 

In case of variation between the amount resolved by the resolution of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting and the estimation in the financial statements, the difference is recognized as a 
change in accounting estimate and recognized as income or loss in current period. 

C. Distribution of Compensation Approved in the Board of Directors Meeting 

(1) Employee compensation sharing, stock dividend, and remuneration to the directors and 
the supervisors in the year of recognition varied with the estimation, disclose the 
differences, specify the cause, and the settlement of the problem:  
a. The employees’ compensation and the remuneration of Directors of 2019 had been 

resolved by the Board of Directors on February 19, 2020, the distribution of 
mentioned compensation and remuneration is set forth below:

 The distribution of employees’ compensation is in an amount of NT$ 113,745,684.
 The distribution of remuneration of Directors is in an amount of NT$ 11,374,568.

b. There is no difference between the distributed amounts mentioned above and the 
assessed amounts of employees’ compensation and remuneration of Directors. 

(2) The amount of employee stock compensation planned to be released in proportion to the 
net income of the individual financial statements of The Company and to total employee 
compensation: Not applicable. 

D. Information of 2018 Distribution of Compensation of Employees, Directors and Supervisors 
(with an indication of the number of shares, monetary amount, and stock price, of the shares 
distributed) and, if there is any discrepancy between the actual distribution and the recognized 
employee, director, or supervisor compensation, additionally the discrepancy, cause, and how 
it is treated 

Unit: Thousand shares / NT$ thousands

Item 

Amount for 
Distribution 

Resolved by the 
Board of 
Directors 

Estimation in 
the Year of 

Recognition 
Difference

Shares 
(1,000 
shares) 

Share 
Price  
(NT$) 

Note to the 
Difference 

Employees’ 
Compensation 125,538 125,538 - - - N/A 

Remuneration 
of Directors 12,554 12,554 - - - N/A 
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4.1.9 Status of Repurchase of Shares 

A. Having been completely excuted 

04/12/2020

Number of times Third time 
Purpose Transferring the shares to employees
Actual period of the repurchase September 14, 2018 ~ October 31, 2018
Estimated price range for repurchase NT$ 177.8~ NT$ 400 
Average repurchased price per share (NT$) NT$ 257.97 
The amount of actually repurchased shares (shares) Common Share 1,567,000 shares 
The total amount of actually repurchased shares (NT$) NT$ 404,237,872 
The ratio of the quantity repurchased to the planned 
repurchase quantity（%）

62.68% 

Shares deregistered and transferred (shares) 0 
Cumulative holding (shares) 1,567,000 shares 
Cumulated holding as a percentage of total issued shares (%) 2.07% 

B. Still in the process of execution 

04/12/2020 

Number of times Fourth time 
Purpose Transferring the shares to employees
Share Type Common Share 
Maximum total amount of repurchased shares (NT$) NT$ 723,619,510 
Estimated period for repurchase March 20, 2020 ~ May 19, 2020 
Estimated shares for repurchase 1,000,000 shares 
Estimated price range for repurchase NT$ 111.65~ NT$ 319 
The amount of actually repurchased shares (shares) Common Share 0 shares 
The total amount of actually repurchased shares (NT$) NT$ 0 
The ratio of the quantity repurchased to the planned 
repurchase quantity (%) 

0% 

4.2 Bonds Status of Corporate Bonds, Preferred Stocks, Global Depository Receipts (GDRs): 
Not applicable. 
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4.3 Status of Employee Stock Options 

4.3.1 Issuance of Employee Stock Options 

04/12/2020；Unit: Thousand shares / NT$ thousands

Note：The shares had been deducted due to employee turnover.

Type of Stock Option 
First Stock Option of 2016 
( Issuance on 02/23/2016) 

First Stock Option of 2019 
( Expired on 01/01/2020 
without being issued ) 

Approval Date 12/30/2015 01/02/2019 
Issue Date 02/23/2016 - 
Units Issued 500 - 
Percentage of Shares Exercisable 
to Outstanding Common Shares 

0.66% - 

Option Duration 10 years (to 02/22/2026) 5 years 
Source of Option Shares New Common Share New Common Share 

Vesting Schedule 
2nd Year: Up to 30% 
3rd Year: Up to 60% 
4th Year: Up to 100% 

2nd Year: Up to 30% 
3rd Year: Up to 60% 
4th Year: Up to 100% 

Shares Exercised 51.3 - 
Value of Shares Exercised 16,860 - 
Shares Unexercised 419.95 (Note) - 
Adjusted Exercise Price Per Share 
(NT$) 

324.2 - 

Percentage of Shares Unexercised 
to Outstanding Common Shares 

0.55% - 

Impact to Shareholders’Equity 
Dilution to shareholder’s 

equity is limited 
Dilution to shareholder’s 

equity is limited 
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V. Business Overview 

5.1  Business Activities 

5.1.1 Scope of business 

A. Main business activities 
 CC01080 Electronic Parts and Components Manufacturing 
 I501010 Product Designing 
 F601010 Intellectual Property (IP) 
 CC01050 Data Storage and Processing Equipment Manufacturing 
 Research, development, manufacture and sales of the following products: 
a. Flash Memory Integrated Circuits (IC) 
b. Embedded flash memory IC IP (Embedded Non-Volatile Memory) 

i. Embedded One-Time Programmable Memory SIP 
ii. Embedded Flash Memory SIP 
iii. Embedded Multi-Time Programmable Memory SIP 

c. Memory card output/input controllers 
d. Memory card and digital film related products 

B. Revenue composition 
Unit : NT$ thousands 

Revenue Streams 
2018 2019 

Net Revenue
Revenue 

Contribution 
Net Revenue 

Revenue 
Contribution

Licensing 449,806 30.46% 430,263 30.51% 

Royalty 1,026,710 69.54% 979,822 69.49% 

Total  1,476,516 100.00% 1,410,085 100.00% 

C. Products and services as of now 
Founded in September 2000, eMemory is a Silicon Intellectual Property (SIP) design 
company owning over 700 patents. eMemory is dedicated to the technology development and 
applications of embedded non-volatile memories. 
eMemory focuses on technology innovation, namely the creation of new embedded 
non-volatile memories within existing process platforms (e.g. Logic, Radio-Frequency, High 
Voltage, and BCD processes). Unlike other companies that introduce new materials/processes 
or adopt unstable device operation modes for their non-volatile memory technology, eMemory 
technology platforms are already available in world-wide foundries with our versatile 
offerings able to meet the different needs of IC design houses. This ensures shorter product 
development time and prevents process incompatibility issue. 
SIP contends intellectual property. Users (customers) are licensed for use with the rights to 
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manufacture or design products, while the property right is still possessed by the inventor. 
Users will be charged when using the SIP for product design or production. eMemory collects 
License fee, Usage fee, or Non-Recurring Engineering (NRE), Royalty, or a combination of 
the above. Descriptions of the fees are as follows: 

 License Fee 
eMemory’s main licensing customers are semiconductor foundries. Due to patent entry 
barrier or expertise in mass production, customers must rely on eMemory’s technology and 
IP solutions. License fee generally refers to the fee charged according to individual process 
platform (e.g. 0.5um，0.35um，0.25um，0.18um，65nm，40nm，28nm, 16nm, 10nm, 7nm, 
5nm and so on). 
 Usage Fee 
Usage fee is applicable to customers who adopt available macro. Customers are subject to a 
fee for each usage. In other words, if a customer uses the same macro on 3 different 
products, the customer shall pay the usage fee for 3 times. 
 NRE 
This is the fee for the development of customized macro. 
 Royalty 
In general, this is the fee charged according to a certain ratio of the wafer or product price. 

D. New product development plan 
eMemory focuses on the design and development of embedded NVM technologies. Our 
proprietary SIP technologies include NeoBit, NeoFuse, NeoPUF, NeoEE, and NeoMTP, which 
have all been deployed on various process platforms. These technologies have been 
introduced to different production processes in leading foundries for mass production. New 
development plans will further push our core technologies towards advanced nodes, ranging 
from 28 nm down to 5nm logic process technologies. To respond to TSMC’s 
“more-than-Moore” strategy, eMemory will expand value-added solutions onto matured 
process platforms by deploying IP into high-voltage, MEMS, BCD, CIS, analog, and SOI 
processes to meet the needs of one-stop shopping SIP solutions. The development plans are as 
follows:  

  Increase process platform coverage. 
 Expand the product applications from existing customers (of NeoBit) by deploying 

NeoFuse, NeoPUF, NeoEE, and NeoMTP for new markets. 
 Expedite the development progress of new technologies for NeoFuse, NeoPUF, and 

NeoMTP. 

5.1.2 Industry overview 

A. Current status and future development of the industry  
(1) SIP industry background 

IP (Intellectual Property) refers to intangible asset recognized and protected by law. 
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Without permission from IP owners, no replication or use is allowed. Silicon Intellectual 
Property (hereinafter, “SIP”) is a function block, consisting of IPs and know-hows, which 
has been initially defined and qualified for repetitive usage.  
SIP cell is a pre-designed and qualified macro. With adjustable parameters, these cells 
can be tailor-made per customer requirements or product specifications. IC designers use 
these SIP cells to realize a part of the design functions without redesigning this function 
block. To get a head start, the use of SIP substantially brings down development timeline 
thereby accelerates the time to market.  
SIP was originated after the mid-1990s. Nowadays, consumer electronics products are 
getting lighter, slimmer, and smaller. A System-on-a Chip (SoC) utilizing SIP blocks can 
greatly reduce the time for product qualification and integration; hence product 
developers can focus their efforts on verifying few new functions. This in turn minimizes 
the required engineering efforts that are needed to meet the customer adjustment 
requests. Therefore, product developers can concentrate on product core competencies 
while being agile enough to respond to unpredictable market demands.  
High complexity and short development time in IC industry highlight the importance of 
IC design productivity. It is foreseen that the number of transistors in a semiconductor 
chip will increase year-over-year. Through purchasing or licensing SIP cells, it gains a 
greatly competitive advantage. It not only reduces IC designers’ burden but also greatly 
shorten product development time, as well as increase products’ competitive advantages 
in time-to-market. As such, the inevitable trend is to design the System-on-a Chip by 
using SIP cells. 

(2) Industry outlook  
According to the reviews from IEK ITIS in 2019, the production value generated by 
Taiwanese semiconductor industry amounted to nearly NT$2.66 trillion, indicating a 
1.7% growth compared to 2018. Due to few commodity memory shipments in Taiwan, it 
was much better than the 12.1% decline in 2019 worldwide. eMemory has a 4.5% 
decline in 2019, still better than the worldwide semiconductor industry.  
eMemory focused on SIP business and became a pure SIP vendor since 2013, when all 
revenue with 100% gross margin were from royalty and upfront fee (including license 
fee and technical service fee). Due to continuous improvement in internal operation 
logistics and global business development, the revenue from upfront fee and royalty 
continues to grow year-over-year. Also, compared to 2018, NTO number in 2019 grew 
4.5% and our market share increased substantially. 
Right in the information age, demand for SIP will grow further along with the IC design 
industry market size. The innovative SIP licensing business model leads IP vendors 
towards niche markets as it doesn’t involve production but creates a good value of 
technology licensing with license fee and royalty in return. Having advantages of low 
operation cost and high gross margin, IP industry is superior to other entities in the 
semiconductor industry value chain. 
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The development of SoCs created a structural change in IC design industry. Soon 
afterwards, when the benefits of reusable SIP cells were understood, it contributed to 
even higher growth in the SoC development. Currently, with many of the global leading 
foundries (with advanced process and high production capacity) and numerous IC design 
houses all located in Asia, there is unlimited business potential for SIP providers who are 
also in Asia. 

B. IC industry supply chain in Taiwan 

SIP is among the top in the upstream of IC industry and facilitates the overall productivity in 
IC design and manufacturing. 

C. Megatrend in IC industry 
(1) Reusable SIP 

Product delivery timeline is a major indicator of competitiveness. As the industry is 
inclined toward specialization, the use of SIP cells will be the key to success. 

(2) Qualified and reliable SIP 
Expense on product development is heavy due to the complexity and uncertainty in a 
SoC design. In the advanced process nodes, using non-qualified SIP equals risk. 
Therefore, the adoption of qualified SIP from a third party will greatly reduce production 
risks; among which foundries are the most objective and convincing. SIP qualified by 
multiple foundry companies not only indicates the production flexibility of fab-to-fab 
porting but also demonstrates the wide availability in various process platforms. 

(3) Continuous deployment in advanced process nodes 
From 55nm down to 5nm and beyond, logic NVM SIPs in logic or high performance 
computing (HPC) process platforms are frequently deployed into memory repair, security 
setting, feature selection, chip identification, analog trimming, Digital Rights 
Management (DRM) and code storage. These are used in application processors, FPGA, 
AI accelerators, multi-media, SSD drive, network processors and commodity DRAMs. 
In the age of IoT, smartphones, autotronics and bioelectronics where data security is at 
the utmost, this category will play a key role. Logic NVM provides the storage capability 
of analog trimming, security as well as chip identification for display driver IC, power 

Group Roles Products Major Players 
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Design Service and 
IC Design 
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eMemory, MTK, 
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Downstream Package & Testing 
Backend services for IC 
package and test 
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management IC and sensor controller. 
As for high density (1~4M Bytes) requirements, Logic NVM SIP is embedded for code 
storage to supersede ROM and reaches a high level of integration as well as meeting the 
needs of security. They are widely applied in wireless applications including Wi-Fi, 
Bluetooth, and smartphones. 

D. Competition 
From the perspectives of Logic NVM SIP that eMemory specializes in, the other competitors 
in Taiwan are still in the stage of technical development. On the other hand, two of the 
foreign main competitors have just been acquired, thus the result of acquisition is not yet 
clear. From the perspective of design services, except for Andes and M31 that offers SIP 
licensing, the remaining, such as Global Unichip Corp., Faraday Technology Inc. and Alchip, 
concentrate on providing ASIC services as well as turnkey services with foundry strategic 
alliances. Therefore, those design service companies will derive less of their revenue from 
license fees and royalties, as compared to eMemory. 

E.  Key performance indicators (KPI) 

Quantity of new tape outs (NTO) with eMemory IP 
2018 2019 

Target Actual Completion Rate Target Actual Completion Rate
400 404 101% 420 422 100% 

5.1.3 Short and long term business development plan 

eMemory continuously increases market share through innovation, wide product applications 
and strategic partnerships worldwide. eMemory keeps playing a leading role as a SIP provider in 
embedded memory technology. 

A. Short-term  
(1) Marketing plan 

a. Expand NeoBit, NeoFuse, NeoPUF, NeoEE, and NeoMTP's popularity through 
existing sales channels. 

b. Collaborate with major companies in Europe, America, and Japan to develop local 
markets. 

c. Develop product applications of emerging memory technology which is 
co-developed with technology partners.  

d. Focus on the establishment of groundwork and expertise of SIP products and to 
optimize investment and return. 

e. Provide customers with more comprehensive SIP platforms across worldwide 
foundries.  
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f. Increase the revenue contribution from NeoFuse, NeoPUF, NeoEE, and NeoMTP 
SIP. 

g. Enhance on-time delivery to meet customer’s needs. 
h. Introduce existing technologies and SIP to new application segments.  
i. Leverage distribution channels of partner foundries to enhance product promotion. 
j. Utilize social media to gain exposure, popularity and technical expertise through 

publishing newsletters of new technology, application, and platform along with 
whitepapers. 

k. Improve online system to maximize the bandwidth in serving customers 24/7.   
(2) Financial plan 

Make use of a robust business model to maintain a sound financial structure and 
optimized working capital.  

B. Long-term  
(1) Marketing plan 

a. Establish technical service and sales local offices worldwide to boost regional sales, 
reputation, and market share. 

b. Establish a one-stop shopping SIP platform to provide customers with comprehensive 
SIP choices and services. 

c. Continue developing new products, applications, strategic partnerships, and markets. 
d. Collaborate with worldwide foundries through strategic alliances to establish new 

technology and manufacturing platform and strengthen competitiveness. 
e. Uplift adoption rate in advanced process nodes and develop new applications 

targeting products with higher ASP to enhance royalty income. 
f. Develop high value-added and reliable logic NVM SIP, including industrial,  

automotive and security applications.  
(2) Financial plan 

Make use of diverse fundraising and financial initiatives to form a sound financial 
structure. 

5.2  Technology and R&D Outlook 

5. 2.1 R&D expense in previous year to the date this report was printed 

Unit : NT$ thousands 
       2019 2020 (As of March 31) 
R&D Expense(A) 506,215 145,693 
Net Revenue (B)  1,410,085 415,436 
(A)/(B)  35.90% 35.07% 

5.2.2 Technology or product successfully developed in previous year to the date this report was 
printed 
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Technology or product The Company successfully developed in previous year to the date this 
report was printed is as the following: 

Date Item 

2019 to April 
12, 2020 

1. NeoBit 
(1) NeoBit in 0.13um BCD process successfully passed the first phase of the 

ISO26262 ASIL-D safety certification and second phase of certification 
works is on-going. 

2. NeoFuse 
(1) Complete the functionality check of 5nm OTP. 
(2) Complete the reliability qualification of 7nm OTP. Successfully engaged 

the first customer’s product tape-out.  
(3) Complete 6nm OTP testchip tapeout.  
(4) NeoFuse in 25nm DRAM process has successfully entered the mass 

production stage.  
(5) NeoFuse in 28nm HV process has completed qualification and is currently 

in mass production.  
3. NeoPUF 

(1) Strategic project with ARM is progressing smoothly. The prototyping of 
the security module has been completed at 40nm. 

(2) In cooperation with PUFsecurity Corporation, the first customer adopted 
the NeoPUF embedded security module.  

4. NeoEE 
(1) Got 1st phase certification of automotive function safety ISO26262 

standard on 0.11um BCD process. 
(2) Complete 100K cycles high-endurance qualification on 0.18um 1.8V/5V 

process, which could replace stand-alone EEPROM for MCU applications 
and already engage customers to use. 

(3) Complete 100K-cycles high-endurance qualification on 0.11um 1.2V/3.3V 
process, which could replace stand-alone EEPROM for MCU applications 
and already engage customers to use. 

5. NeoMTP 
(1) Complete the high-temperature (175°C) reliability certification of 

NeoMTP Gen-II on 0.13 um BCD process. The IP meets the requirements 
of AEC-Q100 Grade 0, the highest level, and can be applied for 
automotive power management applications. 

(2) Complete functionality characterization of 90nm BCD process. 
6. ReRAM 

(1) Complete 40nm embedded ReRAM functionality characterization. 
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5.3  Market Outlook and Production and Sales Overview 

5.3.1 Market analysis 

A. Main geographic regions for sales of products (services) 
Unit : NT$ thousands 

Geographic Regions 2018 2019 
Domestic 880,511  805,649 

Asia 530,545  526,737 
America 51,242  53,320 
Europe 13,910  24,226 
Africa 308  153 

Oceania 0 0 
Total  1,476,516 1,410,085 

B. Market share 
According to the statistics compiled by IEK and its forecast, the production value of the IC 
design industry of Taiwan in 2019 amounted to NT$ 692.8 billion. In 2019, eMemory had 
revenue of NT$ 1,410,085 thousand or at 0.2% of the total market production value. With the 
introduction of newly developed technologies of NeoEE, NeoFuse, and NeoMTP and 
NeoPUF, the full product IP technologies portfolio is in place. The Company can provide 
customers diverse technical services which will benefit operational performance. With steady 
growth in business operation and increasing number of customers and new product 
adaptations, the revenue generates from technical service and licensing fee will continue to 
grow. Likewise, revenue from royalty will also increase, and market share of eNVM SIP will 
surge. 

C. Market supply/demand and growth in the future 
(1) Future market supply and demand  

SIP is increasingly important as global IC providers’ demand in advanced process ndoe 
raise. The main market applications include mobile communication, consumer 
electronics, industrial electronics, and autotronics. eMemory has researched and 
developed series of eNVM technologies and SIP applicable to micro controllers ICs, 
LCD panel control ICs, LCD screen driver ICs, PMICs, Image Signal Processor (ISP), 
high frequency signal ICs, short-range communication ICs, Bluetooth ICs, oscillator 
controller ICs, MP3 control ICs, battery power management ICs, voice ICs and 
autotronic ICs. 
From the company’s perspective, the market supply and demand suggested the rapid 
growth of portable devices in recent years increased the number of IC contained in the 
products, including CPUs, panel driver ICs, panel controller ICs, PMICs, touch panel 
ICs, communication ICs, and base band ICs. Furthermore, the fast growth new 
application markets, such as fingerprint ICs, portable DRAM, CMOS image sensors, 
Image Signal Processor (ISP), and TDDI, will also contribute to the revenue. 
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According to the market information, the shipment volume of smart phone is projected to 
be below 1.2 billion units in 2020 due to the COVID-19 impact, which still has the 
highest demend in consumer electronic field. Mobile devices is going to grow due to the 
continuous launch of innovative high-end products and the momentum comes from 
demand for mid to low-end products at the emerging markets. Besides, new applications 
in AR/VR and autoronic’s will also drive the total production value to grow. 

Source: Digitimes, eMemory, 2020/4   
(2) Market growth potentials 

As the integration of SoC increases, the demand for light-weighted compact products 
become the mainstream of IC technology development. Factors including increasing 
proportion of design outsourcing, raising cost of new process mask and technology 
development, and the IC complexity which lead to longer cycle time, all of which have 
made SIP become the key to accelerate SoC development. The complex SoC design and 
production process resulted in increasing division of labor in the semiconductor industry. 
The use of SIP for SoC design reduces designers’ burdens and the development time 
substantially. This is critical for enhancing competitive advantage in terms of 
time-to-market; as the result, SoC becomes increasingly dependent on SIP. 
The rapid development of semiconductor production node and the increasing demand for 
compact, slim, and light-weighted products which require a greater variety of functions 
has led the IC design to the integration of multi-functionality and embedded design 
including application processor IC, stacked CMOS image sensor, fingerprint sensor, 
autoronic image system. As such, the raising era of communication, home appliance, and 
personal service communication, the scale of the IC design market continues to expand. 
The destructive innovation eNVM SIP from eMemory transcend traditional logic process 
into the eNVM logic process, which makes SoC circuit design simple and easy to 
accomplish, while reducing SoC development and manufacturing cost, and achieve 
higher performance efficiency to meet the requirement of IoT and autotronics. We not 
only build the floating gate structure on mature manufacturing platform but also 
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introduce the NeoFuse on advanced node platform (7nm~65nm). This provides our 
clients product development and testification under multiple platform, increasing 
flexibility for the production and enhancing the competitiveness of the business. As such, 
the promising future of silicon intellectual device is foreseen. 

D. Competitive advantages 
(1) Rich eNVM technologies portfolio 

eMemory has dedicated its resources in the research and development of eNVM since its 
establishment, focusing on the application of NeoBit, NeoFuse, NeoPUF, NeoEE, and 
NeoMTP technologies. These technologies were not only testified by many leading 
foundries, but also successfully applied into 0.5 um to 16 nm process node for customer’s 
need in mass production. Furthermore, our technologies expand to 12nm, 7nm, 6nm, 
5nm advance nodes, fulfilling customers’ different need. The eNVM technology is 
applicable to all kinds of CMOS process (including logic, analog, M-M, HV, SiGe, CIS, 
EEPROM, and DRAM, etc) with wide applications, allowing customers to directly apply 
into their design without modifying components characters of customers’ products to 
shorten the development time. For example, it takes 2~3 years to introduce eNVM (e.g., 
embedded flash or EERROM) technology in 0.13um and 90nm process platform. It may 
take even longer for 55nm and 40nm process. Yet it takes only 6 to 9 months for porting 
NeoBit, NeoEE, NeoFuse, or NeoMTP technology to each process node. 

(2) IP technology features one-time/multiple-times programmable function; allowing 
higher flexibility of production and sales for customers 

In general, program code mask must be introduced in ROM device manufacturing 
process. In other words, program code is already added in the production process that 
there is no flexibility for product program code adjustment later on. In addition, program 
codes of different versions also pose problems for mask and inventory management. 
NeoBit, NeoFuse, NeoPUF, NeoEE, and NeoMTP eNVM can be directly added to the 
memory device in the logic device manufacturing process. The product itself features 
one-time/multiple-times (OTP/MTP) programmable function. Therefore, special 
application providers can write in the program code before delivery to specific 
customers, or provide the code for the customers so that they could update the program 
code or data. These features provide IC providers greater production and sales flexibility, 
bringing the advantage of greater variety in small quantity and fast delivery. 

(3) Strong research and development team  
The Company has oriented towards the research and development of its own 
technologies since its establishment. The Chairman of eMemory, Dr. Charles Hsu, is a 
member of world-renowned NVM Committee. Former Director of the Institute of 
Electronics Engineering at National Tsing-Hua University, Dr. Hsu first propose the 
P-type tunneling flash memory in 1992, and has been awarded the “Outstanding 
Research Award” by National Science Commission in 1997 and 1999.  
Chairman Hsu leads a research and development team with outstanding professionals and 
rich work experience, and has acquired more than 700 patents around the world. The 
patented technology of eNVM developed by this team has won the gold medal of “2005 
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National Invention and Creation Award” in October 2005, the Innovative Enterprise 
Award of the “Industrial Technology Advancement Award” by Ministry of Economic 
Affairs in October 2008, the “2008 National Invention and Creation Award” by 
Intellectual Property Bureau of Ministry of Economic Affairs, the “Excellent 
Manufacturers Innovation Product Award and R&D Achievement Award” by Hsinchu 
Science Park Bureau of Ministry Science and Technology in December 2017, and 
Excellence in Innovation First Prize of the“National Industry Innovation Award” by 
Ministry of Economic Affairs in April 2019 .  
The Company is dedicated to the development of advanced technologies and makes 
ceaseless effort in the training and recruitment of talents. By providing full-range design 
resources and reliable technical supports, The Company makes the products of its 
customers highly competitive. 

(4) Outstanding management team  
Most of the management team members came from renowned companies, who have rich 
experience in business operation and are specialized in research and development, 
business, and operation management. With the same believe, the team leads the company 
towards substantial growth. 

(5) Strong partnership with leading foundries 
Our collaborative foundries are all worldwide leading foundries with the best process 
technology, yield rate, and delivery. Our eNVM technology, IP licensing, manufacturing 
technology, and design service has passed strict qualification and successfully assisted 
foundries to launch mass production. From 2010 to 2019, eMemory was recognized as 
the Best IP Partner by TSMC for 10 consecutive years, and received the best SMIC IP 
Partner Award from 2013 to 2016. In addition, the company has also been 
highly-recognized by UMC and GlobalFoundries. Looking towards the future, the 
strategic alliance with foundries will bring growth momentum and further expanded the 
market share. 

(6) Zero-inventory contributed to the capital flexibility 
The sole business of the company is eNVM IP licensing with zero-inventory. The 
company is not a manufacturer. Without factories, machinery, and equipment and other 
sizable capital expenditures, eMemory can use the working capital with high flexibility. 

(7) Full-range and efficient service quality  
The company has established a customer technical service system. With well-developed 
process management mechanism, the company can provide customers the timely and 
accurate delivery of technical documents. Unlike other foreign SIP suppliers, when the 
SIP supplied is not compatible with customers’ products, it is the customers who is 
responsible for seeking for solutions. On the country, eMemory focuses the compatibility 
of SIP technology and customers’ IC, and will provide a complete solution for customers 
in case of any issues. 

E.  Favorable and unfavorable factors for corporate development and the responding measures 
(1) Favorable factors 

a. Specialization of the semiconductor industry 
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The close relation of the upper- and lower-stream of the industry is beneficial to the 
formation of the supply chain.  
With more than 30 years of experience, the semiconductor industry in Taiwan has a 
complete semiconductor industry chain. 
The prosperity of Taiwan IC design industry also stimulates the growth in SIP industry. 
Leading foundries include TSMC, UMC, and VIS can provide the platform for SIP 
qualification. The reliability and the complete SIP portfolio provide customers a solid 
product foundation. Therefore, the cooperative relation between eMemory and the 
customers could be bolstered. 

b. Geographic advantage 
The IC market is focus on Asia, therefore,  companies will approach the market to 
enhance the service efficiency and quality. The majority of leading foundries are 
mainly located in Taiwan, Mainland China, Korea, and Singapore. There are large 
IDMs in Japan and Korea while IC design companies tend to clatter in Taiwan and 
Mainland China. The cost advantage in Asia attracts semiconductor industry to the 
region. Therefore, eMemory has the excellent advantage. 

(2) Unfavorable factors and responding measures 
a. Insufficient SIP design talents in Taiwan 

SIP design is a typical knowledge economy, the key to success lies in the R&D ability. 
However, there is a scarcity of talents with profound and professional knowledge. 
Moreover, in order to cultivate the centripetal force for employees, it takes higher cost 
in human resources. 
【Responding Measures】

i. The company provide external and internal education and on-the-job training for 
employees. Moreover, with the cooperative programs with universities, the 
company can also recruits students with good performance. 

ii. An employee’s incentive program is also introduced. Employees with excellent 
performance will be rewarded correspondingly.  

b.The industry is promising, leading to the increasing number of competitors 
SIP will be the trend of the semiconductor industry. As the IC design became 
increasingly complex, particularly in the design of SoC and embedded design, it 
makes the IP licensing an indispensable part of the operation. eMemory is the leader of 
eNVM technology and IP application. The eNVM technology has become a critical 
circuit block for mainstream products, which will attract more competitors. 
【Responding Measures】

i. Develop high value-added design service technology to provide rapid and 
accurate solutions for customers. 

ii. Develop applications for new products and assist customers to enhance their 
products performance or competitiveness. 

iii. Continue the effort in innovation and provide customers a full-range solution for 
eNVM IP. 

iv. Broaden the client base and continue to develop the international market and 
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increase the market share. 
v. Continue to enhance service quality. 

5.3.2 Main products’ applications and production flows  

A. Main products’ applications  
The main products of the company covers embedded memory technologies and IP design 
service. The main applications of the embedded memory include communication 
equipments, autotronics, home appliances, and communication and consumer electronics. 

B. Main products’ production flow  
eMemory is an IP provider without physical products. The IP service flow chart is shown 
below: 

5.3.3 Supply of Key Materials  

eMemory is a professional SIP provider, offering production technology and design service of 
eNVM technology and IP licensing. The principal business is licensing and does not require 
supply of materials. 
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5.3.5 Production in the last two years 

The company is a professional company of SIP, which is not engaged in production and 
manufacturing; therefore, the production is not applicable. 

5.3.6 Shipments and sales in the last two years 
Unit: NT$ thousands

5.4  Human Resources 

Year 2018 2019 2020 (As of April 12) 

Number of  
Employees 

Sales & Marketing 35 35 35 
Administration 40 48 50 

R&D 175 184 186 
Total 250 267 271 

Average Age 38 38 38 
Average Years of Service 7.1 7.5 7.5 

Education 

Ph.D. 2.8% 3.8% 3.7% 
Masters 65.2% 64% 64.2% 

Bachelor’s Degree 31.6% 31.8% 31.7% 
Senior High School 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% 

Below Senior High School - - - 

Note：Including the number of employees of the subsidiary PUFsecurity Corporation established in May 
2019. 

5.5  Environmental Protection Expenditure 

Any losses suffered by the company in the previous year to the date this report was printed due to 
environmental pollution incidents (including any compensation paid and any violations of 
environmental protection laws or regulations found in environmental inspection, specifying the 
disposition dates, disposition reference numbers, the articles of law violated, and the content of the 
dispositions), and disclosing an estimate of possible expenses that could be incurred currently and 
in the future and measures being or to be taken. If a reasonable estimate cannot be made, an 
explanation of the facts of why it cannot be made shall be provided: None.  

   Year  
Shipments       

& Sales 

Major Products 

2018 2019 
Local Export Local Export 

Quantity Amount Quantity Amount Quantity Amount Quantity Amount

Licensing 0 134,965 0  314,841 0 124,003 0 306,260

Royalty 0  745,546 0 281,164 0  681,646 0 298,176

Total  0  880,511 0 596,005 0  805,649 0 604,436
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5.6  Labor-Management Relations 

5.6.1 Employee benefit program, continuing learning, training, retirement system and its 
implementation, and the labor-management agreement and the protection measures of 
employees’ rights 

A. Employee benefit program 
The “Employee Welfare Committee” of the Company had been established on September 18, 
2002, and approved by the Hsinchu Science Park Bureau for reference, the funds are set aside 
monthly, the employee welfare activities are periodically held, the welfare programs are 
planned detailedly and so budgeted, including gift coupons for annual holidays, group 
entertainment activities, domestic and overseas travel activities, subsidies for wedding and 
funeral, subsides for birth, pension for hospitalization, birthday party, year-end party lottery, 
physical examination, labor and health insurances, group insurance(including spouse and child 
are insured for free), travel accident insurance for business trip, free dessert/beverage bar, 
subsidy for afternoon tea coupon, subsidy for parking space, subsidy for gymnastic for fit, 
specific nursing room, personal birthday leave, and eMemory’s favorable leaves which are 
granted under the conditions better than the requirements of laws and regulations. 

B. Employees’ continuing learning and training status 
(1) To orientate the rapid change of technology in the industry and ensure the development of 

employees’ talents to achieve the joint target for the Company, that training is a major 
point of the management of human resource. The scope covers related trainings including 
employees’ skill, knowledge, language, computer and management, which will improve 
the professional skill and knowledge of employees as well as enhancing the working 
attitude. The Company provides employees for the training opportunities and funds, which 
expects the employees would contribute what he or she had learned to improve the quality 
and profession of the work and create total revenue of the Company, that the personal 
career planning and whole benefits of the Company can be achieved jointly. 

(2) Implementation of 2019 trainings 

Items 
Number of 

Courses 
Total 

participants
Total Hours 

Total 
Expenses 

1. New Employee 
Training 

2 21 246 0

2. Vocational Training 158 2220 6,273  903,247 

3. Supervisor Training 3 24 103 0

4. General Training 
(Note) 

5 124 1,454  181,290 

Total amounts  168  2,389 8,076  1,084,537 

Note：Including the courses of environmental safety, tool technique, etc. 
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C. Retirement system and its implementation 
The Rules for Retirement Management of the Company had been established pursuant to the 
Labor Act and Labor Pension Act, all of the employees are covered, the affairs related to 
conditions of retirement, standards of payment and procedures for application are definitely 
provided, and the Supervisory Committee of Labor’s Retirement Preparation Fund is also 
established according to the law, the preparation fund is deposited in the Bank of Taiwan  
under the title of Supervisory Committee of Labor’s Retirement Preparation Fund every month; 
in conforming with the Labor Pension Act, from the day of July 1, 2005, the employees who 
originally are covered by the rules and choose to be applicable to the new Act, the seniority of 
such employees or the employees who is employed after the enforcement of new Act shall be 
applicable to the defined contribution plan, the pension payment shall be contributed by the 
employer by no less than 6% per month, and deposit in the individual accounts of labor pension 
at the Bureau. 

D. Labor-management agreement 
In order to build up the harmonious labor-management relations, the Company provides the 
grievance channels of employee forum and written application etc. which the opinions of 
employees can be smoothly rendered, and the President will report the current status of the 
Company to employees each quarter to make employees thoroughly understand the situation of 
the Company’s operation. The labor-management relations are harmonious from the 
establishment of the Company up to the current date, that all relevant affairs are handled 
pursuant to the related provisions of laws and regulations. 

E. Protection measures for the rights of employees 
The excellent document control system is set up by the Company in which the management 
rules are recorded, and the rights, obligations and welfare of employees are definitely provided 
therein, the welfare are reviewed periodically and updated on the document control system 
from time to time to protect the rights of employees. 

5.6.2 Loss deriving from labor-management dispute (including any violations of the Labor 
Standards Act found in labor inspection, specifying the disposition dates, disposition 
reference numbers, the articles of law violated, the substance of the legal violations, and the 
content of the dispositions) in the last two years to the date this report was printed, disclose 
the amount possibly incurred for the time being and in the future, and the responding 
measures. If this amount cannot be reasonably estimated, specify the reasons 

The labor-management relations are harmonious from the establishment of the Company up 
to the current date, that there is not any concern of losses caused by the labor dispute 
happens right now and in the future. 
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5.7  Major Contract 

Contract Contracting Party Term of 
Agreement Major Contents Limitation 

License 
Agreement 

GLOBALFOUNDRIES 
Singapore 

11/25/2002~
Technology 

License 
Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Renesas Technology 04/01/2003~

Technology 
License 

Agreement 

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement TSMC 09/03/2003~

Technology 
License 

Agreement 

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement 

GLOBALFOUNDRIES 
Singapore 

01/01/2004~
Technology 

License 
Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Alpha Microelectronics 05/01/2004~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Vanguard 01/04/2005~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Ricoh 04/01/2005~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Powerchip 04/06/2005~

Technology 
License 

Agreement 

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Toshiba 10/31/2005~

Technology 
License 

Agreement 

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Silterra 04/07/2006~ 

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement MagnaChip 09/28/2007~ 

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Fujitsu Microelectronics 12/19/2007~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Dongbu HiTek 06/24/2008~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement UMC 05/23/2008~

Technology 
License 

Agreement 

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Mitsumi Electronic 04/01/2009~

Technology 
License 

Agreement 

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Mitsumi Electronic 07/07/2009~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement TI 02/01/2010~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 
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Contract Contracting Party Term of 
Agreement Major Contents Limitation 

License 
Agreement HLMC 08/10/2011~

Technology 
License 

Agreement 

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement GSMC 09/28/2011~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Mitsubishi Electric 03/29/2012~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement TSMC 06/01/2012~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Vanguard 01/01/2012~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement MagnaChip 10/12/2012~

Technology 
License 

Agreement 

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement NXP Semiconductors 11/01/2012~

Technology 
License 

Agreement 

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement UMC 03/01/2013~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement TSMC 03/04/2014~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement SK hynix 03/18/2014~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Powerchip 09/01/2014~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Vanguard 08/31/2015~

Technology 
License 

Agreement 

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement 

GLOBALFOUNDRIES 
U.S.A. 

09/07/2015~
Technology 

License 
Agreement 

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement CSMC 09/11/2015~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement SMIC 01/01/2016~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Maxchip 05/06/2016~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Dongbu HiTek 05/18/2016~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 
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Contract Contracting Party Term of 
Agreement Major Contents Limitation 

License 
Agreement Vanguard 07/01/2016~

Technology 
License 

Agreement 

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement 

Japan Semiconductor 
Corporation 

05/09/2017~
Technology 

License 
Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement SHARP 07/20/2017~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement 

GLOBALFOUNDRIES 
Singapore 

07/23/2017~
Technology 

License 
Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement HFC 10/10/2017~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement HeJian Technology 12/05/2017~

Technology 
License 

Agreement 

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement Winbond 02/21/2018~

Technology 
License 

Agreement 

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement HHGrace 04/25/2018~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement CanSemi 07/24/2019~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 

License 
Agreement CanSemi 10/21/2019~

Technology 
License 

Agreement

Comply with the obligations for 
confidential information and intellectual 
property rights 
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VI. Financial Information 
6.1  Five-Year Financial Summary 

6.1.1 Consolidated Financial Summary

A. Consolidated Balance Sheet 
Unit: NT$ thousands

                         Year 

 Item 

Financial Summary for The Last Five Years（Note1） 2020 (As of 
March 31)
（Note 1）2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Current Assets 1,439,253 1,583,609 1,766,977 1,483,605 1,416,756 1,694,080
Property, Plant and Equipment 491,612 503,249 505,337 491,533 477,171 473,370
Intangible Assets 42,885 54,796 62,430 67,162 73,805 72,583
Other Assets 61,723 57,018 66,326 61,877 65,595 29,740
Total Assets 2,035,473 2,198,672 2,401,070 2,104,177 2,033,327 2,269,773

Current 
Liabilities 

Before 
Distribution 200,260 254,608 316,139 349,772 305,153 364,071

After 
Distribution 654,953 747,193 884,506 943,562 (Note 2) N/A

Non-current Liabilities 18,431 19,938 19,772 20,864 26,160 25,390

Total Liabilities 

Before 
Distribution 218,691 274,546 335,911 370,636 331,313 389,461

After 
Distribution 673,384 767,131 904,278 964,426 (Note 2) N/A

Equity Attributable to Shareholders 
of the Parent 1,816,782 1,924,126 2,065,159 1,733,541 1,702,014 1,880,290

Capital Stock 768,323 757,823 757,823 757,908 758,336 758,336

Capital Surplus 

Before 
Distribution 455,370 448,025 427,496 416,537 404,446 405,547

After 
Distribution 429,604 392,325 397,865 379,425 (Note 2) N/A

Retained 
Earnings 

Before 
Distribution 661,838 718,278 879,840 1,025,266 1,009,056 1,185,814

After 
Distribution 232,911 281,393 341,104 468,588 (Note 2) N/A

Other Equity 0 0 0 (61,932) (65,586) (65,169)
Treasury Stock (68,749) 0 0 (404,238) (404,238) (404,238)
Non-controlling Interest 0 0 0 0 0 22

Total Equity 

Before 
Distribution 1,816,782 1,924,126 2,065,159 1,733,541 1,702,014 1,880,312

After 
Distribution 1,362,089 1,431,541 1,496,792 1,139,751 (Note 2) N/A

Note 1：The financial information for year 2015 to 2019 has been audited by the CPAs, and the financial 
information for the first quarter of 2020 has been reviewed by the CPAs. 

Note 2：2019 dividend distribution is pending for shareholders’ approval at the Shareholders’ Meeting. 
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B. Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Unit: NT$ thousands (Except EPS: NT$)

                 Year 

 Item 

Financial Summary for The Last Five Years（Note） 2020 (As of 
March 31)
（Note）2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Operating Revenue 1,091,620 1,215,459 1,375,758 1,476,516 1,410,085 415,436

Gross Profit 1,091,620 1,215,459 1,375,758 1,476,516 1,410,085 415,436

Income from Operations 521,217 529,809 602,818 672,735 621,323 193,973

Non-operating Income and 
Expenses 22,070 78,433 76,982 26,096 11,861 8,383

Income before Tax 543,287 608,242 679,800 698,831 633,184 202,356
Income from Continuing 
Operations 479,111 534,917 598,709 613,106 542,072 176,758

Loss of Discontinued 
Operations 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net Income (Loss) 479,111 534,917 598,709 613,106 542,072 176,758
Other Comprehensive 
Income  
(Income after Tax) 

(2,883) (2,345) (262) (590) (5,258) 417

Total Comprehensive 
Income 476,228 532,572 598,447 612,516 536,814 177,175

Net Income Attributable to 
Shareholders of the Parent 479,111 534,917 598,709 613,106 542,072 176,758

Net Income Attributable to 
Non-controlling Interest 0 0 0 0 0 0

Comprehensive Income 
Attributable to 
Shareholders of the Parent

476,228 532,572 598,447 612,516 536,814 177,175

Comprehensive Income 
Attributable to 
Non-controlling Interest 

0 0 0 0 0 0

Earnings Per Share 6.32 7.06 7.90 8.13 7.30 2.38

Note：The financial information for year 2015 to 2019 has been audited by the CPAs, and the financial 
information for the first quarter of 2020 has been reviewed by the CPAs. 
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6.1.2 Parent Company Financial Summary 

A. Parent Company Balance Sheet 
Unit: NT$ thousands  

                        Year 

 Item 

Financial Summary for The Last Five Years（Note1）

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Current Assets 1,414,244 1,487,245 1,766,977 1,483,605 1,388,394
Property, Plant and Equipment 491,612 503,249 505,337 491,533 475,318
Intangible Assets 42,885 54,796 62,430 67,162 73,584
Other Assets 86,231 148,542 66,326 61,877 93,234
Total Assets 2,034,972 2,193,832 2,401,070 2,104,177 2,030,530

Current Liabilities 

Before 
Distribution 199,759 249,768 316,139 349,772 302,356

After 
Distribution 654,452 742,353 884,506 943,562 (Note 2)

Non-current Liabilities 18,431 19,938 19,772 20,864 26,160

Total Liabilities 

Before 
Distribution 218,190 269,706 335,911 370,636 328,516

After 
Distribution 672,883 762,291 904,278 964,426 (Note 2)

Equity Attributable to Shareholders 
of the Parent 1,816,782 1,924,126 2,065,159 1,733,541 1,702,014

Capital Stock 768,323 757,823 757,823 757,908 758,336

Capital Surplus 

Before 
Distribution 455,370 448,025 427,496 416,537 404,446

After 
Distribution 429,604 392,325 397,865 379,425 (Note 2)

Retained Earnings 

Before 
Distribution 661,838 718,278 879,840 1,025,266 1,009,056

After 
Distribution 232,911 281,393 341,104 468,588 (Note 2)

Other Equity 0 0 0 (61,932) (65,586)
Treasury Stock (68,749) 0 0 (404,238) (404,238)
Non-controlling Interest 0 0 0 0 0

Total Equity 

Before 
Distribution 1,816,782 1,924,126 2,065,159 1,733,541 1,702,014

After 
Distribution 1,362,089 1,431,541 1,496,792 1,139,751 (Note 2)

Note 1：The financial information for year 2015 to 2019 has been audited by the CPAs. 
Note 2：2019 dividend distribution is pending for shareholders’ approval at the Shareholders’ Meeting. 
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B. Parent Company Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Unit: NT$ thousands (Except EPS: NT$)  

                  Year 

 Item 

Financial Summary for The Last Five Years（Note）

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Operating Revenue 1,091,620 1,215,459 1,375,758 1,476,516 1,409,329

Gross Profit 1,091,620 1,215,459 1,375,758 1,476,516 1,409,329

Income from Operations 523,578 532,564 604,254 672,735 643,842

Non-operating Income and 
Expenses 19,660 71,392 72,060 26,096 (10,658)

Income before Tax 543,238 603,956 676,314 698,831 633,184

Income from Continuing 
Operations 479,111 534,917 598,709 613,106 542,072

Loss of Discontinued 
Operations 0 0 0 0 0

Net Income (Loss) 479,111 534,917 598,709 613,106 542,072

Other Comprehensive 
Income  
(Income after Tax) 

(2,883) (2,345) (262) (590) (5,258)

Total Comprehensive 
Income 476,228 532,572 598,447 612,516 536,814

Net Income Attributable to 
Shareholders of the Parent 479,111 534,917 598,709 613,106 542,072

Net Income Attributable to 
Non-controlling Interest 0 0 0 0 0

Comprehensive Income 
Attributable to Shareholders 
of the Parent 

476,228 532,572 598,447 612,516 536,814

Comprehensive Income 
Attributable to 
Non-controlling Interest 

0 0 0 0 0

Earnings Per Share 6.32 7.06 7.90 8.13 7.30

Note：The financial information for year 2015 to 2019 has been audited by the CPAs. 

6.1.3 Auditors’ Opinions from 2015 to 2019 

Year Accounting Firm CPA Audit Opinion 
2015 Deloitte & Touche Yih-Shin Kao, Tung-Hui Yeh An Unqualified Opinion
2016 Deloitte & Touche Yih-Shin Kao, Tung-Hui Yeh An Unmodified Opinion(Note)
2017 Deloitte & Touche Yih-Shin Kao, Su-Li Fang An Unmodified Opinion(Note)
2018 Deloitte & Touche Yih-Shin Kao, Su-Li Fang An Unmodified Opinion(Note)
2019 Deloitte & Touche Yu-Feng Huang, Su-Li Fang An Unmodified Opinion(Note)

Note: Starting in 2016, the new auditing standard of the Republic of China requires “An Unqualified 
Opinion” be replaced by “An Unmodified Opinion”. 
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6.2  Five-Year Financial Analysis 
6.2.1 Consolidated Financial Analysis 

                             Year

Item 

Financial Analysis for the Last Five Years（Note 1） 2020 (As of 
March 31)
（Note 1）2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Financial 
Structure  

Debt Ratio (%) 10.74 12.49 13.99 17.61 16.29 17.16

Ratio of Debt to Equity (%) 12.04 14.27 16.27 21.38 19.47 20.71
Ratio of Long-term Capital to 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
(%) 

373.31 386.30 412.58 356.93 362.17 402.58

Solvency 

Current Ratio (%) 718.69 621.98 558.92 424.16 464.28 465.32

Quick Ratio (%) 710.36 615.89 552.33 417.51 455.73 450.13
Times Interest Earned  
(Times) （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） 3,538.34 5,952.65

Operating 
Performance 

Accounts Receivable Turnover 
(Times) 20.03 19.79 18.16 11.67 9.33 13.44

Average Collection Period  18 18 20 31 39 27

Inventory Turnover (Times) （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2）
Accounts Payable Turnover 
(Times) （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2）

Average Days in Sales （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2）
Property, Plant and Equipment 
Turnover (Times) 2.19 2.44 2.73 2.96 2.91 3.50

Total Assets Turnover (Times) 0.54 0.57 0.60 0.66 0.68 0.77

Profitability 

Return on Total Assets (%) 23.85 25.27 26.03 27.22 26.21 32.87
Return on Stockholders' 
Equity (%) 26.60 28.60 30.02 32.28 31.56 39.47
Pre-tax Income to Paid-in 
Capital (%) 70.71 80.26 89.70 92.21 83.50 106.74

Profit Ratio (%) 43.89 44.01 43.52 41.52 38.44 42.55

Earnings Per Share (NT$) 6.32 7.06 7.90 8.13 7.30 2.38

Cash Flow 

Cash Flow Ratio (%) 258.89 224.54 204.59 181.67 194.17 264.12
Cash Flow Adequacy Ratio 
(%) 107.97 119.25 123.58 114.25 106.15 145.92

Cash Reinvestment Ratio (%) 3.32 5.76 7.02 3.56 (0.07) 46.79

Leverage 
Operating Leverage  1.89 2.04 2.02 1.95 2.00 1.92
Financial Leverage  1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Analysis of financial ratio differences for the last two years. (Not required if the difference does not exceed 20%) 
1. The increase in times interest earned was mainly due to the increase in interest caused by lease liabilities in the 

year of 2019. 
2. The decrease in accounts receivable turnover and the increase in average collection period were mainly due to the 

increase in amount of average accounts receivable for the year 2019 compared with the previous period. 
3. The decrease in cash reinvestment ratio was mainly due to the increase in cash dividends issued and the net cash 

generated from operating activities in 2019.
Note 1：The financial information for year 2015 to 2019 has been audited by the CPAs, and the financial information  

for the first quarter of 2020 has been reviewed by the CPAs. 
Note 2：eMemory did not have interest expense or inventory for the year. Therefore, eMemory did not apply times 

interest earned, inventory turnover, accounts payable turnover and average days in sales. 
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6.2.2 Parent Company Financial Analysis 

                           Year

Item  

Financial Analysis for the Last Five Years（Note 1）

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Financial 
Structure 

Debt Ratio (%) 10.72 12.29 13.99 17.61 16.18

Ratio of Debt to Equity (%) 12.01 14.02 16.27 21.38 19.30
Ratio of Long-term Capital to 
Property, Plant and Equipment (%) 373.31 386.30 412.58 356.93 363.58

Solvency

Current Ratio (%) 707.98 595.45 558.92 424.16 459.19

Quick Ratio (%) 699.61 589.24 552.33 417.51 450.64

Times Interest Earned (Times) （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） 3,538.34

Operating 
Performance 

Accounts Receivable Turnover 
(Times) 20.03 19.79 18.16 11.67 9.30

Average Collection Period  18 18 20 31 39

Inventory Turnover (Times) （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2）

Accounts Payable Turnover (Times) （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2）

Average Days in Sales （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2） （Note 2）
Property, Plant and Equipment 
Turnover (Times) 2.19 2.44 2.73 2.96 2.92

Total Assets Turnover (Times) 0.54 0.57 0.60 0.66 0.68

Profitability 

Return on Total Assets (%) 23.85 25.30 26.06 27.22 26.23

Return on Stockholders' Equity (%) 26.60 28.60 30.02 32.28 31.56
Pre-tax Income to Paid-in Capital 
(%) 70.70 79.70 89.24 92.21 83.50

Profit Ratio (%) 43.89 44.01 43.52 41.52 38.46

Earnings Per Share (NT$) 6.32 7.06 7.90 8.13 7.30

Cash Flow 

Cash Flow Ratio (%) 260.53 229.80 206.42 181.67 202.23

Cash Flow Adequacy Ratio (%) 108.19 119.64 124.20 114.73 105.37

Cash Reinvestment Ratio (%) 3.43 5.87 7.29 3.56 0.94

Leverage 
Operating Leverage  1.88 2.03 2.02 1.95 1.94

Financial Leverage  1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Analysis of financial ratio differences for the last two years. (Not required if the difference does not exceed 20%) 
1. The increase in times interest earned was mainly due to the increase in interest caused by lease liabilities in the 

year of 2019. 
2. The decrease in accounts receivable turnover and the increase in average collection period were mainly due to the 

increase in amount of average accounts receivable for the year 2019 compared with the previous period. 
3. The decrease in cash reinvestment ratio was mainly due to the increase in cash dividends issued and the net cash 

generated from operating activities in 2019. 
Note 1：The financial information for year 2015 to 2019 has been audited by the CPAs. 
Note 2：eMemory did not have interest expense or inventory for the year. Therefore, eMemory did not apply times 

interest earned, inventory turnover, accounts payable turnover and average days in sales. 
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* Glossary 
1. Financial Structure 

(1) Debt Ratio = Total Liabilities / Total Assets 
(2) Ratio of Debt to Equity = Total Liabilities / (Total Equity- Non-controlling Interests) 
(3) Ratio of Long-term Capital to Property, Plant and Equipment = (Shareholders’ Equity + Non-current 

Liabilities) / Net Property, Plant and Equipment 
2. Solvency 

(1) Current Ratio = Current Assets / Current Liabilities 
(2) Quick Ratio = (Current Assets - Inventories - Prepaid Expenses) / Current Liabilities 
(3) Times Interest Earned = Earnings before Interest and Taxes / Interest Expenses 

3. Operating Performance 
(1) Accounts Receivable Turnover = Operating Revenue / Average Accounts Receivables 
(2) Average Collection Period = 365 / Accounts Receivable Turnover 
(3) Inventory Turnover = Cost of Sales / Average Inventory 
(4) Accounts Payable Turnover = Cost of Sales / Average Accounts Payables 
(5) Average Days in Sales = 365 / Inventory Turnover 
(6) Property, Plant and Equipment Turnover = Operating Revenue / Average Net Property, Plant and 

Equipment 
(7) Total Assets Turnover = Operating Revenue / Average Total Assets 

4. Profitability 
(1) Return on Total Assets = (Net Income + Interest Expenses * (1 - Effective Tax Rate)) / Average Total 

Assets 
(2) Return on Stockholders' Equity = Net Income Attributable to Shareholders of the Parent / Average 

Equity Attributable to Shareholders of the Parent 
(3) Pre-tax Income to Paid-in Capital Ratio = Income before Tax / Paid-in Capital 
(4) Profit Ratio = Net Income / Operating Revenue 
(5) Earnings Per Share = (Net Income Attributable to Shareholders of the Parent - Preferred Stock 

Dividend) / Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding 
5. Cash Flow 

(1) Cash Flow Ratio = Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities / Current Liabilities 
(2) Cash Flow Adequacy Ratio = Five-year Sum of Cash from Operations / Five-year Sum of Capital 

Expenditures, Inventory Additions, and Cash Dividend 
(3) Cash Reinvestment Ratio = (Cash Provided by Operating Activities - Cash Dividends) / (Gross 

Property, Plant and Equipment + Long-term Investments + Other Non-current Assets + Working 
Capital) 

6. Leverage 
(1) Operating Leverage = (Operating Revenue - Variable Cost) / Income from Operations 
(2) Financial Leverage = Income from Operations / (Income from Operations - Interest Expenses)
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6.3  Audit Committee’s Review Report 

Audit Committee's Review Report 

The Board of Directors has prepared the Company’s 2019 business report, financial statements, 

and proposal for allocation of profits. The CPA firm of Deloitte & Touche was retained to audit 

eMemory’s financial statements and has issued an audit report relating to the financial statements. 

The business report, financial statements, and profit allocation proposal have been reviewed by the 

Audit Committee and no irregularities were found. We hereby report as above according to Article 

14-4 of the Securities and Exchange Act and Article 219 of the Company Act. 

To eMemory Technology Inc. 2020 General Shareholders’ Meeting 

eMemory Technology Inc. 

Chairman of the Audit Committee: Ming-To Yu 

February 19, 2020
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6.4  Consolidated Financial Statements for the Years Ended December 31 2019 and 2018, and 
Independent Auditors’ Report：Please refer to page 122~180 of this Annual Report. 

6.5  Parent Company Only Financial Statements for the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 
2018 and Independent Auditors’ Report：Please refer to page 181~237 of this Annual 
Report. 

6.6  Disclosure of the Impact on Company’s Financial Status Due to Financial Difficulties：
None. 

6.7  Certification Details of Employees who are Related to the Release of the Company’s 
Financial Information Transparency 

Title Name Issuing Institution Certification 

Accounting 
and Financial 

Officer 
Teresa Kuo 

The Institute of Internal 
Auditors, ROC (Taiwan) Qualified Internal Auditor (QIA)

The Institute of Internal 
Auditors, ROC (Taiwan) Certified Internal Auditor (CIA)

Internal 
Auditing 
Officer 

Grace Mai 

The Institute of Internal 
Auditors, ROC (Taiwan) Certified Internal Auditor (CIA)

Securities & Futures 
Institute 

Basic Competence Exams for 
Enterprise Internal Control 

Ministry of Economic 
Affairs 

Intangible Asset Certified 
Valuation Analyst – Entry Level 
Certification

Securities & Futures 
Institute 

Professional Proficiency Exams 
for Stock Affair Specialist 
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VII. Financial Status, Financial Performance, and Risk Management 
7.1  Financial Status 

Unit: NT$ thousands 
Year 

Item 2019 2018 
Difference 

Amount  % 
Current Assets 1,416,756 1,483,605 (66,849) (4.51) 
Property, Plant and 
Equipment 477,171 491,533 (14,362) (2.92) 

Intangible Assets 73,805 67,162 6,643 9.89 
Other Assets 65,595 61,877 3,718 6.01 
Total Assets 2,033,327 2,104,177 (70,850) (3.37) 
Current Liabilities 305,153 349,772 (44,619) (12.76) 
Non-current Liabilities 26,160 20,864 5,296 25.38 
Total Liabilities 331,313 370,636 (39,323) (10.61) 
Equity Attributable to 
Shareholders of the Parent 1,702,014 1,733,541 (31,527) (1.82) 

Capital Stock 758,336 757,908 428 0.06 
Capital Surplus 404,446 416,537 (12,091) (2.90) 
Retained Earnings 1,009,056 1,025,266 (16,210) (1.58) 
Other Equity (65,586) (61,932) (3,654) 5.90 
Treasury Stock (404,238) (404,238) 0 0.00 
Non-controlling Interest 0 0 0 0.00 
Total Equity 1,702,014 1,733,541 (31,527) (1.82) 
Analysis of Deviation over 20%：None. 
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7.2  Financial Performance 

Unit: NT$ thousands (Except EPS: NT$)  
Year

Item 2019 2018 Difference % 

Operating Revenue 1,410,085 1,476,516 (66,431) (4.50) 
Gross Profit 1,410,085 1,476,516 (66,431) (4.50) 
Income from Operations 621,323 672,735 (51,412) (7.64) 
Non-operating Income and Expenses 11,861 26,096 (14,235) (54.55) 
Income before Tax 633,184 698,831 (65,647) (9.39) 
Income from Continuing Operations 542,072 613,106 (71,034) (11.59) 
Loss of Discontinued Operations 0 0 0  0.00 
Net Income (Loss) 542,072 613,106 (71,034) (11.59) 
Other Comprehensive Income  
(Income after Tax) (5,258) (590) (4,668) 791.19  

Total Comprehensive Income 536,814 612,516 (75,702) (12.36) 
Net Income Attributable to 
Shareholders of the Parent  542,072 613,106 (71,034) (11.59) 

Net Income Attributable to 
Non-controlling Interest 0 0 0  0.00 

Comprehensive Income Attributable to 
Shareholders of the Parent 536,814 612,516 (75,702) (12.36) 

Comprehensive Income Attributable to 
Non-controlling Interest 0 0 0  0.00 

Earnings Per Share 7.30 8.13 (0.83) (10.21) 
Analysis of Deviation over 20%：
1. The decrease in non-operating income and expenses was mainly due to the loss in exchange rate 

caused by the appreciation of NT$ in 2019. 
2. The increase in other comprehensive loss (net after tax) in the current period was mainly due to the 

recognition of unrealized loss on investments in equity instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income in 2019. 

7.3  Cash Flow 

7.3.1 Cash Flow Analysis for 2019 
Unit: NT$ thousands 

Cash and 

Cash 

Equivalents, 

Beginning of 

Year (1) 

Net Cash 

Generated 

from 

Operating 

Activities (2) 

Net Cash Used 

in Investing 

Activities and 

Financing 

Activities (3)

Effects of Exchange 

Rate Changes on 

the Balance of Cash 

Held in Foreign 

Currencies (4) 

Cash Surplus 

(Deficit) 

(1)+(2)-(3)+(4) 

Leverage of Cash Deficit

Investment 
Plans 

Financing 
Plans 

$1,302,003 $ 592,530 $628,381 ($2,294) $1,263,858 0 0 

A. Analysis of Cash Flow  

(1) Operating Activities：Net cash generated from operating activities was mainly from net 
income. 

(2) Investing Activities：Net cash used in investing activities was primarily for capital 
expenditures. 
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(3) Financing Activities：Net cash used in financing activities was mainly for payment of cash 
dividends. 

B. Remedial Actions for Liquidity Shortfall：Not applicable. 

 7.3.2 Cash Flow Projection for 2020 

Unit: NT$ thousands

Cash and 
Cash 

Equivalents, 
Beginning of 

Year (1) 

Net Cash 
Generated 

from 
Operating 

Activities (2) 

Net Cash Used 

in Investing 

Activities and 

Financing 

Activities (3)

Effects of Exchange 

Rate Changes on 

the Balance of Cash 

Held in Foreign 

Currencies (4) 

Cash Surplus 
(Deficit) 

(1)+(2)-(3)+(4) 

Leverage of Cash Deficit

Investment 
Plans 

Investment 
Plans 

$1,263,858 $687,646 $686,750 $0 $ 1,264,754 0 0 

A. Analysis of Cash Flow 

(1) Operating Activities：Net cash generated from operating activities was mainly from net 
income. 

(2) Investing Activities：Net cash used in investing activities was primarily for capital 
expenditures. 

(3) Financing Activities：Net cash used in financing activities was mainly for payment of cash 
dividends. 

B. Remedial Actions for Liquidity Shortfall：Not applicable. 

7.4  Major Capital Expenditure Items 

7.4.1 Major Capital Expenditure Items and Source of Capital：None. 

7.4.2 Expected Benefits：Not applicable. 

7.5  Investment Policy in the Last Year, Main Causes for Profits or Losses, Improvement Plans 
and Investment Plans for the Coming Year 

The objectives of the Company’s investment policy are for stable gains and the cultivation 
of business relation with the investees. In 2019, the investment accounted for under the 
equity method caused loss amounted to NT$4,336 thousands, which is mainly due to the 
fact that the invested company has not yet reached the economic scale. In the future, the 
Company will seek long-term strategic investment and continue taking caution in the 
evaluation and management of all investment planning. 

7.6  Analysis of Risk Management 

7.6.1 Effects of Changes in Interest Rates, Foreign Exchange Rates and Inflation on Corporate 
Finance, and Future Response Measures 

A. Interest rate: The Company has sufficient working capital and expects no needs for 
borrowing in either local or foreign currencies. As such, there is no risk deriving from 
the rise of interest rate and interest expense for the time being. 

B. Foreign exchange volatility: The majority of the sales of the Company are denominated 
in USD and JPY and some of the purchases were denominated in USD. Any changes in 
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the exchange rate will affect the accounts receivable and payable denominated in 
foreign currencies and the profit position of the Company. For hedging off risks 
deriving from exchange rate fluctuation, the Company has appointed designated 
personnel to keep track of the changes in exchange rate, as well as keeping close liaison 
with associated banks to gather exchange rate forecast to understand banks’ exchange 
rate trend and information, and reduce the adverse impact of exchange rate changes on 
the Company's profit and loss. 

C. Inflation: Inflation has never caused any significant impact on the Company’s income. 
The Company’s management is highly sensitive to the market trend. If there is an 
anticipation of inflation that increase the purchase cost, the Company will seek to 
reorient its business policy, including the adjustment of the price of sales. As such to 
keep inflation risk is kept under control. 

7.6.2 Policies, Main Causes of Gain or Loss and Future Response Measures with Respect to 
High-risk, High-leveraged Investments, Lending or Endorsement Guarantees, and 
Derivatives Transactions 

In 2019 and 2020 to April 12, the Company did not engage in any high-risk, 
high-leveraged investments, lending or endorsement guarantees, and derivative 
transactions.
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7.6.4 Effects of and Response to Changes in Policies and Regulations Relating to Corporate 
Finance and Sales 

The Company runs its routine operation in compliance with applicable domestic and 
foreign laws, and monitors closely all domestic and foreign governmental policy and 
regulation changes that might impact the operation and financial operations. In 2019 and 
2020 to April 12, there was no influence on the financial and operation performance of the 
Company due to changes of domestic and foreign governmental policy and regulation. 

7.6.5 Effects of and Response to Changes in Technology and the Industry Relating to Corporate 
Finance and Sales  

In order to improve information security management, the Information Security Committee 
was established in April 2013 by the Company, as well as the information security policies 
and related operation rules according to the essence and requirements of ISO27001 
(Information Security Management System). 
Moreover, under the governance of Information Security Committee, the Information 
Security Execution Team is responsible for planning and execution of information security 
operation, and the Information Security Event Response Center is established for 
responding and giving directions to the material information security event. 
The Information Security Committee periodically convenes quarter meetings for 
examining the affairs related to the information security management of the Company and 
reviewing the execution of information security policy. The Information Security 
Execution Team is required for periodically reporting information security quality in 
Management Review Meeting hosted by the President. 
The Audit Office annually assesses the execution of information security management, and 
report to the Board of Directors to ensure the works of information security are actually 
executed. 
The Company highly values the research and development ability enhancement. By 
establishing the procedures related to management of research and development and 
patents, the implementation and execution quality of intellectual property management can 
be ensured. In order to increase the morale in research and development and encourage 
research and development staff to proactively propose patent proposals, the “Operation 
Instructions on Rewarding Patent Application and Externally Contributing writings for 
Publication” have been formulated. Through the strong bonding of strategic alliances with 
world-class foundries, the Company can keep abreast of the latest changes in the industry 
and access to market information ahead of the industry peers, for keeping the financial 
stability and flexibility. As such, the effect of technological change and industry change 
bring is positive effects to the Company. 

7.6.6 The Impact of Changes in Corporate Image on Corporate Risk Management, and the 
Company’s Response Measures 

Professionalism and integrity are the fundamental principles of the Company. The 
Company highly values its corporate images and risk management. There is no foreseeable 
crisis currently. In the future, the Company will seek to optimize the shareholders’ interest 
while realizing corporate social responsibility. 
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7.6.7 Expected Benefits from, Risks Relating to and Response to Merger and Acquisition Plans 

None. 

7.6.8 Expected Benefits from, Risks Relating to and Response to Factory Expansion Plans 

None. 

7.6.9 Risks Relating to and Response to Excessive Concentration of Purchasing Sources and 
Excessive Customer Concentration 

Under the adjustment of business strategy from the second half of 2011 onward, the 
Company decided to focus on IP business and planned to gradually reduce the proportion 
of income from wafer business, and made no purchase of wafer since 2013 to the date this 
report was printed. The key customers of the Company are famous domestic and foreign 
foundries with stable streams of purchasing orders and consistent revenue contributions to 
the Company. The business relation between these foundries and the Company is positive 
and there is no risk deriving from overconcentration of selling. 

7.6.10 Effects of, Risks Relating to and Response to Large Share Transfers or Changes in 
Shareholdings by Directors, Supervisors, or Shareholders with Shareholdings of over 
10% 

None. 

7.6.11 Effects of, Risks Relating to and Response to the Changes in Management Rights 

None. 

7.6.12 Litigation or Non-litigation Matters 

A. Major ongoing lawsuits, non-lawsuits or administrative lawsuit: None. 
B. Major ongoing lawsuits, non-lawsuits or administrative lawsuits caused by directors, 

supervisors or shareholders with over 10% shareholdings: None. 

7.6.13 Other Major Risks 

A. Risk Management Policy 

The Company’s management pays utmost attention to risk management. The 
frequency of internal audit is arranged in line with the level of risk. The Chief 
Auditor also assists the Company to bolster all internal control for reducing risk to 
the minimum level and enhance shareholders’ interest.  

B. To ensure the thorough implementation of sustainable strategy, the Company has its 
President convene Management Examination Meeting every six months to review the 
issues related to environment, society and corporate governance which are concerned 
by stakeholders; in consideration of the materiality principle, the company establishes 
risk assessment which is relevant to the business operation, and proposes related 
policies and measures. Please refer to page 118~119 of this Annual Report. 

C. The Organization Structure for Risk Management 

Name of Organization Scope of Authority and Responsibility 

Board of Directors 
Map out the risk management policy, structure, and the culture; ensure 
the effectiveness of risk management mechanism and allocate 
resources.  
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Name of Organization Scope of Authority and Responsibility 

Audit Committee 

Review the policy, structure and culture of risk management and 
propose suggestions to the Board of Directors; furthermore supervise 
on the effectiveness of the risk management mechanism and propose 
suggestions to the Board of Directors.  

Senior Management 
(President, Vice 
Presidents) 

Execution of the risk management decision of the Board, coordination 
of cross-function risk management interaction and communication, 
design and decision-making of business operation, assessment 
mid-term to long-term investment and return to reduce risks. 

Audit Office 

Conduct regular and irregular audits in accordance with the internal 
control and audit plan to ensure enforcement of risk control. Prepare 
audit reports based on the findings as reference for the Audit 
Committee, Board of Directors and the management for adjusting 
management policy and decision-making. 

Management Review 
Meeting 

Periodically perform comprehensive review on the quality/information 
security of the Company, the content to be reviewed shall include the 
feedback of stakeholder, to ensure its constant normal operation. 

Information Security 
Committee 

Being responsible for the planning, supervision and integration, 
communication of information security related affairs. 

Environmental Safety 
Functional Units 

Risk Control of labor safety and provide related education, 
establishment and maintenance of environmental protection, labor 
safety, and health system. 

The Manager of Each 
Functional 
Department 

Execution of risk control in routine operation and self-assessment of 
risk control. 

Administration Center  

Management and maintenance of IT system, allocation of human 
resources, media and public relations, liaison with external parties, 
design and arrangement of administrative and general affairs, review 
and institution of legitimacy of intellectual property rights. 

Finance Department  

Bookkeeping and compilation of management statements as reference 
for the management in making and revising decisions, funds 
management, share registration and transfer, execution, preparation and 
analysis of the return of short to long-term investment.  

D. Risk Management Organization: 

Major Risk 
Assessment 

Risk Management 
Authority 
(1st Tier) 

Risk Review and Control 
(2nd Tier) 

The Board, Audit 
Committee and  

Audit Office 
(3rd Tier ) 

1. Interest rate, 
exchange rate, 
and financial risk 

Finance Department President 

1. The Board: 
Decision of risk 
assessment and 
control. 

2.Audit Committee: 
Review the risk 
assessment and 
propose 
suggestions to 
the Board. 

2. High-risk,  
high-leveraged 
investments, 
lending or 
endorsement 
guarantees, 
derivative 
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Major Risk 
Assessment 

Risk Management 
Authority 
(1st Tier) 

Risk Review and Control 
(2nd Tier) 

The Board, Audit 
Committee and  

Audit Office 
(3rd Tier ) 

transactions, and 
financial 
investments 

3. Audit Office: 
Risk inspection, 
assessment, 
monitoring, and 
tracking of 
corrective 
actions and 
report. 

3. R&D plan 

R&D Units, Sales & 
Marketing Units, 
Information 
Security Execution 
Team, Information 
Security Event 
Response Center 

1. Project Management 
(members: project 
manager, Sales & 
Marketing Units, R&D 
Units, Quality 
Management & Process 
Integration Department) 

2. Senior Management 
Meeting (members: 
President, VP of 
Administration Center, 
VP of Sales & Marketing 
Center, VP of R&D, 
Accounting and Financial 
Officer) 

3. Information Security 
Committee (members: 
Information Technology 
Department, Engineering 
Center, Audit Office) 

4. Changes in 
Technology and 
industry 

5. Changes in 
policies and 
Regulations President, Legal 

Affairs Department 

1. Senior Management 
Meeting (members: 
President, VP of 
Administration Center, 
VP of Sales & Marketing 
Center, VP of R&D, 
Accounting and Financial 
Officer) 

2. Management Review 
Meeting (members: 
President, managers of 
each functional 
departments, Quality 
Management & Process 
Integration Department) 

6. Litigation or 
non-litigation 
matters 

7. Corporate image / 
Corporate Social 
Responsibility 

President Office 
Relevant functional 
departments 

8. Transfer of shares 
by Directors and 
major 
shareholders 

Stock Affairs Unit Chairman, President  

9. Changes in 
management 
rights 

Chairman, President 
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Major Risk 
Assessment 

Risk Management 
Authority 
(1st Tier) 

Risk Review and Control 
(2nd Tier) 

The Board, Audit 
Committee and  

Audit Office 
(3rd Tier ) 

10. Others 
operational 
matters 

Relevant functional 
departments  Chairman, President 

E. With respect to the materiality principle of social responsibility, the Company made 
related risk assessments for material topics, and established related risk management 
strategy and measures as followings: 

Material 
Topic 

Risk Assessment 
Project 

Risk Management Strategy and Measures 

Environment 

Environmental 
Protection and 

Ecological 
Conservation 

The Company is a professional silicon IP company, and not 
engaged in production and manufacturing (intangible 
product); thus, there is no industrial waste being produced. 
For general waste, the Company had contracted with cleaning 
service company to perform the daily cleaning and recycle 
the resource waste, which practically implements the 
protection of environment and resource reusing. In addition, 
the Company is devoted to environmental protection policies 
of energy conservation and carbon reduction and water 
resource protection; thus, timers are configured on the air 
conditioners, and water savers are installed on faucets. 
Switching off when leaving, paperless operation, water 
saving are publicized to the employees. The inventory of 
greenhouse gas and water consumption is performed 
annually; the goal is to decrease the emission of carbon 
dioxide and consumption of water year by year. 

Climate Change 

The Company has evaluated that climate change may cause 
disaster hazard, market risk, operation risk etc., and to 
minimize the impact of increased operation costs caused by 
the relevant potential risks, the Company alters the green 
environmental protection from duties to opportunities by the 
innovation of core technologies, implementing component 
reduced product design which substitutes the complex 
manufacturing process required by the conventional 
non-volatile memory, and reduces the emission of carbon 
dioxide; depending on the innovation in several aspects of 
strategy, market, management, research and development, 
and accompanying with power of implementation, the 
Company keeps change for sustainability. 
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Material 
Topic 

Risk Assessment 
Project 

Risk Management Strategy and Measures 

Society 

Workplace Safety 

The Company is dedicated in the topics of securing labor 
health and working environment by periodically 
implementing safety and health education and holding “Fire 
Safety Seminar” propaganda courses pursuant to the 
occupational safety and health relevant laws and regulations. 
And by providing specific parking spaces or transportation 
allowances, nursery room, full time security system, 
multifunction rest area etc. the employees can enjoy a 
comfortable and healthy environment. We believe that the 
most fortune of the Company shall be the healthy employees, 
we provide full exercise allowances for fitness and hold 
health examination periodically, and the nursing personnel 
on-site services are available in the Company to manage the 
health of employees and provide health consulting services. 

Product Safety 

The marketing of goods and services of the Company 
conforms to the requirements of relevant regulations and 
international standards. Besides, the Company insists on the 
spirit of “Quality First, Service Best, Customer Satisfied” and 
focuses on product quality to reach the main goal of 
increasing the customer’s satisfaction, provides customers 
with safe, reliable and high quality products, and maintain 
good communication channel with customers by providing 
transparent and effective complaint handling procedures for 
products and services. In addition, the customer satisfaction 
survey is conducted every year, the Company deserves 
recognition from customers for years, the average score of 
2019 is 95.22. 

Corporate 
Governance 

Social Economic 
and Compliance 

By means of establishing corporate governance organization 
and implementing internal control system, all the personnel 
and operations of the Company can be ensured to comply 
with relevant laws and regulations. 

7.7  Other Materiality: None. 

-119-



VIII. Special Disclosure 

8.1  Summary of Affiliated Companies 

8.1.1 Consolidation Business Report of Affiliates 

A. The Company’s Affiliated Companies Chart 

B. Basic Information of Affiliated Companies：
12/31/2019；Unit: NT$ thousands 

Company Name 
Date of 

Establishment 
Address Capital Main Businesses and Products

PUFsecurity 
Corporation 

May 8, 2019 

8F.-1, No. 5, Tai-Yuan 
1st Street., Jhubei City, 
Hsinchu County, 
Taiwan 

50,000

Product designing, software 
services, data processing 
services, intellectual property, 
etc. 

C. In accordance with the Article 369-3 of the Company Act, Disclose if There is a Presumption 
of Controlling and Subordinate Relationship：None. 

D. Shareholders in Common of the Company and Its Affiliated Companies with Deemed 
Control and Subordination：None.  

E. Business Scope of the Company and Its Affiliated Companies：Please refer to the above of 
Basic Information of Affiliated Companies. 

F. List of Directors, Supervisors and Presidents of the Company’s Affiliated Companies：
04/12/2020 

Company Name Title Name or Representative 
Holding Shares 

Shares % 
PUFsecurity 
Corporation 

Chairman 
eMemory Technology Inc. 

Representative：Charles Hsu 
50,000,000 100% 

G. Operation Highlights of the Company’s Affiliated Companies：
12/31/2019；Unit: NT$ thousands (Except EPS: NT) 

Company 
Name 

Capital Assets Liabilities Equity Revenue
Operating 
Income 

Net Income 
(Loss) 

EPS 

PUFsecurity 
Corporation 

50,000 31,269 3,596 27,673 756 (22,519) (22,384) (0.45) 

eMemory Technology Inc. 

PUFsecurity Corporation 

Shareholding: 100% 
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8.1.2 Consolidated Business Report and Consolidation of Financial Statements of Affiliates：
Please refer to page 122~180 of this Annual Report. 

8.1.3 Information Regarding Financing, Endorsements, Guarantees, and Trading in Derivative 
Products of Affiliates：None. 

8.2  Private Placement Securities：None. 

8.3  Shares in the Company Held or Disposed of by Subsidiaries：None. 

8.4  Supplementary Notes：None. 

8.5  Any Events Had Significant Impacts on Shareholders’ Right or Security Prices as Stated in 
Item 2 Paragraph 3 of Article 36 of Securities and Exchange Act：None. 
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DECLARATION OF CONSOLIDATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF AFFILIATES 

The companies required to be included in the consolidated financial statements of affiliates in accordance with 

the “Criteria Governing Preparation of Affiliation Reports, Consolidated Business Reports and Consolidated 

Financial Statements of Affiliated Enterprises” for the year ended December 31, 2019 are all the same as the 

companies required to be included in the consolidated financial statements of a parent and its subsidiaries under 

International Financial Reporting Standard 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements.” Relevant information that 

should be disclosed in the consolidated financial statements of affiliates has all been disclosed in the 

consolidated financial statements of a parent and its subsidiaries. Hence, we have not prepared a separate set of 

consolidated financial statements of affiliates. 

Very truly yours, 

eMemory Technology Inc. 

By: 

Charles Hsu 
Chairman 

February 19, 2020 

Appendix 1：Consolidated Financial Statements 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
eMemory Technology Inc. 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of eMemory Technology Inc. and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and 
cash flows for the years then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with the Regulations 
Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), International Accounting Standards (IAS), IFRIC Interpretations (IFRIC), and SIC 
Interpretations (SIC) endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic 
of China. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and Attestation of Financial 
Statements by Certified Public Accountants and auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with The Norm of Professional Ethics for Certified Public Accountant of the Republic of China, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matter for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 is 
stated as follows: 

1. The major revenue source of the Group is royalty revenue, refer to Note 20 for related information. To 
elaborate, when IC design houses’ products with the silicon intellectual property of the Group are expected 
to be mass produced and shipped from the wafer foundries, the wafer foundries will pay a certain percentage 
of royalty fee based on the wafer price. 
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2. The Group recognizes royalty revenue based on the contracts and the time when the royalty reports are 
signed back. The related risks may exist if the royalty revenue from wafer foundries is not recognized at the 
appropriate time. 

3. To verify the accuracy and recognition timing of the royalty revenue, we established the revenue recognition 
policy of the Group, assessed the reasonableness of the revenue recognition timing, performed relevant 
control tests and analytical procedures, as well as traced a certain number of royalty revenue transactions 
before and after the end of reporting period with relevant supporting documents and accounting records. 

Other Matter

We have also audited the parent company only financial statements of eMemory Technology Inc. as of and for 
the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 on which we have issued an unmodified opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers, and IFRS, 
IAS, IFRIC and SIC endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission of the Republic 
of China, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance, including the audit committee, are responsible for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control. 

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 
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4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

6. Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partners on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Yu-Feng Huang and 
Su-Li Fang. 

Deloitte & Touche 
Taipei, Taiwan 
Republic of China 

February 19, 2020 
Notice to Readers 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are intended only to present the consolidated financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles and practices 
generally accepted in the Republic of China and not those of any other jurisdictions. The standards, procedures 
and practices to audit such consolidated financial statements are those generally applied in the Republic of 
China.  

For the convenience of readers, the independent auditors’ report and the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements have been translated into English from the original Chinese version prepared and used in the 
Republic of China. If there is any conflict between the English version and the original Chinese version or any 
difference in the interpretation of the two versions, the Chinese-language independent auditors’ report and 
consolidated financial statements shall prevail. 
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EMEMORY TECHNOLOGY INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Earnings Per Share) 

2019 2018 
Amount % Amount % 

OPERATING REVENUE (Notes 4, 20 and 27)   $ 1,410,085    100   $ 1,476,516    100 

OPERATING COSTS    -    -    -    - 

GROSS PROFIT    1,410,085    100    1,476,516    100 

OPERATING EXPENSES (Notes 4, 13, 21 and 27) 
Selling and marketing expenses    122,545    9    120,678    8 
General and administrative expenses    162,986    11    169,610    11 
Research and development expenses    506,215    36    505,475    34 
Expected credit (gain) loss (Notes 4 and 9)    (2,984)    -    8,018    1 

Total operating expenses    788,762    56    803,781    54 

OPERATING INCOME    621,323    44    672,735    46 

NON-OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES 
Other income (Notes 4, 13, 21 and 27)    19,760    1    25,024    2 
Other gains and losses (Notes 4, 21, 24 and 27)    (3,384)    -    5,428    - 
Financial costs (Note 21)    (179)    -    -    - 
Share of loss of associates (Notes 4 and 11)    (4,336)    -    (4,356)    - 

Total non-operating income and expenses    11,861    1    26,096    2 

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX    633,184    45    698,831    48 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Notes 4 and 22)    91,112    7    85,725    6 

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR    542,072    38    613,106    42 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss: 
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans (Notes 4 

and 17)    (1,604)    -    (1,650)    - 
Unrealized (loss) gain on investments in equity 

instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Notes 4 and 18)    (3,650)    -    1,060    - 

(Continued) 
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EMEMORY TECHNOLOGY INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Earnings Per Share) 

2019 2018 
Amount % Amount % 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit 
or loss: 
Share of the other comprehensive income of 

associates accounted for using the equity 
method (Notes 4 and 18)   $ (4)    -   $ -    - 

Other comprehensive loss for the year    (5,258)    -    (590)    - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 
YEAR   $ 536,814    38   $ 612,516    42 

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 
Owners of the Company   $ 542,072    38   $ 613,106    42 
Non-controlling interests    -    -    -    - 

  $ 542,072    38   $ 613,106    42 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 
Owners of the Company   $ 536,814    38   $ 612,516    42 
Non-controlling interests    -    -    -    - 

  $ 536,814    38   $ 612,516    42 

EARNINGS PER SHARE (Note 23) 
Basic   $ 7.30   $ 8.13 
Diluted   $ 7.26   $ 8.07 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. (Concluded) 
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EMEMORY TECHNOLOGY INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

2019 2018 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Profit before income tax   $ 633,184   $ 698,831 
Adjustments for: 

Depreciation expenses    40,678    37,402 
Amortization expenses    14,495    13,202 
Expected credit (gain) loss    (2,984)    8,018 
Finance costs    179    - 
Interest income    (9,631)    (10,663) 
Dividend income    (291)    (943) 
Share-based payment    7,791    15,869 
Share of loss of associates    4,336    4,356 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment    -    278 
Intangible asset reclassified as operating expenses    10    - 
Gain on disposal of investments    (95)    (79) 
Net loss (gain) on foreign currency exchange    4,321    (1,015) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities 
Accounts receivable    32,484    (83,763) 
Other receivables    (1,691)    - 
Other receivables - related parties    (159)    326 
Prepayments    426    (1,895) 
Other current assets    (1,373)    (879) 
Contract liabilities    (4,985)    4,351 
Other payables    (13,204)    13,176 
Other current liabilities    115    165 
Net defined benefit liabilities    (554)    (558) 
Bonuses payable to employees and directors    (12,972)    4,467 

Cash generated from operations    690,080    700,646 
Interest received    9,618    10,676 
Income tax paid    (107,168)    (75,900) 

Net cash generated from operating activities    592,530    635,422 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Acquisition of financial assets at amortized cost    (1)    (1) 
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    (592,000)    (600,000) 
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss    592,095    600,079 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment    (24,601)    (11,335) 
Increase in refundable deposits    (18)    (16) 
Acquisition of intangible assets    (21,148)    (17,934) 
Dividend received    291    943 

Net cash used in investing activities    (45,382)    (28,264) 

(Continued) 
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EMEMORY TECHNOLOGY INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

2019 2018 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Repayment of the principal portion of lease liabilities   $ (3,022)   $ - 
Dividends paid    (593,780)    (568,353) 
Exercise of employee share options    13,982    2,879 
Payments for buy-back of ordinary shares    -    (404,238) 
Interest paid    (179)    - 

Net cash used in financing activities    (582,999)    (969,712) 

EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON THE BALANCE 
OF CASH HELD IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES    (2,294)    873 

NET DECREASE IN CASH    (38,145)    (361,681) 

CASH AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR    1,302,003    1,663,684 

CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR   $ 1,263,858   $ 1,302,003 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. (Concluded) 
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EMEMORY TECHNOLOGY INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Stated Otherwise) 

 1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

eMemory Technology Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in Hsinchu City, Republic of China, and 
commenced business in September 2000. The Company’s main business activities include researching, 
developing, manufacturing and selling embedded flash memory products, etc. 

The Company’s shares have been listed on the TPEx since January 2011. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in the Company’s functional currency, the New Taiwan 
dollar. 

 2. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorized for issue on 
February 19, 2020. 

 3. APPLICATION OF NEW, AMENDED AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

a. Initial application of the amendments to the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports 
by Securities Issuers and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International 
Accounting Standards (IAS), IFRIC Interpretations (IFRIC), and Interpretations of IAS (SIC) 
(collectively, the “IFRSs”) endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission 
(FSC)

Except for the following, whenever applied, the initial application of the amendments to the 
Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and the IFRSs 
endorsed and issued into effect by the FSC would not have any material impact on the accounting 
policies of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (collectively, the “Group”): 

1) IFRS 16 “Leases” 

IFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their 
treatment in the financial statements of both lessee and lessor. It supersedes IAS 17 “Leases”, 
IFRIC 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”, and a number of related 
interpretations. Refer to Note 4 for information relating to the relevant accounting policies. 

Definition of a lease 

The Group elects to apply the guidance of IFRS 16 in determining whether contracts are, or contain, 
a lease only to contracts entered into (or changed) on or after January 1, 2019. Contracts identified 
as containing a lease under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 are not reassessed and are accounted for in 
accordance with the transitional provisions under IFRS 16. 

The Group as lessee 

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases on the consolidated 
balance sheets except for those whose payments under low-value asset and short-term leases are 
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recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis. On the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income, the Group presents the depreciation expense charged on right-of-use assets separately from 
the interest expense accrued on lease liabilities; interest is computed using the effective interest 
method. On the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash payments for the principal portion of 
lease liabilities are classified within financing activities; cash payments for the interest portion are 
classified within financing activities. Prior to the application of IFRS 16, payments under operating 
lease contracts were recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis. Cash flows for operating leases 
were classified within operating activities on the consolidated statements of cash flows. 

Lease liabilities were recognized on January 1, 2019 for leases previously classified as operating 
leases under IAS 17. Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease 
payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate on January 1, 2019. 
Right-of-use assets are measured at an amount that is equal to the lease liabilities. The Group 
applies IAS 36 to all right-of-use assets. 

The Group also applies the following practical expedients: 

a) The Group applies a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar 
characteristics to measure lease liabilities. 

b) The Group accounts for those leases for which the lease term ends on or before December 31, 
2019 as short-term leases. 

c) The Group excludes initial direct costs from the measurement of right-of-use assets on January 
1, 2019. 

d) The Group uses hindsight, such as in determining lease terms, to measure lease liabilities. 

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognized on 
January 1, 2019 is 2.2%. The difference between the (i) lease liabilities recognized and (ii) the 
future minimum lease payments of non-cancellable operating lease commitments on December 31, 
2018 is explained as follows: 

The future minimum lease payments of non-cancellable operating lease 
commitments on December 31, 2018   $ 2,099

The future minimum lease payments of cancellable operating lease commitments 
on December 31, 2018    7,217 

Undiscounted amounts on January 1, 2019   $ 9,316 

Discounted amounts using the incremental borrowing rate on January 1, 2019   $ 8,986

Lease liabilities recognized on January 1, 2019   $ 8,986

The Group as lessor 

The Group does not make any adjustments for leases in which it is a lessor, and it accounts for those 
leases with the application of IFRS 16 starting from January 1, 2019. 

The Group subleased its leasehold dormitories to its employees. Such sublease was classified as an 
operating lease under IAS 17. The Group determines the sublease is classified as an operating lease 
on the basis of the remaining contractual terms and conditions of the head lease and sublease on 
January 1, 2019.
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The impact on assets, liabilities and equity as of January 1, 2019 from the initial application of IFRS 
16 is set out as follows: 

As Originally 
Stated on 

January 1, 
2019 

Adjustments 
Arising from 

Initial 
Application 

Restated on 
January 1, 

2019 

Right-of-use assets   $ -   $ 8,986   $ 8,986

Total effect on assets   $ -   $ 8,986   $ 8,986 

Lease liabilities - current    $ -   $ 2,781   $ 2,781
Lease liabilities - noncurrent    -    6,205    6,205 

Total effect on liabilities   $ -   $ 8,986   $ 8,986 

b. The IFRSs endorsed by the FSC for application starting from 2020 

New, Amended or Revised Standards and Interpretations 
Effective Date 

Announced by IASB  

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Definition of a Business” January 1, 2020 (Note 1) 
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 “Interest Rate Benchmark

Reform” 
January 1, 2020 (Note 2) 

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 “Definition of Material” January 1, 2020 (Note 3) 

Note 1: The Group shall apply these amendments to business combinations for which the acquisition 
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 
January 1, 2020 and to asset acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of that period. 

Note 2: The Group shall apply these amendments retrospectively for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2020. 

Note 3: The Group shall apply these amendments prospectively for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2020. 

As of the date the consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue, the Group is 
continuously assessing the possible impact that the application of the above standards and 
interpretations will have on the Group’s financial position and financial performance and will disclose 
the relevant impact when the assessment is completed. 

c. New IFRSs issued by IASB but not yet endorsed and issued into effect by the FSC 

New, Amended or Revised Standards and Interpretations 
Effective Date 

Announced by IASB (Note 1) 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 “Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture” 

To be determined by IASB 

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” January 1, 2021 
Amendments to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or 

Non-current” 
January 1, 2022 

Note 1: Unless stated otherwise, the above New IFRSs are effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after their respective effective dates. 
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As of the date the consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue, the Group is 
continuously assessing the possible impact that the application of the above standards and 
interpretations will have on the Group’s financial position and financial performance and will disclose 
the relevant impact when the assessment is completed. 

 4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

a. Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Regulations 
Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and IFRSs as endorsed and issued 
into effect by the FSC. 

b. Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
financial instruments which are measured at fair value and net defined benefit liabilities which are 
measured at the present value of the defined benefit obligation less the fair value of plan assets. 

The fair value measurements, which are grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the 
fair value measurement inputs are observable and based on the significance of the inputs to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety, are described as follows:  

1) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

2) Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for an 
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 

3) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability. 

c. Classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities 

Current assets include:  

1) Assets held primarily for the purpose of trading;  

2) Assets expected to be realized within 12 months after the reporting period; and  

3) Cash and cash equivalents unless the asset is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 

Current liabilities include: 

1) Liabilities held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

2) Liabilities due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; and 

3) Liabilities for which the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 
12 months after the reporting period. 

Assets and liabilities that are not classified as current are classified as non-current. 
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d. Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and the 
entities controlled by the Company (i.e., its subsidiaries). 

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the effective dates of 
acquisitions up to the effective dates of disposals, as appropriate. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with those used by the Company. 

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full upon consolidation. 
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control 
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the interests of 
the Group and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests 
in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and 
attributed to the owners of the Company. 

See Note 10 for detailed information on subsidiaries (including percentages of ownership and main 
businesses). 

e. Foreign currencies 

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other 
than the entity’s functional currency (i.e., foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.  

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing at that date. Exchange differences on monetary items arising from settlement or 
translation are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

Non-monetary items measured at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Exchange differences arising 
from the retranslation of non-monetary items are included in profit or loss for the period except for 
exchange differences arising from the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and 
losses are recognized directly in other comprehensive income; in which cases, the exchange differences 
are also recognized directly in other comprehensive income. 

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the functional currencies of the Group’ 
s foreign operations (including subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and branches in other countries 
that use currencies which are different from the currency of the Group) are translated into the 
presentation currency, the New Taiwan dollar, as follows: Assets and liabilities are translated at the 
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period; and income and expense items are 
translated at the average exchange rates for the period. The resulting currency translation differences are 
recognized in other comprehensive income. 
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f. Investments in associates 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and which is neither a 
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. The Group uses the equity method to account for its 
investments in associates. 

Under the equity method, investments in associates are initially recognized at cost and adjusted 
thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the 
associate. The Group also recognizes the changes in the Group’s share of the equity of associates. 

When the Group subscribes for additional new shares of an associate at a percentage different from its 
existing ownership percentage, the resulting carrying amount of the investment differs from the amount 
of the Group’s proportionate interest in the associate. The Group records such a difference as an 
adjustment to investments with the corresponding amount charged or credited to capital surplus - 
changes in capital surplus from investments in associates accounted for using the equity method. If the 
Group’s ownership interest is reduced due to its additional subscription of the new shares of the 
associate, the proportionate amount of the gains or losses previously recognized in other comprehensive 
income in relation to that associate is reclassified to profit or loss on the same basis as would be 
required had the investee directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. When the adjustment 
should be debited to capital surplus, but the capital surplus recognized from investments accounted for 
using the equity method is insufficient, the shortage is debited to retained earnings. 

The entire carrying amount of an investment is tested for impairment as a single asset by comparing its 
recoverable amount with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognized is not allocated to any 
asset that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is 
recognized to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases. 

When the Group transacts with its associate, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the 
associate are recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests 
in the associate that are not related to the Group. 

g. Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment loss. 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is recognized using the straight-line method. Each 
significant part is depreciated separately. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
methods are reviewed at the end of each year, with the effects of any changes in the estimates accounted 
for on a prospective basis. 

On derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognized in profit or loss. 

h. Intangible assets 

1) Intangible assets acquired separately 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are initially measured at cost 
and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment loss. 
Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis. The estimated useful lives, residual values, and 
amortization methods are reviewed at the end of each year, with the effect of any changes in the 
estimates accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are 
acquired separately are measured at cost less accumulated impairment loss. 
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2) Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditures 

Expenditures on research activities are recognized as expenses in the period in which they are 
incurred. 

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from the development phase of an internal project is 
recognized if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated: 

a) The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or 
sale; 

b) The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 

c) The ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 

d) How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits; 

e) The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the 
development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and 

f) The ability to measure reliably the expenditures attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development. 

The amount initially recognized for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the 
expenditures incurred from the date when such an intangible asset first meets the recognition 
criteria listed above. Subsequent to initial recognition, such intangible assets are measured on the 
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. 

3) Derecognition of intangible assets 

On derecognition of an intangible asset, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset is recognized in profit or loss. 

i. Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and 
intangible assets for any indication of impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss. When it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of a corporate asset, the asset is tested for impairment in the 
context of the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs. If a portion of the carrying 
amount of the asset can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to the CGU, the Group 
compares the carrying amount of the CGU, including the portion of the asset’s carrying amount 
allocated to the CGU, with the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. If this 
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation cannot be applied to the CGU to which the asset belongs 
and can be applied instead to the smallest group of CGUs to which the CGU belongs, this smallest 
group is used for impairment testing. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at least annually and whenever there is an indication that the assets may be impaired. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. If the recoverable 
amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount, with the resulting 
impairment loss recognized in profit or loss. 
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When an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the corresponding asset, 
cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent 
of the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized on 
the asset, cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or 
loss. 

j. Financial instruments  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)) are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at FVTPL are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

1) Financial assets 

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade 
date basis. 

a) Measurement categories  

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: Financial assets at amortized cost 
and equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI).  

i. Financial assets at amortized cost 

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortized 
cost: 

i) The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial 
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 

ii) The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost, including cash, accounts 
receivable, other receivables and other current assets are measured at amortized cost, which 
equals the gross carrying amount determined using the effective interest method less any 
impairment loss. Exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss. 

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of such a financial asset, except for: 

i) Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, for which interest income is 
calculated by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortized cost of 
such financial assets; and 

ii) Financial assets that are not credit-impaired on purchase or origination but have 
subsequently become credit-impaired, for which interest income is calculated by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of such financial assets in 
subsequent reporting periods. 
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A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more of the following events have occurred: 

i) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 

ii) Breach of contract, such as a default; 

iii) It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or undergo a financial 
reorganization; or  

iv) The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties. 

Cash is highly liquid, and readily convertible to a known amount of cash, and is subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value. The Group’s cash is held for the purpose of 
meeting short-term cash commitments. 

ii. Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI 

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election to designate investments 
in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation as at FVTOCI is not permitted if the 
equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognized by an 
acquirer in a business combination. 

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in other equity. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments; instead, it will be transferred to 
retained earnings. 

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognized in profit or loss when 
the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly 
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.  

b) Impairment of financial assets 

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets at 
amortized cost (including accounts receivable). 

The Group always recognizes lifetime expected credit losses (i.e., ECLs) for accounts 
receivable. For all other financial instruments, the Group recognizes lifetime ECLs when there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the 
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month 
ECLs. 

Expected credit losses reflect the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of 
default occurring as the weights. Lifetime ECLs represent the expected credit losses that will 
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECLs represent the portion of lifetime ECLs that is expected to result from 
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting 
date. 
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For internal credit risk management purposes, the Group determines that the following 
situations indicate that a financial asset is in default (without taking into account any collateral 
held by the Group):  

i. Internal or external information show that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors. 

ii. When a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and 
corroborative information to support a more lagged default criterion. 

The impairment loss of all financial assets is recognized in profit or loss by a reduction in their 
carrying amounts through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt instruments 
that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognized in other 
comprehensive income and the carrying amounts of such financial assets are not reduced. 

c) Derecognition of financial assets 

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the financial asset expire or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. 

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortized cost in its entirety, the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognized 
in profit or loss. On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument at FVTOCI, the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and 
receivable and the cumulative gain or loss which had been recognized in other comprehensive 
income is recognized in profit or loss. However, on derecognition of an investment in an equity 
instrument at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss is transferred directly to retained earnings, 
without recycling through profit or loss. 

2) Equity instruments 

Equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as equity in accordance with the substance of 
the contractual arrangements and the definitions of an equity instrument. 

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs. 

The repurchase of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognized in and deducted directly from 
equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issuance or cancellation 
of the Group’s own equity instruments. 

3) Financial liabilities 

a) Subsequent measurement  

All financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

b) Derecognition of financial liabilities 

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability derecognized and the 
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognized in profit or loss. 
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k. Revenue recognition 

The Group identifies contracts with customers, allocates the transaction price to the performance 
obligations and recognizes revenue when performance obligations are satisfied. 

For contracts where the period between the date on which the Group transfers a promised good or 
service to a customer and the date on which the customer pays for that good or service is one year or 
less, the Group does not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant 
financing component. 

1) Authorized revenue 

a) Technical service revenue  

The Group identifies performance obligations from contracts with customers and recognizes 
revenue when performance obligations are satisfied. 

b) Royalty revenue 

Revenue received from the intellectual property that remains operational without updated 
authorization or technical support is the royalty revenue. While customers use the intellectual 
property in mass production at the foundries, the royalty prices are determined based on 
production, sales or other measures and the revenue is recognized with reference to the 
underlying arrangements. 

l. Leases 

2019 

At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. 

1) The Group as lessor 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of a lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

When the Group subleases a right-of-use asset, the sublease is classified by reference to the 
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. However, 
if the head lease is a short-term lease that the Group, as a lessee, has accounted for applying 
recognition exemption, the sublease is classified as an operating lease. 

Lease payments from operating leases are recognized as income on a straight-line basis over the 
terms of the relevant leases. 

2) The Group as lessee 

The Group recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases at the commencement 
date of a lease, except for short-term leases and low-value asset leases accounted for applying a 
recognition exemption where lease payments are recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis 
over the lease terms. 
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Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial measurement of lease 
liabilities adjusted for lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease 
incentives received, and plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs needed to 
restore the underlying assets. Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease 
liabilities. Right-of-use assets are presented on a separate line in the consolidated balance sheets. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement dates to 
the earlier of the end of the useful lives of the right-of-use assets or the end of the lease terms. 

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments. The lease 
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in a lease, if that rate can be readily 
determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate.  

Subsequently, lease liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, 
with interest expense recognized over the lease terms. When there is a change in a lease term, or a 
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate used to determine 
those payments, the Group remeasures the lease liabilities with a corresponding adjustment to the 
right-of-use-assets. However, if the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets is reduced to zero, 
any remaining amount of the remeasurement is recognized in profit or loss. Lease liabilities are 
presented on a separate line in the consolidated balance sheets. 

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses in the 
periods in which they are incurred. 

2018 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of a lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

1) The Group as lessor 

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. 

2) The Group as lessee 

Operating lease payments are recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

m. Government grants 

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply 
with the conditions attached to them and that the grants will be received. 

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the 
Group recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. 
Specifically, government grants whose primary conditions are that the Group should purchase, 
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognized as deferred revenue and transferred to 
profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful lives of the related assets. 

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for 
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are 
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are received.
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n. Employee benefits 

1) Short-term employee benefits 

Liabilities recognized in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted 
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related services. 

2) Retirement benefits 

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognized as expenses when 
employees have rendered services entitling them to the contributions. 

Defined benefit costs (including service cost, net interest and remeasurement) under defined benefit 
retirement benefit plans are determined using the projected unit credit method. Service cost 
(including current service cost) and net interest on the net defined benefit liabilities (assets) are 
recognized as employee benefits expense in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement, 
comprising actuarial gains and losses and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is 
recognized in other comprehensive income in the period in which it occurs. Remeasurement 
recognized in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will 
not be reclassified to profit or loss.  

Net defined benefit liabilities (assets) represent the actual deficit (surplus) in the Group’s defined 
benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any 
refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans. 

3) Other long-term employee benefits 

Other long-term employee benefits are accounted for in the same way as the accounting required 
for defined benefit plans except that remeasurement is recognized in profit or loss. 

o. Share-based payment arrangements 

Employee share options granted to employees 

The fair value at the grant date of the employee share options is expensed on a straight-line basis over 
the vesting period, based on the Group’s best estimates of the number of shares or options that are 
expected to ultimately vest, with a corresponding increase in capital surplus - employee share options. It 
is recognized as an expense in full at the grant date if vested immediately. 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of employee share 
options expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates is recognized in profit or 
loss such that the cumulative expenses reflect the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to 
capital surplus - employee share options. 

p. Taxation 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

1) Current tax 

According to the Income Tax Law, an additional tax on unappropriated earnings is provided for as 
income tax in the year the shareholders approve to retain earnings. 

Adjustments of prior years’ tax liabilities are added to or deducted from the current year’s tax 
provision. 
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2) Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.  

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences, research and development 
expenditures to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilized.  

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated 
with such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there 
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences 
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 
allow all or part of the assets to be recovered. A previously unrecognized deferred tax asset is also 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and recognized to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period in which the liabilities are settled or the assets are realized, based on tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The 
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle 
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

3) Current and deferred taxes 

Current and deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity; in which case, the current and 
deferred taxes are also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.  

 5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION AND 
UNCERTAINTY 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that 
are considered relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
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Critical Accounting Judgements 

a. Business model assessment for financial assets 

The Group determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are 
managed together to achieve a particular business objective. This assessment includes judgment about 
all relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and the risks that affect 
the performance of the assets. The Group monitors financial assets measured at amortized cost when 
assets are derecognized prior to their maturity, the Group understands the reasons for their disposal and 
whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for which the assets were held. 
Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the business model for which the 
remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and, if it is not appropriate, whether 
there has been a change in the business model such that a prospective change to the classification of 
those assets is proper. 

b. Lease terms - 2019 

In determining a lease term, the Group considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic 
incentive to exercise or not to exercise an option, including any expected changes in facts and 
circumstances from the commencement date until the exercise date of the option. Main factors 
considered include contractual terms and conditions for the optional periods, significant leasehold 
improvements undertaken over the contract term, the importance of the underlying asset to the lessee’s 
operations, etc. The lease term is reassessed if a significant change in circumstances that are within 
control of the Group occur. 

Key Sources of Estimation and Uncertainty 

a. Estimated impairment of financial assets 

The provision for impairment of accounts receivables (include related parties) is based on assumptions 
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgment in making these assumptions 
and in selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s historical experience, 
existing market conditions and industrial economic trends. Where the actual future cash inflows are less 
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. 

b. Lessees’ incremental borrowing rates  

In determining a lessee’s incremental borrowing rate used in discounting lease payments, a risk-free 
rate for the same currency and relevant duration is selected as a reference rate, and the lessee’s credit 
spread adjustments and lease specific adjustments (such as asset type, secured position, etc.) are also 
taken into account. 

 6. CASH  

December 31 
2019 2018 

Bank deposits   $ 1,263,823   $ 1,301,978 
Cash on hand    35    25 

  $ 1,263,858   $ 1,302,003 
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The market rates of cash in bank at the end of the reporting period were as follows: 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Bank deposits 0.001%-2.75% 0.001%-3.55% 

 7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Non-current 

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI   $ 15,530   $ 19,180 

Domestic investments 
Unlisted shares 

Ordinary shares - Powerchip Technology Corporation   $ 8,540   $ 12,260 
Ordinary shares - Syntronix Corporation    6,990    6,920 

  $ 15,530   $ 19,180 

These investments in equity instruments are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium to 
long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the management elected to designate these investments in equity 
instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognizing short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair 
value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these investments for 
long-term purposes. 

 8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZED COST 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Non-current 

Domestic investments 
Time deposit with original maturity of more than 1 year   $ 33,500   $ 33,500 
Pledged time deposits    113    112 

  $ 33,613   $ 33,612 

a. The ranges of interest rates for time deposits with original maturities of more than 1 year were 
approximately 1.015%-1.09% and 1.015%-1.09% per annum as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively. 

b. Refer to Note 26 for information relating to the credit risk management and impairment of financial 
assets at amortized cost.  

c. Refer to Note 28 for information relating to investments in financial assets at amortized cost pledged as 
security. 
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 9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Accounts receivable   $ 133,917   $ 168,424 
Less: Allowance for impairment loss    (7,105)    (10,089) 

  $ 126,812   $ 158,335 

The average credit term was 30 to 60 days. No interest was charged on accounts receivable. The Group 
uses other publicly available financial information or its own trading records to rate its major customers. 
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored.  

Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved. 

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which 
permits the use of lifetime expected loss provision for all accounts receivable. The lifetime expected credit 
losses are estimated considering past default experience and current financial position of the customers as 
well as industrial economic conditions. The Group’s expected credit loss rates are set by individual 
customer based on historical credit loss experience. 

The Group writes off an account receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty, and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed 
under liquidation. For accounts receivable that have been written off, the Group continues to engage in 
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivables due. Where recoveries are made, these are 
recognized in profit or loss.  

December 31, 2019 

Not Past 
Due 

1 to 30 
Days 

31 to 90 
Days 

91 to 180 
Days 

Over 181 
Days Total 

Gross carrying amount   $ 109,000   $ 6,146   $ 14,214   $ 1,679   $ 2,878   $ 133,917 
Loss allowance (lifetime ECL)    (1,559)    (1,349)    (1,919)    (839)    (1,439)    (7,105) 

Amortized cost   $ 107,441   $ 4,797   $ 12,295   $ 840   $ 1,439   $ 126,812 

December 31, 2018 

Not Past 
Due 

1 to 30 
Days 

31 to 90 
Days 

91 to 180 
Days 

Over 181 
Days Total 

Gross carrying amount   $ 119,728   $ 11,010   $ 28,318   $ 9,368   $ -   $ 168,424 
Loss allowance (lifetime ECL)    (3,165)    -    (5,542)    (1,382)    -    (10,089) 

Amortized cost   $ 116,563   $ 11,010   $ 22,776   $ 7,986   $ -   $ 158,335 

The movements of the loss allowance of accounts receivable were as follows: 

For the Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Balance at January 1   $ 10,089   $ 2,071 
Add: Net remeasurement of loss allowance    -    8,018 
Less: Net remeasurement of loss allowance    (2,984)    - 

Balance at December 31   $ 7,105   $ 10,089 

-148-



10. SUBSIDIARIES 

Subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements

Proportion of Ownership (%) 
December 31 

Investor Investee Nature of Activities 2019 2018 Remark 

eMemory Technology 
Inc. 

PUFsecurity Corporation Product designing, software 
services, data processing 
services, intellectual property, 
etc. 

100% - 1 

Remarks: 

1) eMemory Technology Inc. invested and established PUFsecurity Corporation in May 2019. The 
authorized capital and the total paid-up capital of PUFsecurity Corporation were NT$ 500,000 thousand 
and NT$ 50,000 thousand, respectively, divided into 50,000 thousand shares with a par value of NT$ 1. 

11. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD 

Investments in associates 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Associates that are not individually material 
iMQ Technology Inc.   $ 5,382   $ 6,046 

Proportion of Ownership and 
Voting Rights
December 31 

Name of Associate 2019 2018 

iMQ Technology Inc.    3.38%    4.25% 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

The Company’s share of : 
Loss from continuing operations   $ (4,336)   $ (4,356) 
Other comprehensive income (loss)    (4)    - 

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the period   $ (4,340)   $ (4,356) 

Although the shareholding ratio is less than 20%, the Company is able to exercise significant influence over 
iMQ Technology Inc. since the chairman of the Company is the same person as the chairman of iMQ 
Technology Inc. and the Company acts as the director of iMQ Technology Inc. 

As the information about business nature, main operation location and the registered country. Refer to 
Table 3. 

The investments in associates accounted for using the equity method, and the share of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income (loss) of those investments for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
was based on the audited financial statements. 
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

December 31, 
2019 

Assets used by the Group   $ 446,708 
Assets leased under operating leases    30,463 

  $ 477,171 

a. Assets used by the Group - 2019 

Freehold 
Land Buildings 

Research and 
Development 
Equipment 

Office 
Equipment Total 

Cost 

Balance at January 1, 2019   $ 124,019   $ 383,910   $ 102,728   $ 10,451   $ 621,108 
Additions    -    3,751    16,550    2,920    23,221 
Disposals    -    (3,747)    (12,374)    (3,567)    (19,688) 
Transfers to assets leased under 

operating leases    (10,289)    (23,927)    -    -    (34,216) 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 113,730   $ 359,987   $ 106,904   $ 9,804   $ 590,425 

Accumulated depreciation 

Balance at January 1, 2019   $ -   $ 78,766   $ 45,500   $ 5,309   $ 129,575 
Depreciation expenses    -    10,529    24,721    1,864    37,114 
Disposals     -    (3,747)    (12,374)    (3,567)    (19,688) 
Transfers to assets leased under 

operating leases    -    (3,284)    -    -    (3,284) 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ -   $ 82,264   $ 57,847   $ 3,606   $ 143,717 

Carrying amounts at December 31, 2019   $ 113,730   $ 277,723   $ 49,057   $ 6,198   $ 446,708 

b. Assets leased under operating leases - 2019 

Freehold Land Buildings Total 

Cost 

Balance at January 1, 2019    $ -   $ -   $ - 
Transfers from assets used by the Group     10,289    23,927    34,216 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 10,289   $ 23,927   $ 34,216 

Accumulated depreciation 

Balance at January 1, 2019   $ -   $ -   $ - 
Transfers from assets used by the Group     -    3,284    3,284 
Depreciation expenses    -    469    469 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ -   $ 3,753   $ 3,753 

Carrying amounts at December 31, 2019   $ 10,289   $ 20,174   $ 30,463 
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Operating leases are related to leases of buildings with lease terms between 1 to 3 years. The lessees do 
not have bargain purchase options to acquire the assets at the expiry of the lease periods. 

The maturity analysis of lease payments receivable under operating lease payments was as follows: 

December 31, 
2019 

Year 1   $ 3,363 
Year 2    1,666 

  $ 5,029 

c. 2018

Freehold 
Land Buildings 

Research and 
Development 
Equipment 

Office 
Equipment Total 

Cost 

Balance at January 1, 2018   $ 124,019   $ 384,646   $ 97,007   $ 9,785   $ 615,457 
Additions    -    368    20,350    3,158    23,876 
Disposals    -    (1,104 )    (14,629 )    (2,492 )    (18,225 ) 

Balance at December 31, 2018   $ 124,019   $ 383,910   $ 102,728   $ 10,451   $ 621,108 

Accumulated depreciation 

Balance at January 1, 2018   $ -   $ 68,676   $ 35,723   $ 5,721   $ 110,120 
Depreciation expense    -    10,968    24,354    2,080    37,402 
Disposals    -    (878 )    (14,577 )    (2,492 )    (17,947 ) 

Balance at December 31, 2018   $ -   $ 78,766   $ 45,500   $ 5,309   $ 129,575 

Carrying amounts at December 31, 2018   $ 124,019   $ 305,144   $ 57,228   $ 5,142   $ 491,533 

The future minimum lease payments of non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

December 31, 
2018 

Not later than 1 year   $ 3,363 

There was no indication of impairment for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

The Group’s property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the following 
estimated useful life: 

Buildings  
Office main buildings 35-50 years 
Electrical power equipment 5-10 years 
Air-conditioning 5-8 years 
Extinguishment equipment   5 years 

Research and development equipment  3-8 years 
Office equipment  3-5 years 
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13. LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 

a. Right-of-use assets - 2019 

December 31, 
2019 

Carrying amounts 

Buildings   $ 5,679 
Office equipment    15 
Transportation equipment    1,593 

  $ 7,287 

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2019 

Additions to right-of-use assets   $ 1,396 

Depreciation charge for right-of-use assets 
Buildings   $ 1,790 
Office equipment    30 
Transportation equipment    1,275 

  $ 3,095 

Income from the subleasing of right-of-use assets (presented in other income)   $ (1,301) 

b. Lease liabilities - 2019 

December 31, 
2019 

Carrying amounts 

Current   $ 3,114 
Non-current   $ 4,246 

Range of discount rate for lease liabilities was as follows: 

December 31, 
2019 

Buildings 1.68% 
Office equipment 3.05% 
Transportation equipment 3.25% 
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c. Other lease information 

Lease arrangements under operating leases for the leasing out of freehold property, plant and equipment 
are set out in Notes 12. 

2019 

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2019 

Expenses relating to short-term leases    $ 1,444 
Total cash outflow for leases   $ (4,466) 

The Group leases certain parking space and machine room which qualify as short-term leases. The 
Group has elected to apply the recognition exemption and thus, did not recognize right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities for these leases. 

2018 

The future minimum lease payments of non-cancellable operating lease commitments are as follows: 

December 31, 
2018 

Not later than 1 year   $ 1,549 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years    550 

  $ 2,099 

The lease payments and sublease payments recognized in profit or loss were as follows: 

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2018 

Minimum lease payments   $ 1,596 

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Patents Software Trademark Total 

Cost 

Balance at January 1, 2019   $ 112,921   $ 11,695   $ 4,418   $ 129,034 
Additions    18,169    2,801    178    21,148 
Disposals    (2,067)    (4,898)    (1,466)    (8,431) 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 129,023   $ 9,598   $ 3,130   $ 141,751 
(Continued)
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Patents Software Trademark Total 

Accumulated amortization 

Balance at January 1, 2019   $ 51,793   $ 6,556   $ 3,523   $ 61,872 
Amortization expense    11,222    2,893    380    14,495 
Disposals    (2,057)    (4,898)    (1,466)    (8,421) 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 60,958   $ 4,551   $ 2,437   $ 67,946 

Carrying amounts at December 31, 
2019   $ 68,065   $ 5,047   $ 693   $ 73,805 

Cost 

Balance at January 1, 2018   $ 97,611   $ 11,387   $ 4,411   $ 113,409 
Additions    15,310    2,617    7    17,934 
Disposals    -    (2,309)    -    (2,309) 

Balance at December 31, 2018   $ 112,921   $ 11,695   $ 4,418   $ 129,034 

Accumulated amortization 

Balance at January 1, 2018   $ 42,311   $ 5,571   $ 3,097   $ 50,979 
Amortization expense    9,482    3,294    426    13,202 
Disposals    -    (2,309)    -    (2,309) 

Balance at December 31, 2018   $ 51,793   $ 6,556   $ 3,523   $ 61,872 

Carrying amounts at December 31, 
2018   $ 61,128   $ 5,139   $ 895   $ 67,162 

(Concluded) 

The Company’s major products are NeoBit , NeoFuse , NeoPUF , NeoEE  and NeoMTP , etc. There are 
967 patents currently owned or applied in progress for the products mentioned above. According to the 
requirements of IAS 38, the research and development costs were recognized as research and development 
expenses, instead of capitalized, in the periods when incurred. The costs of the patents and the trademarks 
mentioned above were the costs of the relevant fees and professional service expenses for legal right 
applications. 

The above intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over the following 
estimated useful life: 

Patents 5 years 
Software 3 years 
Trademark 5 years 
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15. OTHER ASSETS 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Current 

Prepayments  
Prepayment for software   $ 10,979   $ 12,559 
Prepayment for annual fee on the patents    4,866    4,680 
Prepayment for software maintenance    1,503    1,107 
Others    2,124    1,543 

  $ 19,472   $ 19,889 

Other assets 
Temporary payment   $ 4,275   $ 2,902 

16. OTHER LIABILITIES 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Current 

Other payables 
Bonus   $ 45,126   $ 62,917 
Payable for annual leave    3,436    3,343 
Payable for professional service fee    1,526    1,056 
Others    30,826    26,788 

  $ 80,914   $ 94,104 

Other liabilities 
Receipt under custody   $ 1,159   $ 1,008 
Receipt in advance    550    550 
Temporary receipt    22    58 

  $ 1,731   $ 1,616 

17. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS 

a. Defined contribution plans 

The Group adopted a pension plan under the Labor Pension Act (the “LPA”), which is a state-managed 
defined contribution plan. Under the LPA, an entity makes monthly contributions to employees’ 
individual pension accounts at 6% of monthly salaries and wages.  

b. Defined benefit plans 

The defined benefit plan adopted by the Company in accordance with the Labor Standards Law is 
operated by the government. Pension benefits are calculated on the basis of the length of service and 
average monthly salaries of the 6 months before retirement. The Company contributes amounts equal to 
2% of total monthly salaries and wages to a pension fund administered by the pension fund monitoring 
committee. Pension contributions are deposited in the Bank of Taiwan in the committee’s name. Before 
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the end of each year, the Company assesses the balance in the pension fund. If the amount of the 
balance in the pension fund is inadequate to pay retirement benefits for employees who conform to 
retirement requirements in the next year, the Company is required to fund the difference in one 
appropriation that should be made before the end of March of the next year. The pension fund is 
managed by the Bureau of Labor Funds, Ministry of Labor (the Bureau); the Company has no right to 
influence the investment policy and strategy. 

The amounts based on the actuary report of the Company’s defined benefit plans were as follows: 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Present value of funded defined benefit obligation   $ 31,041   $ 28,793 
Fair value of plan assets     (9,657)    (8,459) 

Net defined benefit liability   $ 21,384   $ 20,334 

Movements in net defined benefit liabilities were as follows: 

Present Value 
of the Defined 

Benefit 
Obligation 

Fair Value of 
the Plan Assets 

Net Defined 
Benefit 

Liabilities  

Balance at January 1, 2018   $ 26,575   $ (7,333)   $ 19,242 
Net interest expense (income)    398    (116)    282 
Recognized in profit or loss    398    (116)    282 
Remeasurement 

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts 
included in net interest)    -    (170)    (170) 

Actuarial loss 
Changes in demographic assumptions    352    -    352 
Changes in financial assumptions    538    -    538 
Experience adjustments    930    -    930 

Recognized in other comprehensive loss 
(income)    1,820    (170)    1,650 

Contributions from the employer    -    (840)    (840) 
Balance at December 31, 2018    28,793    (8,459)    20,334 
Net interest expense (income)    396    (122)    274 
Recognized in profit or loss    396    (122)    274 
Remeasurement 

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts 
included in net interest)    -    (248)    (248) 

Actuarial loss (gain) 
Changes in demographic assumptions    375    -    375 
Changes in financial assumptions    1,630    -    1,630 
Experience adjustments    (153)    -    (153) 

Recognized in other comprehensive loss 
(income)    1,852    (248)    1,604 

Contributions from the employer    -    (828)    (828) 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 31,041   $ (9,657)   $ 21,384 
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Through the defined benefit plans under the Labor Standards Law, the Company is exposed to the 
following risks: 

1) Investment risk: The plan assets are invested in domestic and foreign equity and debt securities, 
bank deposits, etc. The investment is conducted at the discretion of the Bureau or under the 
mandated management. However, in accordance with relevant regulations, the return generated by 
plan assets should not be below the interest rate for a 2-year time deposit with local banks. 

2) Interest risk: A decrease in the government bond interest rate will increase the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation; however, this will be partially offset by an increase in the return on the 
plans’ debt investments. 

3) Salary risk: The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated by reference to the 
future salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will 
increase the present value of the defined benefit obligation. 

The actuarial valuations of the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out by 
qualified actuaries. The significant assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as 
follows: 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Discount rate 1.00% 1.375% 
Expected rate of salary increase  4.00% 4.00% 

If possible reasonable changes in each of the significant actuarial assumptions will occur and all other 
assumptions will remain constant, the present value of the defined benefit obligation would increase 
(decrease) as follows: 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Discount rate 
0.25% increase   $ (1,102)   $ (1,071) 
0.25% decrease   $ 1,152   $ 1,121 

Expected rate of salary increase 
0.25% increase   $ 1,103   $ 1,077 
0.25% decrease   $ (1,061)   $ (1,035) 

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual changes in the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions would occur in 
isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated. 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Expected contributions to the plans for the next year  $ 863   $ 890 

Average duration of the defined benefit obligation 14.5 years 15.3 years 
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18. EQUITY 

a. Ordinary shares 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Numbers of shares authorized (in thousands)    100,000    100,000 
Shares authorized    $ 1,000,000   $ 1,000,000 
Number of shares issued and fully paid (in thousands)    75,834    75,791 
Shares issued   $ 758,336   $ 757,908 

For the year Ended December 31, 2019, the shares increased due to the employees’ exercise of their 
employee share options. 

b. Capital surplus 

December 31 
2019 2018 

May be used to offset a deficit, distributed as cash dividends, or  
  transferred to share capital (1) 

Arising from issuance of ordinary shares   $ 287,201   $ 310,759 

May be used to offset a deficit only 

Arising from share of changes in capital surplus of associates    45,060    41,384 
Arising from issuance of ordinary exercised/invalid employee 

share options    9,160    2,445 

May not be used for any purpose 

Arising from employee share options    63,025    61,949 

  $ 404,446   $ 416,537 

1) Such capital surplus may be used to offset a deficit; in addition, when the Company has no deficit, 
such capital surplus may be distributed as cash dividends or transferred to share capital (limited to a 
certain percentage of the Company’s capital surplus and to once a year). 

c. Retained earnings and dividend policy 

The Company’s Articles of Incorporation state that, where the Company made profit in a fiscal year, the 
profit shall be first utilized for paying taxes, offsetting accumulated losses, setting aside as legal reserve 
10% of the remaining profit, setting aside or reversing a special reserve in accordance with the laws and 
regulations, and then any remaining profit together with any undistributed retained earnings shall be 
used by the Company’s board of directors as the basis for proposing a distribution plan, which should 
be resolved in the shareholders’ meeting for the distribution of dividends and bonuses to shareholders. 
For the policies on the distribution of employees’ compensation and remuneration of directors after the 
amendment, refer to “Employees’ compensation and remuneration of directors” in Note 21 (f). 
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The Company shall distribute dividend with considerations of the market situation and development 
stage, as well as future capital needs, long-term corporate development and the shareholders’ cash flow 
needs. The Company’s dividend policy, in principle, shall not be less than 50% of distributable 
earnings, of which at least 10% will be paid as cash dividend and the remainder will be in the form of 
stock dividend. The board of directors shall map out the distribution proposal in consideration of future 
operation and capital expenditure, and present the proposal at the shareholders’ meeting for approval. 

An appropriation of earnings to a legal reserve shall be made until the legal reserve equals the 
Company’s paid-in capital. The legal reserve may be used to offset deficits. If the Company has no 
deficit and the legal reserve has exceeded 25% of the Company’s paid-in capital, the excess may be 
transferred to capital or distributed in cash. 

Items referred to under Rule No. 1010012865, Rule No. 1010047490 and Rule No. 1030006415 issued 
by the FSC and the directive titled “Questions and Answers for Special Reserves Appropriated 
Following Adoption of IFRSs” should be appropriated to or reversed from a special reserve by the 
Company. 

The appropriations of earnings for 2018 and 2017 which had been approved in the shareholders’ 
meetings on June 13, 2019 and June 14, 2018, respectively, were as follows: 

Appropriation of Earnings 
For the Year Ended December 31 

2018 2017 

Legal reserve   $ 61,311   $ 59,862 
Special reserve   $ 61,006   $ - 
Cash dividends   $ 556,678   $ 538,736 
Cash dividends per share (NT$)   $ 7.50   $ 7.109 

The Company’s shareholders also resolved to issue cash dividends from capital surplus of $37,112 
thousand and $29,631 thousand in the shareholders’ meetings on June 13, 2019 and June 14, 2018, 
respectively. 

The appropriations of earnings for 2019 had been proposed by the Company’s board of directors on 
February 19, 2020. The appropriations and dividends per share were as follows:

For the Year 
Ended  

December 31, 
2019 

Legal reserve   $ 54,047 
Special reserve   $ 3,654  
Cash dividends   $ 408,466  
Cash dividends per share (NT$)   $ 5.5 

Issuance of cash dividends from capital surplus of $111,400 thousand also had been proposed by the 
Company’s board of directors on February 19, 2020. 

The appropriations of earnings for 2019 are subject to the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting to be 
held on June 10, 2020. 
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d. Other equity items 

1) Exchange differences on translating the financial statements of foreign operations 

For the Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Balance at January 1   $ -   $ - 
Recognized for the year 

Share from associates accounted for using the equity 
method    (4)    - 

Other comprehensive loss recognized for the year    (4)    - 

Balance at December 31   $ (4)   $ - 

2) Unrealized valuation gain (loss) on financial assets at FVTOCI 

For the Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018

Balance at January 1   $ (61,932)   $ (62,992) 
Recognized for the year

Unrealized (loss) gain - equity instruments  (3,650)  1,060
Other comprehensive (loss) income recognized for the year    (3,650)    1,060

Balance at December 31   $ (65,582)   $ (61,932)

e. Treasury shares 
Unit: In Thousands of Shares 

Purpose of Buy-Back 

Number of 
Shares at 
January 1  

Increase 
During the 

Year 

Decrease 
During the 

Year 

Number of 
Shares at 

December 31 

2019 

Shares transferred to employees    1,567    -    -    1,567 

2018 

Shares transferred to employees    -    1,567    -    1,567 

In September 2018, for shares transferred to employees, the Company’s board of directors resolved to 
buy back 2,500 thousand shares of the Company’s ordinary shares from the TPEx market from 
September 14, 2018 to November 13, 2018 with the price interval ranging from NT$177.80 to NT$400 
per share. The Company has bought back 1,567 thousand shares with total cost of NT$404,238 
thousand. 

Under the Securities and Exchange Act, the Company shall neither pledge treasury shares nor exercise 
shareholders’ rights on these shares, such as the rights to dividends and to vote. 
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19. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 

Employee share option plan of the Company 

Qualified employees of the Company were granted 500 options in February, 2016. Each option entitles the 
holder to subscribe for one thousand ordinary shares of the Company. The options granted are valid for 10 
years and exercisable at certain percentages after the second anniversary from the grant date. The options 
were granted at an exercise price equal to the closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares listed on the 
TPEx on the grant date. For any subsequent changes in the Company’s ordinary shares or for any cash 
dividends issued in excess of the ratio required in the issuance rule, the exercise price is adjusted 
accordingly. 

The information of employee share options was as follows: 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Number of 
Options (In 
Thousands) 

Weighted- 
average 
Exercise 

Price
(NT$) 

Number of 
Options (In 
Thousands) 

Weighted- 
average 
Exercise 

Price
(NT$) 

Balance at January 1    470   $ 331.6    487   $ 338.7 
Options exercised    (43)    326.7    (8)    338.7 
Options forfeited    (7)    324.2    (9)    338.7 

Balance at December 31    420    324.2    470    331.6 

Options exercisable, end of period    231    324.2    135    331.6 

The weighted-average share prices on the exercise date of the share options for the years ended December 
31, 2019 and 2018 were $369 and $378, respectively. 

Information on outstanding options is as follows: 

December 31
2019 2018

Range of exercise price (NT$)   $ 324.2   $ 331.6
Weighted-average remaining contractual life (in years)    6.15 years    7.15 years 

Options granted in February 2016 were priced using the Black-Scholes pricing model and the inputs in the 
model were as follows: 

Grant-date share price (NT$) $351 
Exercise price (NT$) $351 
Expected volatility 43.24% 
Expected life (in years) 6-7 years 
Expected dividend yield - 
Risk-free interest rate 0.71-0.75% 

Compensation costs recognized were NT$7,791 thousand and NT$15,869 thousand for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
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20. REVENUE 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Royalty revenue   $ 979,822   $ 1,026,710 
Technical service revenue    430,263    449,806 

  $ 1,410,085   $ 1,476,516 

a. Contract balances 

December 31, 
2019 

December 31, 
2018 

January 1, 
2018 

Accounts receivables (Note 9)   $ 126,812   $ 158,335   $ 82,457 

Contract liabilities 
Technical service revenue   $ 32,837   $ 37,822   $ 33,471 

The changes in the balance of contract liabilities primarily result from the timing difference between the 
Group’s performance and the respective customer’s payment. 

Revenue of the reporting period recognized from the beginning contract liabilities in the previous 
periods is as follows: 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

From the beginning contract liabilities 
Technical service revenue   $ 25,764   $ 22,390 

b. Partially completed contracts 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Taiwan (Company located)   $ 805,649   $ 880,511 
China    300,474    267,184 
Singapore    122,869    128,410 
Korea    54,698    72,705 
United States of America    40,378    36,755 
Others    86,017    90,951 

  $ 1,410,085   $ 1,476,516 
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21. NET PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

a. Other income 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Interest income 
Bank deposits   $ 9,631   $ 10,663 

Remuneration of directors received    5,142    10,023 
Rental income - operating lease (Note 13)    4,696    3,395 
Dividend income    291    943 

  $ 19,760   $ 25,024 

b. Other gains and losses 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Net foreign exchange (loss) gain   $ (5,290)   $ 5,615 
Government grants income (Note 24)    1,691    - 
Gain on disposal of investment    95    79 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment    -    (278) 
Others    120    12 

  $ (3,384)   $ 5,428 

c. Finance costs  

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Interest on lease liabilities   $ 179   $ - 

d. Depreciation and amortization 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

An analysis of depreciation by function 
Operating expenses   $ 40,678   $ 37,402 

An analysis of amortization by function 
Selling and marketing expenses   $ -   $ - 
General and administrative expenses    1,944    2,130 
Research and development expenses    12,551    11,072 

  $ 14,495   $ 13,202 
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e. Employee benefits expense  

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Post-employment benefits (see Note 17) 
Defined contribution plans   $ 16,387   $ 15,328 
Defined benefit plans    274    282 

   16,661    15,610 
Share-based payments (see Note 19) 

Equity-settled     7,791    15,869 
Other employee benefits    584,092    597,535 

  $ 608,544   $ 629,014 

An analysis of employee benefits expense by function 
Operating expenses   $ 608,544   $ 629,014 

f. Employees’ compensation and remuneration of directors 

According to the Articles of Incorporation of the Company, the Company accrued employees’ 
compensation and remuneration of directors at rates of 1-25% and no higher than 2%, respectively, of 
net profit before income tax, employees’ compensation, and remuneration of directors. The employees’ 
compensation and the remuneration of directors for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
which were approved by the Company’s board of directors on February 19, 2020 and February 26, 
2019, respectively, are as follows: 

Accrual rate 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Employees’ compensation 15% 15% 
Remuneration of directors 1.5% 1.5% 

Amount 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Employees’ compensation   $ 113,746   $ 125,538 
Remuneration of directors   $ 11,374   $ 12,554 

If there is a change in the amounts after the annual consolidated financial statements are authorized for 
issue, the differences are recorded as a change in the accounting estimate. 

There is no difference between the actual amounts of employees’ compensation and remuneration of 
directors paid and the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended 
December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

Information on the employees’ compensation and remuneration of directors resolved by the Company’s 
board of directors in 2020 and 2019 is available at the Market Observation Post System website of the 
Taiwan Stock Exchange. 
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22. INCOME TAXES RELATING TO CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

a. Income tax recognized in profit or loss 

The major components of tax expense (income) were as follows: 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Current tax 
In respect of the current year   $ 91,829   $ 87,079 
Adjustments for prior periods    9    (754) 

   91,838    86,325 
Deferred tax 

In respect of the current year    (726)    (228) 
Adjustments to deferred tax attributable to changes in tax rates 

and laws    -    (372) 

Income tax expense recognized in profit or loss   $ 91,112   $ 85,725 

A reconciliation of accounting profit and income tax expense is as follows: 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Profit before tax   $ 633,184   $ 698,831 

Income tax expense calculated at the statutory rate   $ 126,637   $ 139,766 
Nondeductible expenses in determining taxable income    5,333     741  
Tax-exempt income    (84,175)    (93,488) 
Additional income tax under the Alternative Minimum Tax Act    31,304    36,614 
Unrecognized deductible temporary differences and investment 

credits    12,004    3,218 
Adjustments to deferred tax attributable to changes in tax rates 

and laws    -    (372) 
Adjustments for prior years’ tax    9    (754) 

Income tax expense recognized in profit or loss   $ 91,112   $ 85,725 

The Income Tax Act in the ROC was amended in 2018, and the corporate income tax rate was adjusted 
from 17% to 20%. In addition, the rate of the corporate surtax applicable to the 2018 unappropriated 
earnings was reduced from 10% to 5%. 

In July 2019, the President of the ROC announced the amendments to the Statute for Industrial 
Innovation, which stipulate that the amounts of unappropriated earnings in 2018 and thereafter that are 
reinvested in the construction or purchase of certain assets or technologies are allowed as deduction 
when computing the income tax on unappropriated earnings. 
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b. Current tax liabilities 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Current tax liabilities 
Income tax payable   $ 56,576   $ 71,897 

c. Deferred tax assets 

The movements of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities were as follows:  

Year ended December 31, 2019 

Opening 
Balance 

Recognized in 
Profit or Loss 

Closing 
Balance 

Deferred tax assets 

Temporary differences   $ 2,708   $ 726   $ 3,434 

Year ended December 31, 2018 

Opening 
Balance 

Recognized in 
Profit or Loss 

Closing 
Balance 

Deferred tax assets 

Temporary differences   $ 2,108   $ 600   $ 2,708 

d. Information about tax-exemption 

As of December 31, 2019, profits attributable to the following expansion projects were exempted from 
income tax for a five-year period: 

Expansion of Construction Project Tax-exemption Period 

Fifth expansion of the manufacturing plant January 1, 2015-December 31, 2019 
Sixth expansion of the manufacturing plant January 1, 2016-December 31, 2020 

e. Income tax assessments  

The tax returns through 2017 have been assessed by the tax authorities. 

23. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
Unit: NT$ Per Share 

Year Ended December 31
2019 2018 

Basic earnings per share   $ 7.30   $ 8.13 
Diluted earnings per share   $ 7.26   $ 8.07 
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The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding used in the computation of 
earnings per share were as follows: 

Net Profit for the Year 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Earnings used in the computation of basic earnings per share   $ 542,072   $ 613,106 
Effect of potentially dilutive ordinary shares: 

Employees’ compensation    -    - 
Employee share options    -    - 

Earnings used in the computation of diluted earnings per share   $ 542,072   $ 613,106 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (in thousand shares): 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the 
computation of basic earnings per share    74,247    75,425 

Effect of potentially dilutive ordinary shares: 
Employees’ compensation    387    528 
Employee share options    14    - 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the 
computation of diluted earnings per share    74,648    75,953 

Since the Company can offer to settle bonus to employees in cash or shares, the Company assumes the 
entire amount of the bonus would be settled in shares and the resulting potential shares are included in the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding used in the computation of diluted earnings per share, if the 
effect is dilutive. Such dilutive effect of the potential shares is included in the computation of diluted 
earnings per share until the shareholders resolve the number of shares to be distributed to employees at their 
meeting in the following year. 

Since the exercise price of the options or warrants issued by the Company exceeded the average market 
price of the shares during 2018, they are anti-dilutive and excluded from the computation of diluted 
earnings per share. 

24. GOVERNMENT GRANTS 

The Company applied for the AI on chip R&D subsidy program “The Industrial Technology Foresight 
Research Program of Reconfigurable Analog Artificial Intelligence Chip”, proposed by the Ministry of 
Economic Affairs, and the program was approved on December 18, 2019. The total funds approved were 
NT$ 85,750 thousand, and the subsidies were NT$ 34,300 thousand. As of December 31, 2019, the 
accumulated government grants income recognized was NT$ 1,691 thousand. The collateral provided by 
the Group included cashier checks whose drawees are banking industries and guarantee letters and the 
amounts were NT$ 34,300 thousand and NT$ 10,080 thousand, respectively. 
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25. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue a going concern 
while maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. The 
Group’s overall strategy has no significant changes. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of issued ordinary shares, capital surplus, retained earnings and 
other equity. 

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

a. Fair value of financial instruments that are not measured at fair value 

The management believes the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities not carried at 
fair value approximate their fair values or their fair values cannot be reliably measured. 

b. Fair value of financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis 

1) Fair value hierarchy 

December 31, 2019 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets at FVTOCI 
Investments in equity instruments 

at FVTOCI 
Unlisted shares   $ -   $ -   $ 15,530   $ 15,530 

December 31, 2018 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets at FVTOCI
Investments in equity instruments 

at FVTOCI
Unlisted shares   $ -   $ -   $ 19,180   $ 19,180 

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in the current and prior periods. 

2) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial instruments  

Financial Assets at FVTOCI 
Equity Instruments 

Financial Assets 2019 2018 

Balance at January 1   $ 19,180   $ 18,120 
Recognized in other comprehensive income (included in 

unrealized valuation gain (loss) on financial assets at 
FVTOCI)    (3,650)    1,060 

Balance at December 31   $ 15,530   $ 19,180 
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3) Valuation techniques and inputs applied for Level 3 fair value measurement 

Financial Instruments Valuation Techniques and Inputs 
Unlisted shares - ROC Estimate the value of the target by estimating the assets and 

liabilities items or use the observable stocks price company 
comparing items of balance sheet or income statement, 
calculate the implied value multiplier for the price and 
evaluate the value of the target at balance sheet dates. 

c. Categories of financial instruments 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Financial assets 

Financial asset at amortized cost (Note 1)   $ 1,430,865   $ 1,497,322 
Investment in equity instrument at FVTOCI    15,530    19,180 

Financial liabilities 

Amortized cost (Note 2)    26,326    24,171 

Note 1: The balances include financial assets measured at amortized cost, which comprise cash, 
accounts receivables, other receivables, other receivables-related parties and other current 
assets. 

Note 2: The balances included financial liabilities measured at amortized cost, which comprise other 
payables and payables on equipment. 

d. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The Group’s major financial instruments included equity investments, accounts receivable, lease 
liabilities and other payables. The Group’s corporate financial management function provides services 
to the business, coordinates access to domestic and international financial markets, monitors and 
manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports which 
analyze exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including 
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The Group’s main financial plans are reviewed by the board of directors in accordance with relevant 
regulations and internal control system. 

1) Market risk 

The Group’s activities exposed it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates (see (a) below) and interest rates (see (b) below). 

There had been no change in the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which these 
risks were managed and measured. 

a) Foreign currency risk 

The Group’s operating activities are partially denominated in foreign currencies and apply the 
natural hedge. The purpose of the Group’s management of the foreign currency risk is to hedge 
the risk instead of making a profit. 
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and 
monetary liabilities are set out in Note 29. 

Sensitivity analysis 

The Group is mainly exposed to the exchange rate fluctuation of USD, CNY and JPY. 

The sensitivity analysis included only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary 
items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign 
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in pre-tax profit associated with 
the New Taiwan dollar weakening 5% against the relevant currency. For a 5% strengthening of 
the New Taiwan dollar against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite 
impact on pre-tax profit and the balances below would be negative. The sensitivity analysis 
included cash, accounts receivable, other receivables, payables on equipment and other 
payables. 

USD Impact CNY Impact JPY Impact 
Year Ended December 31 Year Ended December 31 Year Ended December 31 

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 

Profit or loss   $ 10,367   $ 10,954   $ 434   $ 1,131   $ 20   $ 15 

b) Interest rate risk  

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk arising from financial assets both at fixed and floating 
interest rates. 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets with exposure to interest rates at the end 
of the reporting periods were as follows. 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Fair value interest rate risk 
Financial assets   $ 804,513   $ 843,230 

Cash flow interest rate risk 
Financial assets    492,923    492,360 

Sensitivity analysis 

The sensitivity analyses below are determined based on the Group’s exposure to interest rates 
for non-derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate assets, the 
analysis was prepared assuming the amount of the asset outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period was outstanding for the whole year. 

If the market interest rates had increased/decreased by 0.1% and all other variables were held 
constant, the Group’s pre-tax profit for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 would 
increase/decrease by $493 thousand and $492 thousand, respectively, mainly due to the Group’s 
exposure to floating interest rate assets. 

2) Credit risk management 

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations and result in 
financial loss to the Group. As at the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure of counterparties to 
discharge an obligation mainly arise from the carrying amount of the respective recognized 
financial assets as stated in the consolidated balance sheets. 
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In order to minimize credit risk, the Group has made credit and receivable management regulations 
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the 
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that 
adequate allowances are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, management believes the 
Group’s credit risk was significantly reduced. 

The credit risk on liquid funds was limited because the counterparties are banks with good credit. 

Apart from the customers whose balances exceeded 5% of the accounts receivable, the Group did 
not have significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties 
having similar characteristics. 

The customers whose balances exceeded 5% of the accounts receivable are creditworthy 
counterparties. Therefore, the credit risk is limited. 

3) Liquidity risk 

The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring and maintaining a level of cash deemed adequate 
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.  

Liquidity and interest risk rate tables 

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative 
financial liabilities with agreed repayment periods. The tables had been drawn up based on the 
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities from the earliest date on which the Group can be 
required to pay. The tables included both interest and principal cash flows. 

December 31, 2019 

On Demand 
or Less than 

1 Month 1-3 Months 
3 Months to 

1 Year 1+Years Total 

Non-derivative 
  financial liabilities  

Non-interest bearing   $ 8,808   $ 17,140   $ 908   $ -     $ 26,856 
Lease liabilities    270    540    2,414    4,343      7,567 

  $ 9,078   $ 17,680   $ 3,322   $ 4,343     $ 34,423 

Additional information about the maturity analysis for lease liabilities: 

Less than 1 
Year 1-5 Years 5+ Years

Lease liabilities   $ 3,224   $ 4,343   $ - 
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December 31, 2018 

On Demand or 
Less than  
1 Month 1-3 Months 

3 Months to  
1 Year Total 

Non-derivative 
  financial liabilities  

Non-interest bearing   $ 8,106   $ 15,759   $ 836   $ 24,701 

27. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the 
Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions 
between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below. 

a. Related party name and category 

Related Party Name Related Party Category 

iMQ Technology Inc. Associates 
Powerchip Technology Corporation Substantive related parties before May 24, 2018 
Powerchip Semiconductor Manufacturing Corp. Substantive related parties before May 24, 2018 
HeFeChip Corporation Limited Substantive related parties 
SecuX Technology Inc. Substantive related parties 
Li-Jeng Chen Key management personnel 
T.C. Chen Key management personnel 
Evans Yang Key management personnel 
Chris Lu Key management personnel 

b. Operating revenue 

Year Ended December 31 
Line Items Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Sales Substantive related parties   $ 1,815   $ 44,707 
Associates    452    1,802 

  $ 2,267   $ 46,509 

The prices that the Group transferred and granted the professional technology to related parties were 
decided by the two sides. The payment term was open account 30 days. 

c. Operating expense 

Year Ended December 31 
Line Items Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Other expense Substantive related parties   $ 11   $ - 
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d. Other income 

Year Ended December 31 
Line Items Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Remuneration of directors 
received 

Substantive related parties 
Powerchip Technology 

Corporation 
  $ -   $ 10,000 

Others    -    23 

  $ -   $ 10,023 

Other income Key management personnel   $ 95   $ - 

e. Receivables from related parties (excluding loans to related parties) 

December 31 
Line Items Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Other receivables - Substantive related parties 
related parties HeFeChip Corporation Limited   $ 410   $ 251 

The outstanding trade receivables from related parties are unsecured. For the years ended December 31, 
2019 and 2018, no impairment losses were recognized for trade receivables from related parties. 

f. Contract liabilities 

December 31 
Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Substantive related parties   $ -   $ 1,312 
Associates    -    452 

  $ -   $ 1,764 

g. Other current liabilities 

December 31 
Line Items Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Receipt in advance Substantive related parties 
HeFeChip Corporation Limited   $ 550   $ 550 

Temporary receipt Key management personnel   $ 10   $ 25 

h. Guarantee deposits received 

December 31 
Line Items Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Guarantee deposits Substantive related parties 
received HeFeChip Corporation Limited   $ 520   $ 520 
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i. Lease arrangements 

The Group is lessor under operating leases 

The Group leases out offices, parking spaces and dormitories to its substantive related parties - 
HeFeChip Corporation Limited and key management personnel under operating leases with lease terms 
of 1 to3 years. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the balance of operating lease receivable was 
$6,191 thousand and $8,331 thousand, respectively. Lease income recognized for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $3,692 thousand and $3,345 thousand, respectively. 

Lease income was as follows: 

For the Year Ended December 31 
Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Substantive related parties 
HeFeChip Corporation Limited   $ 3,335   $ 3,335 

Key management personnel    357    10 

  $ 3,692   $ 3,345 

j. Compensation of key management personnel 

The compensation to directors and the key management personnel were as follows: 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Short-term employee benefits   $ 81,131   $ 85,100 
Post-employment benefits    1,012    1,002 
Share-based payment transactions    2,564    4,696 

  $ 84,707   $ 90,798 

The remuneration of directors and key management personnel, as determined by the remuneration 
committee, was based on the performance of individuals and market trends. 

28. ASSETS PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL OR FOR SECURITY 

The following assets of the Group were provided as deposits for the tariff of imported raw materials: 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Pledged time deposits (classified as financial assets a amortized cost)   $ 113   $ 112 
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29. SIGNIFICANT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DENOMINATED IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES 

The Group’s significant financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies aggregated by the 
foreign currencies other than functional currencies and the related exchange rates between foreign 
currencies and respective functional currencies were as follows: 

December 31, 2019 

Foreign 
Currencies Exchange Rate 

Carrying 
Amount 

Financial assets 

Monetary items 
USD   $ 6,916 29.980   $ 207,345 
CNY    2,015 4.305    8,673
JPY    1,440 0.276    398

  $ 216,416 

December 31, 2018 

Foreign 
Currencies Exchange Rate 

Carrying 
Amount 

Financial assets 

Monetary items 
USD   $ 7,158 30.715   $ 219,843 
CNY    5,057 4.472    22,614
JPY    1,087 0.2782    302

  $ 242,759 

Financial liabilities 

Monetary items 
USD    25 30.715   $ 754

The significant unrealized foreign exchange gains (losses) were as follows: 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Foreign 
Currencies Exchange Rate 

Net Foreign 
Exchange Gains 

(Losses) Exchange Rate 

Net Foreign 
Exchange Gains 

(Losses) 

USD 29.980 (USD:NTD)   $ (3,595) 30.715 (USD:NTD)   $ 2,070 

30. SEPARATELY DISCLOSED ITEMS 

Except for the following, the Group has no other significant transactions. In the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements, major transactions between the parent and its subsidiaries and their 
balances have been completely eliminated. 
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a. Information about significant transactions and investees: 

1) Marketable securities held (excluding investment in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled 
entities). (Table 1) 

2) Intercompany relationships and significant intercompany transactions. (Table 2) 

3) Information on investees. (Table 3) 

b. Information on investments in mainland China: (None) 

31. SEGMENT INFORMATION  

a. Segment revenue, operating results and segment assets 

For resources allocation and performance assessment, the Group’s chief operating decision maker 
reviews the operating results regularly. The Group’s segments are aggregated into a single reportable 
segment. 

The measurement basis of segment information presented to the chief operating decision maker is 
consistent with the consolidated financial statements. The segment revenues and operating results for 
the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 can be referred to the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. The segment assets as of 
December 31, 2019 and 2018 can be referred to the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 
2019 and 2018. 

b. Revenue from major products and services 

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major products and services: 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Royalty revenue   $ 979,822   $ 1,026,710 
Revenue from technical service     430,263    449,806 

  $ 1,410,085   $ 1,476,516 

c. Geographical information 

The Group’s revenue from continuing operations from external customers by location of operations and 
information about its non-current assets by location of assets are detailed below. 

Revenue from External 
Customers Non-current Assets 

Year Ended December 31 December 31
2019 2018 2019 2018 

Taiwan (Company located)   $ 805,649   $ 880,511   $ 484,458   $ 491,533 
China    300,474    267,184    -    - 
Singapore    122,869    128,410    -    - 
Korea    54,698    72,705    -    - 
United States of America    40,378    36,755    -    - 
Others    86,017    90,951    -    - 

  $ 1,410,085   $ 1,476,516   $ 484,458   $ 491,533 
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Non-current assets include property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. 

d. Information about major customers 

Single customers contributing 10% or more to the Group’s Royalty revenue were as follows: 

Year Ended December 31
2019 % 2018 % 

Company A   $ 519,446    53   $ 565,878    55 
Company B    133,873    14    97,479    9 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
eMemory Technology Inc. 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying parent company only financial statements of eMemory Technology Inc. (the 
“Company”), which comprise the parent company only balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and 
the parent company only statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years 
then ended, and the notes to the parent company only financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying parent company only financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the parent company only financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and 
the parent company only financial performance and the parent company only cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and Attestation of Financial 
Statements by Certified Public Accountants and auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Parent Company Only Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with The Norm of Professional Ethics for Certified Public Accountant of the Republic of China, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the parent company only financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the parent company only financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matter for the Company’s parent company only financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2019 is stated as follows: 

1. The major revenue source of the Company is royalty revenue, refer to Note 19 for related information. To 
elaborate, when IC design houses’ products with the silicon intellectual property of the Company are 
expected to be mass produced and shipped from the wafer foundries, the wafer foundries will pay a certain 
percentage of royalty fee based on the wafer price. 

2. The Company recognizes royalty revenue based on the contracts and the time when the royalty reports are 
signed back. The related risks may exist if the royalty revenue from wafer foundries is not recognized at the 
appropriate time. 

Appendix 2：Parent Company Only Financial Statements 
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3. To verify the accuracy and recognition timing of the royalty revenue, we established the revenue recognition 
policy of the Company, assessed the reasonableness of the revenue recognition timing, performed relevant 
control tests and analytical procedures, as well as traced a certain number of royalty revenue transactions 
before and after the end of reporting period with relevant supporting documents and accounting records. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Parent Company Only 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the parent company only financial 
statements in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities 
Issuers, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of parent 
company only financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the parent company only financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance, including the audit committee, are responsible for overseeing the Company’s 
financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Parent Company Only Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the parent company only financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these parent company only financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of China, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the parent company only financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control. 

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures 
in the parent company only financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the parent company only financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the parent company only financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

6. Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of entities or business 
activities within the Company to express an opinion on the parent company only financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the parent company only financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2019 and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partners on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Yu-Feng Huang and 
Su-Li Fang. 

Deloitte & Touche 
Taipei, Taiwan 
Republic of China 

February 19, 2020 

Notice to Readers 

The accompanying parent company only financial statements are intended only to present the parent company 
only financial position, parent company only financial performance and parent company only cash flows in 
accordance with accounting principles and practices generally accepted in the Republic of China and not those 
of any other jurisdictions. The standards, procedures and practices to audit such parent company only financial 
statements are those generally applied in the Republic of China.  

For the convenience of readers, the independent auditors’ report and the accompanying parent company only 
financial statements have been translated into English from the original Chinese version prepared and used in 
the Republic of China. If there is any conflict between the English version and the original Chinese version or 
any difference in the interpretation of the two versions, the Chinese-language independent auditors’ report and 
parent company only financial statements shall prevail. 
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EMEMORY TECHNOLOGY INC. 

PARENT COMPANY ONLY STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Earnings Per Share) 

2019 2018 
Amount % Amount % 

OPERATING REVENUE (Notes 4, 19 and 26)   $ 1,409,329    100   $ 1,476,516    100 

OPERATING COSTS    -    -    -    - 

GROSS PROFIT    1,409,329    100    1,476,516    100 

OPERATING EXPENSES (Notes 4, 12, 20 and 26) 
Selling and marketing expenses    112,644    8    120,678    8 
General and administrative expenses    162,721    11    169,610    11 
Research and development expenses    493,106    35    505,475    34 
Expected credit (gain) loss (Notes 4 and 9)    (2,984)    -    8,018    1 

Total operating expenses    765,487    54    803,781    54 

OPERATING INCOME    643,842    46    672,735    46 

NON-OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES 
Other income (Notes 4, 12, 20 and 26)    19,622    1    25,024    2 
Other gains and losses (Notes 4, 20, 23 and 26)    (3,381)    -    5,428    - 
Finance costs (Note 20)    (179)    -    -    - 
Share of loss of associates (Notes 4 and 10)    (26,720)    (2)    (4,356)    - 

Total non-operating income and expenses    (10,658)    (1)    26,096    2 

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX    633,184    45    698,831    48 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Notes 4 and 21)    91,112    7    85,725    6 

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR    542,072    38    613,106    42 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or 

loss: 
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans (Notes 4 and 

16)    (1,604)    -    (1,650)    - 
Unrealized (loss) gain on investments in equity 

instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Notes 4 and 17)    (3,650)    -    1,060    - 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss: 
Share of the other comprehensive income of associates 

accounted for using the equity method (Notes 4 and 
17)    (4)    -    -    - 

Other comprehensive loss for the year    (5,258)    -    (590)    - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR   $ 536,814    38   $ 612,516    42 
(Continued) 
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EMEMORY TECHNOLOGY INC. 

PARENT COMPANY ONLY STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Earnings Per Share) 

2019 2018 
Amount % Amount % 

EARNINGS PER SHARE (Note 22) 
Basic   $ 7.30   $ 8.13 
Diluted   $ 7.26   $ 8.07 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the parent company only financial statements. (Concluded) 
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EMEMORY TECHNOLOGY INC. 

PARENT COMPANY ONLY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

2019 2018 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Profit before income tax   $ 633,184   $ 698,831 
Adjustments for: 

Depreciation expenses    40,477    37,402 
Amortization expenses    14,495    13,202 
Expected credit (gain) loss    (2,984)    8,018 
Finance costs    179    - 
Interest income    (9,493)    (10,663) 
Dividend income    (291)    (943) 
Share-based payment    7,734    15,869 
Share of loss of associates    26,720    4,356 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment    -    278 
Intangible asset reclassified as operating expenses    10    - 
Gain on disposal of investments    (95)    (79) 
Net loss (gain) on foreign currency exchange    4,288    (1,015) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities 
Accounts receivable    32,484    (83,763) 
Accounts receivable - related parties    (794)    - 
Other receivables    (1,691)    - 
Other receivables - related parties    (168)    326 
Prepayments    656    (1,895) 
Other current assets    (1,376)    (879) 
Contract liabilities    (4,985)    4,351 
Other payables    (15,754)    13,176 
Other current liabilities    70    165 
Net defined benefit liabilities    (554)    (558) 
Bonuses payable to employees and directors    (12,972)    4,467 

Cash generated from operations    709,140    700,646 
Interest received    9,483    10,676 
Income tax paid    (107,168)    (75,900) 

Net cash generated from operating activities    611,455    635,422 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Acquisition of financial assets at amortized cost    (1)    (1) 
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    (592,000)    (600,000) 
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss    592,095    600,079 
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries    (50,000)    - 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment    (22,749)    (11,335) 
Increase in refundable deposits    -    (16) 
Decrease in refundable deposits    16    - 
Acquisition of intangible assets    (20,927)    (17,934) 
Dividend received    291    943 

Net cash used in investing activities    (93,275)    (28,264) 
(Continued) 
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EMEMORY TECHNOLOGY INC. 

PARENT COMPANY ONLY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

2019 2018 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Repayment of the principal portion of lease liabilities   $ (3,022)   $ - 
Dividends paid    (593,780)    (568,353) 
Exercise of employee share options    13,982    2,879 
Payments for buy-back of ordinary shares    -    (404,238) 
Interest paid    (179)    - 

Net cash used in financing activities    (582,999)    (969,712) 

EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON THE BALANCE 
OF CASH HELD IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES    (2,254)    873 

NET DECREASE IN CASH    (67,073)    (361,681) 

CASH AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR    1,302,003    1,663,684 

CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR   $ 1,234,930   $ 1,302,003 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the parent company only financial statements. (Concluded) 
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EMEMORY TECHNOLOGY INC. 

NOTES TO PARENT COMPANY ONLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018 
(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Stated Otherwise) 

 1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

eMemory Technology Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in Hsinchu City, Republic of China, and 
commenced business in September 2000. The Company’s main business activities include researching, 
developing, manufacturing and selling embedded flash memory products, etc. 

The Company’s shares have been listed on the TPEx since January 2011. 

The parent company only financial statements are presented in the Company’s functional currency, the New 
Taiwan dollar. 

 2. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The parent company only financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorized for 
issue on February 19, 2020. 

 3. APPLICATION OF NEW, AMENDED AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

a. Initial application of the amendments to the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports 
by Securities Issuers and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International 
Accounting Standards (IAS), IFRIC Interpretations (IFRIC), and Interpretations of IAS (SIC) 
(collectively, the “IFRSs”) endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission 
(FSC)

Except for the following, whenever applied, the initial application of the amendments to the 
Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and the IFRSs 
endorsed and issued into effect by the FSC would not have any material impact on the Company’s 
accounting policies: 

1) IFRS 16 “Leases” 

IFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their 
treatment in the financial statements of both lessee and lessor. It supersedes IAS 17 “Leases”, 
IFRIC 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”, and a number of related 
interpretations. Refer to Note 4 for information relating to the relevant accounting policies. 

Definition of a lease 

The Company elects to apply the guidance of IFRS 16 in determining whether contracts are, or 
contain, a lease only to contracts entered into (or changed) on or after January 1, 2019. Contracts 
identified as containing a lease under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 are not reassessed and are accounted for 
in accordance with the transitional provisions under IFRS 16. 
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The Company as lessee 

The Company recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases on the parent 
company only balance sheets except for those whose payments under low-value asset and 
short-term leases are recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis. On the parent company only 
statements of comprehensive income, the Company presents the depreciation expense charged on 
right-of-use assets separately from the interest expense accrued on lease liabilities; interest is 
computed using the effective interest method. On the parent company only statements of cash 
flows, cash payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities are classified within financing 
activities; cash payments for the interest portion are classified within financing activities. Prior to 
the application of IFRS 16, payments under operating lease contracts were recognized as expenses 
on a straight-line basis. Cash flows for operating leases were classified within operating activities 
on the parent company only statements of cash flows. 

Lease liabilities were recognized on January 1, 2019 for leases previously classified as operating 
leases under IAS 17. Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease 
payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate on January 1, 2019. 
Right-of-use assets are measured at an amount that is equal to the lease liabilities. The Company 
applies IAS 36 to all right-of-use assets. 

The Company also applies the following practical expedients: 

a) The Company applies a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar 
characteristics to measure lease liabilities. 

b) The Company accounts for those leases for which the lease term ends on or before December 
31, 2019 as short-term leases. 

c) The Company excludes initial direct costs from the measurement of right-of-use assets on 
January 1, 2019. 

d) The Company uses hindsight, such as in determining lease terms, to measure lease liabilities. 

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognized on 
January 1, 2019 is 2.2%. The difference between the (i) lease liabilities recognized and (ii) the 
future minimum lease payments of non-cancellable operating lease commitments on December 31, 
2018 is explained as follows: 

The future minimum lease payments of non-cancellable operating lease 
commitments on December 31, 2018   $ 2,099

The future minimum lease payments of cancellable operating lease commitments 
on December 31, 2018    7,217 

Undiscounted amounts on January 1, 2019   $ 9,316 

Discounted amounts using the incremental borrowing rate on January 1, 2019   $ 8,986

Lease liabilities recognized on January 1, 2019   $ 8,986

The Company as lessor 

The Company does not make any adjustments for leases in which it is a lessor, and it accounts for 
those leases with the application of IFRS 16 starting from January 1, 2019. 
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The Company subleased its leasehold dormitories to its employees. Such sublease was classified as 
an operating lease under IAS 17. The Company determines the sublease is classified as an operating 
lease on the basis of the remaining contractual terms and conditions of the head lease and sublease 
on January 1, 2019.

The impact on assets, liabilities and equity as of January 1, 2019 from the initial application of IFRS 
16 is set out as follows: 

As Originally 
Stated on 

January 1, 
2019 

Adjustments 
Arising from 

Initial 
Application 

Restated on 
January 1, 

2019 

Right-of-use assets   $ -   $ 8,986   $ 8,986

Total effect on assets   $ -   $ 8,986   $ 8,986 

Lease liabilities - current    $ -   $ 2,781   $ 2,781
Lease liabilities - noncurrent    -    6,205    6,205 

Total effect on liabilities   $ -   $ 8,986   $ 8,986 

b. The IFRSs endorsed by the FSC for application starting from 2020 

New, Amended or Revised Standards and Interpretations 
Effective Date 

Announced by IASB  

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Definition of a Business” January 1, 2020 (Note 1) 
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 “Interest Rate Benchmark

Reform” 
January 1, 2020 (Note 2) 

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 “Definition of Material” January 1, 2020 (Note 3) 

Note 1: The Company shall apply these amendments to business combinations for which the 
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on 
or after January 1, 2020 and to asset acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of that 
period. 

Note 2: The Company shall apply these amendments retrospectively for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2020. 

Note 3: The Company shall apply these amendments prospectively for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2020. 

As of the date the parent company only financial statements were authorized for issue, the Company is 
continuously assessing the possible impact that the application of the above standards and 
interpretations will have on the Company’s financial position and financial performance and will 
disclose the relevant impact when the assessment is completed.
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c. New IFRSs issued by IASB but not yet endorsed and issued into effect by the FSC 

New, Amended or Revised Standards and Interpretations 
Effective Date 

Announced by IASB (Note 1) 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 “Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture” 

To be determined by IASB 

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” January 1, 2021 
Amendments to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or 

Non-current” 
January 1, 2022 

Note 1: Unless stated otherwise, the above New IFRSs are effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after their respective effective dates. 

As of the date the parent company only financial statements were authorized for issue, the Company is 
continuously assessing the possible impact that the application of the above standards and 
interpretations will have on the Company’s financial position and financial performance and will 
disclose the relevant impact when the assessment is completed. 

 4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

a. Statement of compliance 

The parent company only financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Regulations 
Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers. 

b. Basis of preparation 

The parent company only financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
financial instruments which are measured at fair value and net defined benefit liabilities which are 
measured at the present value of the defined benefit obligation less the fair value of plan assets. 

The fair value measurements, which are grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the 
fair value measurement inputs are observable and based on the significance of the inputs to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety, are described as follows:  

1) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

2) Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for an 
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 

3) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability. 

When preparing its parent company only financial statements, the Company used the equity method to 
account for its investment in subsidiaries and associates. In order for the amounts of the net profit for 
the year, other comprehensive income for the year and total equity in the parent company only financial 
statements to be the same with the amounts attributable to the owner of the Company in its consolidated 
financial statements, adjustments arising from the differences in accounting treatment between parent 
company only basis and consolidated basis were made to investments accounted for using the equity 
method, share of profit or loss of subsidiaries and associates, as appropriate, in the parent company only 
financial statements. 
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c. Classification of current and non-current assets and liabilities 

Current assets include:  

1) Assets held primarily for the purpose of trading;  

2) Assets expected to be realized within 12 months after the reporting period; and  

3) Cash and cash equivalents unless the asset is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 

Current liabilities include: 

1) Liabilities held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

2) Liabilities due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; and 

3) Liabilities for which the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at 
least 12 months after the reporting period.  

Assets and liabilities that are not classified as current are classified as non-current. 

d. Foreign currencies 

In preparing the Company’s financial statements, transactions in currencies other than the Company’s 
functional currency (i.e., foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions.  

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing at that date. Exchange differences on monetary items arising from settlement or 
translation are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

Non-monetary items measured at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Exchange differences arising 
from the retranslation of non-monetary items are included in profit or loss for the period except for 
exchange differences arising from the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and 
losses are recognized directly in other comprehensive income; in which cases, the exchange differences 
are also recognized directly in other comprehensive income. 

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 

e. Investments in subsidiaries  

The Company uses the equity method to account for its investments in subsidiaries. 

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Company. 

Under the equity method, investments in subsidiaries are initially recognized at cost and adjusted 
thereafter to recognize the Company’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the 
subsidiary. The Company also recognizes the changes in the Company’s share of equity of subsidiaries. 
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The Company assesses its investment for any impairment by comparing the carrying amount with the 
estimated recoverable amount as assessed based on the investee’s financial statements as a whole. 
Impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. If the 
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases, the Company recognizes a reversal of the 
impairment loss; the adjusted post-reversal carrying amount should not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been recognized (net of amortization or depreciation) had no impairment loss been 
recognized in prior years. An impairment loss recognized on goodwill cannot be reversed in a 
subsequent period. 

f. Investments in associates 

An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence and which is neither a 
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. The Company uses the equity method to account for its 
investments in associates. 

Under the equity method, investments in associates are initially recognized at cost and adjusted 
thereafter to recognize the Company’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the 
associate. The Company also recognizes the changes in the Company’s share of the equity of associates. 

When the Company subscribes for additional new shares of an associate at a percentage different from 
its existing ownership percentage, the resulting carrying amount of the investment differs from the 
amount of the Company’s proportionate interest in the associate. The Company records such a 
difference as an adjustment to investments with the corresponding amount charged or credited to capital 
surplus - changes in capital surplus from investments in associates accounted for using the equity 
method. If the Company’s ownership interest is reduced due to its additional subscription of the new 
shares of the associate, the proportionate amount of the gains or losses previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income in relation to that associate is reclassified to profit or loss on the same basis as 
would be required had the investee directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. When the 
adjustment should be debited to capital surplus, but the capital surplus recognized from investments 
accounted for using the equity method is insufficient, the shortage is debited to retained earnings. 

The entire carrying amount of an investment is tested for impairment as a single asset by comparing its 
recoverable amount with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognized is not allocated to any 
asset that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is 
recognized to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases. 

When the Company transacts with its associate, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with 
the associate are recognized in the Company’s parent company only financial statements only to the 
extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Company. 

g. Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment loss. 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is recognized using the straight-line method. Each 
significant part is depreciated separately. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
methods are reviewed at the end of each year, with the effects of any changes in the estimates accounted 
for on a prospective basis. 

On derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognized in profit or loss. 
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h. Intangible assets 

1) Intangible assets acquired separately 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are initially measured at cost 
and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment loss. 
Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis. The estimated useful lives, residual values, and 
amortization methods are reviewed at the end of each year, with the effect of any changes in the 
estimates accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are 
acquired separately are measured at cost less accumulated impairment loss. 

2) Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditures 

Expenditures on research activities are recognized as expenses in the period in which they are 
incurred. 

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from the development phase of an internal project is 
recognized if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated: 

a) The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or 
sale; 

b) The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 

c) The ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 

d) How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits; 

e) The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the 
development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and 

f) The ability to measure reliably the expenditures attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development. 

The amount initially recognized for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the 
expenditures incurred from the date when such an intangible asset first meets the recognition 
criteria listed above. Subsequent to initial recognition, such intangible assets are measured on the 
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. 

3) Derecognition of intangible assets 

On derecognition of an intangible asset, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset is recognized in profit or loss. 

i. Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and 
intangible assets for any indication of impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss. When it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of a corporate asset, the asset is tested for impairment in the 
context of the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs. If a portion of the carrying 
amount of the asset can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to the CGU, the Company 
compares the carrying amount of the CGU, including the portion of the asset’s carrying amount 
allocated to the CGU, with the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. If this 
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation cannot be applied to the CGU to which the asset belongs 
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and can be applied instead to the smallest group of CGUs to which the CGU belongs, this smallest 
group is used for impairment testing. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at least annually and whenever there is an indication that the assets may be impaired. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. If the recoverable 
amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount, with the resulting 
impairment loss recognized in profit or loss. 

When an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the corresponding asset, 
cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent 
of the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized on 
the asset, cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or 
loss. 

j. Financial instruments  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)) are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at FVTPL are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

1) Financial assets 

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade 
date basis. 

a) Measurement categories  

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: Financial assets at amortized cost 
and equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI).  

i. Financial assets at amortized cost 

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortized 
cost: 

i) The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial 
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 

ii) The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost, including cash, accounts 
receivable, other receivables, and other current assets, are measured at amortized cost, 
which equals the gross carrying amount determined using the effective interest method less 
any impairment loss. Exchange differences are recognized in profit or loss. 
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Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of such a financial asset, except for: 

i) Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, for which interest income is 
calculated by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortized cost of 
such financial assets; and 

ii) Financial assets that are not credit-impaired on purchase or origination but have 
subsequently become credit-impaired, for which interest income is calculated by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of such financial assets in 
subsequent reporting periods. 

A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more of the following events have occurred: 

i) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 

ii) Breach of contract, such as a default; 

iii) It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or undergo a financial 
reorganization; or  

iv) The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties. 

Cash is highly liquid, and readily convertible to a known amount of cash, and is subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value. The Company’s cash is held for the purpose of 
meeting short-term cash commitments. 

ii. Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI 

On initial recognition, the Company may make an irrevocable election to designate 
investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation as at FVTOCI is not 
permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration 
recognized by an acquirer in a business combination. 

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in other equity. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments; instead, it will be transferred to 
retained earnings. 

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognized in profit or loss when 
the Company’s right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly 
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.  

b) Impairment of financial assets 

The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets at 
amortized cost (including accounts receivable).  

The Company always recognizes lifetime expected credit losses (i.e., ECLs) for accounts 
receivable. For all other financial instruments, the Company recognizes lifetime ECLs when 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, 
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Company measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 
12-month ECLs. 
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Expected credit losses reflect the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of 
default occurring as the weights. Lifetime ECLs represent the expected credit losses that will 
result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECLs represent the portion of lifetime ECLs that is expected to result from 
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting 
date. 

For internal credit risk management purposes, the Company determines that the following 
situations indicate that a financial asset is in default (without taking into account any collateral 
held by the Company):  

i. Internal or external information show that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors. 

ii. When a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Company has reasonable 
and corroborative information to support a more lagged default criterion. 

The impairment loss of all financial assets is recognized in profit or loss by a reduction in their 
carrying amounts through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt instruments 
that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognized in other 
comprehensive income and the carrying amounts of such financial assets are not reduced. 

c) Derecognition of financial assets 

The Company derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the financial asset expire or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. 

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortized cost in its entirety, the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognized 
in profit or loss. On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument at FVTOCI, the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and 
receivable and the cumulative gain or loss which had been recognized in other comprehensive 
income is recognized in profit or loss. However, on derecognition of an investment in an equity 
instrument at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss is transferred directly to retained earnings, 
without recycling through profit or loss.  

2) Equity instruments 

Equity instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity in accordance with the substance 
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of an equity instrument. 

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs. 

The repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognized in and deducted directly 
from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issuance or 
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments. 

3) Financial liabilities 

a) Subsequent measurement  

All financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
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b) Derecognition of financial liabilities 

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability derecognized and the 
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognized in profit or loss. 

k. Revenue recognition 

The Company identifies contracts with customers, allocates the transaction price to the performance 
obligations and recognizes revenue when performance obligations are satisfied. 

For contracts where the period between the date on which the Company transfers a promised good or 
service to a customer and the date on which the customer pays for that good or service is one year or 
less, the Company does not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant 
financing component. 

1) Authorized revenue 

a) Technical service revenue  

The Company identifies performance obligations from contracts with customers and recognizes 
revenue when performance obligations are satisfied. 

b) Royalty revenue 

Revenue received from the intellectual property that remains operational without updated 
authorization or technical support is the royalty revenue. While customers use the intellectual 
property in mass production at the foundries, the royalty prices are determined based on 
production, sales or other measures and the revenue is recognized with reference to the 
underlying arrangements. 

l. Leases 

2019 

At the inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. 

1) The Company as lessor 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of a lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

When the Company subleases a right-of-use asset, the sublease is classified by reference to the 
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. However, 
if the head lease is a short-term lease that the Company, as a lessee, has accounted for applying 
recognition exemption, the sublease is classified as an operating lease. 

Lease payments from operating leases are recognized as income on a straight-line basis over the 
terms of the relevant leases. 

2) The Company as lessee 

The Company recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases at the commencement 
date of a lease, except for short-term leases and low-value asset leases accounted for applying a 
recognition exemption where lease payments are recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis 
over the lease terms. 
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Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial measurement of lease 
liabilities adjusted for lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease 
incentives received, and plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs needed to 
restore the underlying assets. Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease 
liabilities. Right-of-use assets are presented on a separate line in the parent company only balance 
sheets. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement dates to 
the earlier of the end of the useful lives of the right-of-use assets or the end of the lease terms. 

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments. The lease 
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in a lease, if that rate can be readily 
determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company uses the lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate.  

Subsequently, lease liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, 
with interest expense recognized over the lease terms. When there is a change in a lease term, or a 
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate used to determine 
those payments, the Company remeasures the lease liabilities with a corresponding adjustment to 
the right-of-use-assets. However, if the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets is reduced to zero, 
any remaining amount of the remeasurement is recognized in profit or loss. Lease liabilities are 
presented on a separate line in the parent company only balance sheets. 

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses in the 
periods in which they are incurred. 

2018 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of a lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

1) The Company as lessor 

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. 

2) The Company as lessee 

Operating lease payments are recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

m. Government grants 

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply 
with the conditions attached to them and that the grants will be received. 

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the 
Company recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. 
Specifically, government grants whose primary conditions are that the Company should purchase, 
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognized as deferred revenue and transferred to 
profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful lives of the related assets. 

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for 
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Company with no future related costs are 
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are received.
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n. Employee benefits 

1) Short-term employee benefits 

Liabilities recognized in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted 
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related services. 

2) Retirement benefits 

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognized as expenses when 
employees have rendered services entitling them to the contributions. 

Defined benefit costs (including service cost, net interest and remeasurement) under defined benefit 
retirement benefit plans are determined using the projected unit credit method. Service cost 
(including current service cost) and net interest on the net defined benefit liabilities (assets) are 
recognized as employee benefits expense in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement, 
comprising actuarial gains and losses and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is 
recognized in other comprehensive income in the period in which it occurs. Remeasurement 
recognized in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will 
not be reclassified to profit or loss.  

Net defined benefit liabilities (assets) represent the actual deficit (surplus) in the Company’s defined 
benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any 
refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans. 

3) Other long-term employee benefits 

Other long-term employee benefits are accounted for in the same way as the accounting required for 
defined benefit plans except that remeasurement is recognized in profit or loss. 

o. Share-based payment arrangements 

1) Employee share options granted to employees 

The fair value at the grant date of the employee share options is expensed on a straight-line basis 
over the vesting period, based on the Company’s best estimates of the number of shares or options 
that are expected to ultimately vest, with a corresponding increase in capital surplus - employee 
share options. It is recognized as an expense in full at the grant date if vested immediately. 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of employee 
share options expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates is recognized in 
profit or loss such that the cumulative expenses reflect the revised estimate, with a corresponding 
adjustment to capital surplus - employee share options. 

2) Equity-settled share-based payment arrangements granted to the employees of a subsidiary 

The grant by the Company of its equity instruments to the employees of a subsidiary under 
employee share options is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services 
received under the arrangement is measured by reference to the grant-date fair value and is 
recognized over the vesting period as an addition to the investment in the subsidiary, with a 
corresponding credit to capital surplus - employee share options. 
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p. Taxation 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

1) Current tax 

According to the Income Tax Law, an additional tax on unappropriated earnings is provided for as 
income tax in the year the shareholders approve to retain earnings. 

Adjustments of prior years’ tax liabilities are added to or deducted from the current year’s tax 
provision. 

2) Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.  

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences, research and development 
expenditures to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilized.  

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Company is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated 
with such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there 
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences 
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 
allow all or part of the assets to be recovered. A previously unrecognized deferred tax asset is also 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and recognized to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period in which the liabilities are settled or the assets are realized, based on tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The 
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.  

3) Current and deferred taxes  

Current and deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity; in which case, the current and 
deferred taxes are also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.  
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 5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION AND 
UNCERTAINTY 

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Critical Accounting Judgements 

a. Business model assessment for financial assets 

The Company determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are 
managed together to achieve a particular business objective. This assessment includes judgment about 
all relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and the risks that affect 
the performance of the assets. The Company monitors financial assets measured at amortized cost when 
assets are derecognized prior to their maturity, the Company understands the reasons for their disposal 
and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for which the assets were held. 
Monitoring is part of the Company’s continuous assessment of whether the business model for which 
the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and, if it is not appropriate, whether 
there has been a change in the business model such that a prospective change to the classification of 
those assets is proper. 

b. Lease terms - 2019 

In determining a lease term, the Company considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic 
incentive to exercise or not to exercise an option, including any expected changes in facts and 
circumstances from the commencement date until the exercise date of the option. Main factors 
considered include contractual terms and conditions for the optional periods, significant leasehold 
improvements undertaken over the contract term, the importance of the underlying asset to the lessee’s 
operations, etc. The lease term is reassessed if a significant change in circumstances that are within 
control of the Company occur. 

Key Sources of Estimation and Uncertainty 

a. Estimated impairment of financial assets  

The provision for impairment of accounts receivables (include related parties) is based on assumptions 
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Company uses judgment in making these assumptions 
and in selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Company’s historical experience, 
existing market conditions and industrial economic trends. Where the actual future cash inflows are less 
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. 

b. Lessees’ incremental borrowing rates  

In determining a lessee’s incremental borrowing rate used in discounting lease payments, a risk-free 
rate for the same currency and relevant duration is selected as a reference rate, and the lessee’s credit 
spread adjustments and lease specific adjustments (such as asset type, secured position, etc.) are also 
taken into account. 
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 6. CASH  

December 31 
2019 2018 

Bank deposits   $ 1,234,905   $ 1,301,978 
Cash on hand    25    25 

  $ 1,234,930   $ 1,302,003 

The market rates of cash in bank at the end of the reporting period were as follows: 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Bank deposits 0.001%-2.75% 0.001%-3.55% 

 7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Non-current 

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI   $ 15,530   $ 19,180 

Domestic investments 
Unlisted shares 

Ordinary shares - Powerchip Technology Corporation   $ 8,540   $ 12,260 
Ordinary shares - Syntronix Corporation    6,990    6,920 

  $ 15,530   $ 19,180 

These investments in equity instruments are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium to 
long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the management elected to designate these investments in equity 
instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognizing short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair 
value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the Company’s strategy of holding these investments for 
long-term purposes.  

 8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZED COST 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Non-current 

Domestic investments 
Time deposit with original maturity of more than 1 year   $ 33,500   $ 33,500 
Pledged time deposits    113    112 

  $ 33,613   $ 33,612 
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a. The ranges of interest rates for time deposits with original maturities of more than 1 year were 
approximately 1.015%-1.09% and 1.015%-1.09% per annum as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively. 

b. Refer to Note 25 for information relating to the credit risk management and impairment of financial 
assets at amortized cost. 

c. Refer to Note 27 for information relating to investments in financial assets at amortized cost pledged as 
security. 

 9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Accounts receivable   $ 133,917   $ 168,424 
Less: Allowance for impairment loss    (7,105)    (10,089) 

  $ 126,812   $ 158,335 

The average credit term was 30 to 60 days. No interest was charged on accounts receivable. The Company 
uses other publicly available financial information or its own trading records to rate its major customers. 
The Company’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored.  

Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved. 

The Company applies the simplified approach to provide expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, 
which permits the use of lifetime expected loss provision for all accounts receivable. The lifetime expected 
credit losses are estimated considering past default experience and current financial position of the 
customers as well as industrial economic conditions. The Company’s expected credit loss rates are set by 
individual customer based on historical credit loss experience. 

The Company writes off an account receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in 
severe financial difficulty, and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been 
placed under liquidation. For accounts receivable that have been written off, the Company continues to 
engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivables due. Where recoveries are made, these 
are recognized in profit or loss.  

December 31, 2019 

Not Past 
Due 

1 to 30 
Days 

31 to 90 
Days 

91 to 180 
Days 

Over 181 
Days Total 

Gross carrying amount   $ 109,000   $ 6,146   $ 14,214   $ 1,679   $ 2,878   $ 133,917 
Loss allowance (lifetime ECL)    (1,559)    (1,349)    (1,919)    (839)    (1,439)    (7,105) 

Amortized cost   $ 107,441   $ 4,797   $ 12,295   $ 840   $ 1,439   $ 126,812 
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December 31, 2018 

Not Past 
Due 

1 to 30 
Days 

31 to 90 
Days 

91 to 180 
Days 

Over 181 
Days Total 

Gross carrying amount   $ 119,728   $ 11,010   $ 28,318   $ 9,368   $ -   $ 168,424 
Loss allowance (lifetime ECL)    (3,165)    -    (5,542)    (1,382)    -    (10,089) 

Amortized cost   $ 116,563   $ 11,010   $ 22,776   $ 7,986   $ -   $ 158,335 

The movements of the loss allowance of accounts receivable were as follows: 

For the Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Balance at January 1   $ 10,089   $ 2,071 
Add: Net remeasurement of loss allowance    -    8,018 
Less: Net remeasurement of loss allowance    (2,984)    - 

Balance at December 31   $ 7,105   $ 10,089 

10. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Investments in subsidiaries   $ 27,673   $ - 
Investments in associates    5,382    6,046 

  $ 33,055   $ 6,046 

a. Investments in subsidiaries 

December 31 
2019 2018 

PUFsecurity Corporation   $ 27,673   $ - 

Proportion of Ownership and 
Voting Rights 
December 31 

    Name of Subsidiary 2019 2018 

PUFsecurity Corporation 100% - 

The Company invested and established PUFsecurity Corporation in May 2019. The authorized capital 
and the total paid-up capital of PUFsecurity Corporation were NT$500,000 thousand and NT$50,000 
thousand, respectively, divided into 50,000 thousand shares with a par value of NT$1. 
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The investments in subsidiaries accounted for using the equity method and the share of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income (loss) of those investments for the years ended December 31, 2019 
were based on the subsidiaries’ financial statements which have been audited for the same years. 

b. Investments in associates 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Associates that are not individually material 
iMQ Technology Inc.   $ 5,382   $ 6,046 

Proportion of Ownership and 
Voting Rights 
December 31 

    Name of Associate 2019 2018 

iMQ Technology Inc.    3.38%    4.25% 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

The Company’s share of : 
Loss from continuing operations   $ (4,336)   $ (4,356) 
Other comprehensive income (loss)    (4)    - 

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the period   $ (4,340)   $ (4,356) 

Although the shareholding ratio is less than 20%, the Company is able to exercise significant influence 
over iMQ Technology Inc. since the chairman of the Company is the same person as the chairman of 
iMQ Technology Inc. and the Company acts as the director of iMQ Technology Inc. 

As the information about business nature, main operation location and the registered country. Refer to 
Table 2. 

The investments in associates accounted for using the equity method, and the share of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income (loss) of those investments for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 
2018 was based on the associates’ financial statements which have been audited for the same years. 

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

December 31, 
2019 

Assets used by the Company   $ 444,855 
Assets leased under operating leases    30,463 

  $ 475,318 
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a. Assets used by the Company - 2019 

Freehold 
Land Buildings 

Research and 
Development 
Equipment 

Office 
Equipment Total 

Cost 

Balance at January 1, 2019   $ 124,019   $ 383,910   $ 102,728   $ 10,451   $ 621,108 
Additions    -    3,751    15,105    2,311    21,167 
Disposals    -    (3,747)    (12,374)    (3,567)    (19,688) 
Transfers to assets leased under 

operating leases    (10,289)    (23,927)    -    -    (34,216) 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 113,730   $ 359,987   $ 105,459   $ 9,195   $ 588,371 

Accumulated depreciation 

Balance at January 1, 2019   $ -   $ 78,766   $ 45,500   $ 5,309   $ 129,575 
Depreciation expenses    -    10,529    24,583    1,801    36,913 
Disposals     -    (3,747)    (12,374)    (3,567)    (19,688) 
Transfers to assets leased under 

operating leases    -    (3,284)    -    -    (3,284) 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ -   $ 82,264   $ 57,709   $ 3,543   $ 143,516 

Carrying amounts at December 31, 2019   $ 113,730   $ 277,723   $ 47,750   $ 5,652   $ 444,855 

b. Assets leased under operating leases - 2019 

Freehold Land Buildings Total 

Cost 

Balance at January 1, 2019    $ -   $ -   $ - 
Transfers from assets used by the Company     10,289    23,927    34,216 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 10,289   $ 23,927   $ 34,216 

Accumulated depreciation 

Balance at January 1, 2019   $ -   $ -   $ - 
Transfers from assets used by the Company     -    3,284    3,284 
Depreciation expenses    -    469    469 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ -   $ 3,753   $ 3,753 

Carrying amounts at December 31, 2019   $ 10,289   $ 20,174   $ 30,463 

Operating leases are related to leases of buildings with lease terms between 1 to 3 years. The lessees do 
not have bargain purchase options to acquire the assets at the expiry of the lease periods. 
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The maturity analysis of lease payments receivable under operating lease payments was as follows: 

December 31, 
2019 

Year 1   $ 3,363 
Year 2    1,666 

  $ 5,029 

c. 2018 

Freehold 
Land Buildings 

Research and 
Development 
Equipment 

Office 
Equipment Total 

Cost 

Balance at January 1, 2018   $ 124,019   $ 384,646   $ 97,007   $ 9,785   $ 615,457 
Additions    -    368    20,350    3,158    23,876 
Disposals    -    (1,104)    (14,629)    (2,492)    (18,225) 

Balance at December 31, 2018   $ 124,019   $ 383,910   $ 102,728   $ 10,451   $ 621,108 

Accumulated depreciation 

Balance at January 1, 2018   $ -   $ 68,676   $ 35,723   $ 5,721   $ 110,120 
Depreciation expense    -    10,968    24,354    2,080    37,402 
Disposals    -    (878)    (14,577)    (2,492)    (17,947) 

Balance at December 31, 2018   $ -   $ 78,766   $ 45,500   $ 5,309   $ 129,575 

Carrying amounts at December 31, 2018   $ 124,019   $ 305,144   $ 57,228   $ 5,142   $ 491,533 

The future minimum lease payments of non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

December 31, 
2018 

Not later than 1 year   $ 3,363 

There was no indication of impairment for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

The Company’s property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 
following estimated useful life: 

Buildings  
Office main buildings 35-50 years 
Electrical power equipment 5-10 years 
Air-conditioning 5-8 years 
Extinguishment equipment 5 years 

Research and development equipment  3-8 years 
Office equipment  3-5 years 
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12. LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 

a. Right-of-use assets - 2019 

December 31, 
2019 

Carrying amounts 

Buildings   $ 5,679 
Office equipment    15 
Transportation equipment    1,593 

  $ 7,287 

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2019 

Additions to right-of-use assets   $ 1,396 

Depreciation charge for right-of-use assets 
Buildings   $ 1,790 
Office equipment    30 
Transportation equipment    1,275 

  $ 3,095 

Income from the subleasing of right-of-use assets (presented in other income)   $ (1,301) 

b. Lease liabilities - 2019 

December 31, 
2019 

Carrying amounts 

Current   $ 3,114 
Non-current   $ 4,246 

Range of discount rate for lease liabilities was as follows: 

December 31, 
2019 

Buildings 1.68% 
Office equipment 3.05% 
Transportation equipment 3.25% 

c. Other lease information 

Lease arrangements under operating leases for the leasing out of freehold property, plant and equipment 
are set out in Notes 11. 
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2019 

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2019 

Expenses relating to short-term leases    $ 1,290 
Total cash outflow for leases   $ (4,312) 

The Company leases certain parking space and machine room which qualify as short-term leases. The 
Company has elected to apply the recognition exemption and thus, did not recognize right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities for these leases. 

2018 

The future minimum lease payments of non-cancellable operating lease commitments are as follows: 

December 31, 
2018 

Not later than 1 year   $ 1,549 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years    550 

  $ 2,099 

The lease payments and sublease payments recognized in profit or loss were as follows: 

For the Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2018 

Minimum lease payments   $ 1,596 

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Patents Software Trademark Total 

Cost 

Balance at January 1, 2019   $ 112,921   $ 11,695   $ 4,418   $ 129,034 
Additions    18,126    2,801    -    20,927 
Disposals    (2,067)    (4,898)    (1,466)    (8,431) 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 128,980   $ 9,598   $ 2,952   $ 141,530 
(Continued) 
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Patents Software Trademark Total 

Accumulated amortization 

Balance at January 1, 2019   $ 51,793   $ 6,556   $ 3,523   $ 61,872 
Amortization expense    11,222    2,893    380    14,495 
Disposals    (2,057)    (4,898)    (1,466)    (8,421) 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 60,958   $ 4,551   $ 2,437   $ 67,946 

Carrying amounts at December 31, 
2019   $ 68,022   $ 5,047   $ 515   $ 73,584 

Cost 

Balance at January 1, 2018   $ 97,611   $ 11,387   $ 4,411   $ 113,409 
Additions    15,310    2,617    7    17,934 
Disposals    -    (2,309)    -    (2,309) 

Balance at December 31, 2018   $ 112,921   $ 11,695   $ 4,418   $ 129,034 

Accumulated amortization 

Balance at January 1, 2018   $ 42,311   $ 5,571   $ 3,097   $ 50,979 
Amortization expense    9,482    3,294    426    13,202 
Disposals    -    (2,309)    -    (2,309) 

Balance at December 31, 2018   $ 51,793   $ 6,556   $ 3,523   $ 61,872 

Carrying amounts at December 31, 
2018   $ 61,128   $ 5,139   $ 895   $ 67,162 

(Concluded) 

The Company’s major products are NeoBit , NeoFuse  NeoPUF , NeoEE , and NeoMTP , etc. There 
are 967 patents currently owned or applied in progress for the products mentioned above. According to the 
requirements of IAS 38, the research and development costs were recognized as research and development 
expenses, instead of capitalized, in the periods when incurred. The costs of the patents and the trademarks 
mentioned above were the costs of the relevant fees and professional service expenses for legal right 
applications. 

The above intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over the following 
estimated useful life: 

Patents 5 years 
Software 3 years 
Trademark 5 years 
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14. OTHER ASSETS 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Current 

Prepayments  
Prepayment for software   $ 10,925   $ 12,559 
Prepayment for annual fee on the patents    4,866    4,680 
Prepayment for software maintenance    1,503    1,107 
Others    1,948    1,543 

  $ 19,242   $ 19,889 

Other assets 
Temporary payment   $ 4,278   $ 2,902 

15. OTHER LIABILITIES 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Current 

Other payables 
Bonus   $ 43,848   $ 62,917 
Payable for annual leave    3,371    3,343 
Payable for professional service fee    1,494    1,056 
Others    29,651    26,788 

  $ 78,364   $ 94,104 

Other liabilities 
Receipt under custody   $ 1,114   $ 1,008 
Receipt in advance    550    550 
Temporary receipt    22    58 

  $ 1,686   $ 1,616 

16. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS 

a. Defined contribution plans 

The Company adopted a pension plan under the Labor Pension Act (the “LPA”), which is a 
state-managed defined contribution plan. Under the LPA, an entity makes monthly contributions to 
employees’ individual pension accounts at 6% of monthly salaries and wages.  

b. Defined benefit plans 

The defined benefit plan adopted by the Company in accordance with the Labor Standards Law is 
operated by the government. Pension benefits are calculated on the basis of the length of service and 
average monthly salaries of the 6 months before retirement. The Company contributes amounts equal to 
2% of total monthly salaries and wages to a pension fund administered by the pension fund monitoring 
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committee. Pension contributions are deposited in the Bank of Taiwan in the committee’s name. Before 
the end of each year, the Company assesses the balance in the pension fund. If the amount of the 
balance in the pension fund is inadequate to pay retirement benefits for employees who conform to 
retirement requirements in the next year, the Company is required to fund the difference in one 
appropriation that should be made before the end of March of the next year. The pension fund is 
managed by the Bureau of Labor Funds, Ministry of Labor (the Bureau); the Company has no right to 
influence the investment policy and strategy.  

The amounts based on the actuary report of the Company’s defined benefit plans were as follows: 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Present value of funded defined benefit obligation   $ 31,041   $ 28,793 
Fair value of plan assets     (9,657)    (8,459) 

Net defined benefit liability   $ 21,384   $ 20,334 

Movements in net defined benefit liabilities were as follows: 

Present Value 
of the Defined 

Benefit 
Obligation 

Fair Value of 
the Plan Assets 

Net Defined 
Benefit 

Liabilities  

Balance at January 1, 2018   $ 26,575   $ (7,333)   $ 19,242 
Net interest expense (income)    398    (116)    282 
Recognized in profit or loss    398    (116)    282 
Remeasurement 

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts 
included in net interest)    -    (170)    (170) 

Actuarial loss 
Changes in demographic assumptions    352    -    352 
Changes in financial assumptions    538    -    538 
Experience adjustments    930    -    930 

Recognized in other comprehensive loss 
(income)    1,820    (170)    1,650 

Contributions from the employer    -    (840)    (840) 
Balance at December 31, 2018    28,793    (8,459)    20,334 
Net interest expense (income)    396    (122)    274 
Recognized in profit or loss    396    (122)    274 
Remeasurement 

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts 
included in net interest)    -    (248)    (248) 

Actuarial loss (gain) 
Changes in demographic assumptions    375    -    375 
Changes in financial assumptions    1,630    -    1,630 
Experience adjustments    (153)    -    (153) 

Recognized in other comprehensive loss 
(income)    1,852    (248)    1,604 

Contributions from the employer    -    (828)    (828) 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 31,041   $ (9,657)   $ 21,384 
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Through the defined benefit plans under the Labor Standards Law, the Company is exposed to the 
following risks: 

1) Investment risk: The plan assets are invested in domestic and foreign equity and debt securities, 
bank deposits, etc. The investment is conducted at the discretion of the Bureau or under the 
mandated management. However, in accordance with relevant regulations, the return generated by 
plan assets should not be below the interest rate for a 2-year time deposit with local banks. 

2) Interest risk: A decrease in the government bond interest rate will increase the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation; however, this will be partially offset by an increase in the return on the 
plans’ debt investments. 

3) Salary risk: The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated by reference to the 
future salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will 
increase the present value of the defined benefit obligation. 

The actuarial valuations of the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out by 
qualified actuaries. The significant assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as 
follows: 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Discount rate 1.00% 1.375% 
Expected rate of salary increase  4.00% 4.00% 

If possible reasonable changes in each of the significant actuarial assumptions will occur and all other 
assumptions will remain constant, the present value of the defined benefit obligation would increase 
(decrease) as follows: 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Discount rate 
0.25% increase   $ (1,102)   $ (1,071) 
0.25% decrease   $ 1,152   $ 1,121 

Expected rate of salary increase 
0.25% increase   $ 1,103   $ 1,077 
0.25% decrease   $ (1,061)   $ (1,035) 

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual changes in the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions would occur in 
isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated. 

December 31 
2019  2018 

Expected contributions to the plans for the next year  $ 863   $ 890 

Average duration of the defined benefit obligation 14.5 years 15.3 years 
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17. EQUITY 

a. Ordinary shares 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Numbers of shares authorized (in thousands)    100,000    100,000 
Shares authorized    $ 1,000,000   $ 1,000,000 
Number of shares issued and fully paid (in thousands)    75,834    75,791 
Shares issued   $ 758,336   $ 757,908 

For the year Ended December 31, 2019, the shares increased due to the employees’ exercise of their 
employee share options. 

b. Capital surplus 

December 31 
2019 2018 

May be used to offset a deficit, distributed as cash dividends, or  
  transferred to share capital (1) 

Arising from issuance of ordinary shares   $ 287,201   $ 310,759 

May be used to offset a deficit only 

Arising from share of changes in capital surplus of associates    45,060    41,384 
Arising from issuance of ordinary - exercised/invalid employee 

share options     9,160    2,445 

May not be used for any purpose 

Arising from employee share options    63,025    61,949 

  $ 404,446   $ 416,537 

1) Such capital surplus may be used to offset a deficit; in addition, when the Company has no deficit, 
such capital surplus may be distributed as cash dividends or transferred to share capital (limited to a 
certain percentage of the Company’s capital surplus and to once a year). 

c. Retained earnings and dividend policy 

The Company’s Articles of Incorporation state that, where the Company made profit in a fiscal year, the 
profit shall be first utilized for paying taxes, offsetting accumulated losses, setting aside as legal reserve 
10% of the remaining profit, setting aside or reversing a special reserve in accordance with the laws and 
regulations, and then any remaining profit together with any undistributed retained earnings shall be 
used by the Company’s board of directors as the basis for proposing a distribution plan, which should 
be resolved in the shareholders’ meeting for the distribution of dividends and bonuses to shareholders. 
For the policies on the distribution of employees’ compensation and remuneration of directors after the 
amendment, refer to “Employees’ compensation and remuneration of directors” in Note 20 (f). 
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The Company shall distribute dividend with considerations of the market situation and development 
stage, as well as future capital needs, long-term corporate development and the shareholders’ cash flow 
needs. The Company’s dividend policy, in principle, shall not be less than 50% of distributable 
earnings, of which at least 10% will be paid as cash dividend and the remainder will be in the form of 
stock dividend. The board of directors shall map out the distribution proposal in consideration of future 
operation and capital expenditure, and present the proposal at the shareholders’ meeting for approval. 

An appropriation of earnings to a legal reserve shall be made until the legal reserve equals the 
Company’s paid-in capital. The legal reserve may be used to offset deficits. If the Company has no 
deficit and the legal reserve has exceeded 25% of the Company’s paid-in capital, the excess may be 
transferred to capital or distributed in cash. 

Items referred to under Rule No. 1010012865, Rule No. 1010047490 and Rule No. 1030006415 issued 
by the FSC and the directive titled “Questions and Answers for Special Reserves Appropriated 
Following Adoption of IFRSs” should be appropriated to or reversed from a special reserve by the 
Company. 

The appropriations of earnings for 2018 and 2017 which had been approved in the shareholders’ 
meetings on June 13, 2019 and June 14, 2018, respectively, were as follows: 

Appropriation of Earnings 
For the Year Ended December 31 

2018 2017 

Legal reserve   $ 61,311   $ 59,862 
Special reserve   $ 61,006   $ - 
Cash dividends   $ 556,678   $ 538,736 
Cash dividends per share (NT$)   $ 7.50   $ 7.109 

The Company’s shareholders also resolved to issue cash dividends from capital surplus of $37,112 
thousand and $29,631 thousand in the shareholders’ meetings on June 13, 2019 and June 14, 2018, 
respectively. 

The appropriations of earnings for 2019 had been proposed by the Company’s board of directors on 
February 19, 2020. The appropriations and dividends per share were as follows:

For the Year 
Ended  

December 31, 
2019 

Legal reserve   $ 54,047 
Special reserve   $ 3,654  
Cash dividends   $ 408,466  
Cash dividends per share (NT$)   $ 5.5 

Issuance of cash dividends from capital surplus of $111,400 thousand also had been proposed by the 
Company’s board of directors on February 19, 2020. 

The appropriations of earnings for 2019 are subject to the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting to be 
held on June 10, 2020. 
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d. Other equity items 

1) Exchange differences on translating the financial statements of foreign operations 

For the Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Balance at January 1   $ -   $ - 
Recognized for the year 

Share from associates accounted for using the equity 
method    (4)    - 

Other comprehensive loss recognized for the year    (4)    - 

Balance at December 31   $ (4)   $ - 

2) Unrealized valuation gain (loss) on financial assets at FVTOCI 

For the Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018

Balance at January 1   $ (61,932)   $ (62,992) 
Recognized for the year 

Unrealized (loss) gain - equity instruments    (3,650)    1,060 
Other comprehensive (loss) income recognized for the year    (3,650)    1,060 

Balance at December 31   $ (65,582)   $ (61,932) 

e. Treasury shares 
Unit: In Thousands of Shares 

Purpose of Buy-Back 

Number of 
Shares at 
January 1  

Increase 
During the 

Year 

Decrease 
During the 

Year 

Number of 
Shares at 

December 31 

2019 

Shares transferred to employees    1,567    -    -    1,567 

2018 

Shares transferred to employees    -    1,567    -    1,567 

In September 2018, for shares transferred to employees, the Company’s board of directors resolved to 
buy back 2,500 thousand shares of the Company’s ordinary shares from the TPEx market from 
September 14, 2018 to November 13, 2018 with the price interval ranging from NT$177.80 to NT$400 
per share. The Company has bought back 1,567 thousand shares with total cost of NT$404,238 
thousand. 

Under the Securities and Exchange Act, the Company shall neither pledge treasury shares nor exercise 
shareholders’ rights on these shares, such as the rights to dividends and to vote. 
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18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 

Employee share option plan of the Company 

Qualified employees of the Company were granted 500 options in February, 2016. Each option entitles the 
holder to subscribe for one thousand ordinary shares of the Company. The options granted are valid for 10 
years and exercisable at certain percentages after the second anniversary from the grant date. The options 
were granted at an exercise price equal to the closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares listed on the 
TPEx on the grant date. For any subsequent changes in the Company’s ordinary shares or for any cash 
dividends issued in excess of the ratio required in the issuance rule, the exercise price is adjusted 
accordingly. 

The information of employee share options was as follows: 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Number of 
Options (In 
Thousands) 

Weighted- 
average 
Exercise 

Price
(NT$) 

Number of 
Options (In 
Thousands) 

Weighted- 
average 
Exercise 

Price
(NT$) 

Balance at January 1    470   $ 331.6    487   $ 338.7 
Options exercised    (43)    326.7    (8)    338.7 
Options forfeited    (7)    324.2    (9)    338.7 

Balance at December 31    420    324.2    470    331.6 

Options exercisable, end of period    231    324.2    135    331.6 

The weighted-average share prices on the exercise date of the share options for the years ended December 
31, 2019 and 2018 were $369 and $378, respectively. 

Information on outstanding options is as follows: 

December 31
2019 2018

Range of exercise price (NT$)   $ 324.2   $ 331.6 
Weighted-average remaining contractual life (in years)    6.15 years    7.15 years 

Options granted in February 2016 were priced using the Black-Scholes pricing model and the inputs in the 
model were as follows: 

Grant-date share price (NT$)   $ 351 
Exercise price (NT$)   $ 351 
Expected volatility    43.24% 
Expected life (in years)    6-7 years 
Expected dividend yield    - 
Risk-free interest rate    0.71-0.75% 

Compensation costs recognized were NT$7,734 thousand and NT$15,869 thousand for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
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19. REVENUE 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Royalty revenue   $ 979,822   $ 1,026,710 
Technical service revenue    429,507    449,806 

  $ 1,409,329   $ 1,476,516 

a. Contract balances 

December 31, 
2019 

December 31, 
2018 

January 1,  
2018 

Accounts receivables (Note 9)   $ 127,599   $ 158,335   $ 82,457 

Contract liabilities 
Technical service revenue   $ 32,837   $ 37,822   $ 33,471 

The changes in the balance of contract liabilities primarily result from the timing difference between the 
Company’s performance and the respective customer’s payment. 

Revenue of the reporting period recognized from the beginning contract liabilities in the previous 
periods is as follows: 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

From the beginning contract liabilities 
Technical service revenue   $ 25,764   $ 22,390 

b. Partially completed contracts 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Taiwan (Company located)   $ 805,649   $ 880,511 
China    299,718    267,184 
Singapore    122,869    128,410 
Korea    54,698    72,705 
United States of America    40,378    36,755 
Others    86,017    90,951 

  $ 1,409,329   $ 1,476,516 
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20. NET PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

a. Other income 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Interest income 
Bank deposits   $ 9,493   $ 10,663 

Remuneration of directors received    5,142    10,023 
Rental income - operating lease (Note 11)    4,696    3,395 
Dividend income    291    943 

  $ 19,622   $ 25,024 

b. Other gains and losses 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Net foreign exchange (loss) gain   $ (5,287)   $ 5,615 
Government grants income (Note 23)    1,691    - 
Gain on disposal of investment    95    79 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment    -    (278) 
Others    120    12 

  $ (3,381)   $ 5,428 

c. Finance costs  

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Interest on lease liabilities   $ 179   $ - 

d. Depreciation and amortization 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

An analysis of depreciation by function 
Operating expenses   $ 40,477   $ 37,402 

An analysis of amortization by function 
Selling and marketing expenses   $ -   $ - 
General and administrative expenses    1,944    2,130 
Research and development expenses    12,551    11,072 

  $ 14,495   $ 13,202 
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e. Employee benefits expense  

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Post-employment benefits (see Note 16) 
Defined contribution plans   $ 15,811   $ 15,328 
Defined benefit plans    274    282 

   16,085    15,610 
Share-based payments (see Note 18) 

Equity-settled     7,734    15,869 
Other employee benefits    566,342    597,535 

  $ 590,161   $ 629,014 

An analysis of employee benefits expense by function 
Operating expenses   $ 590,161   $ 629,014 

f. Employees’ compensation and remuneration of directors 

According to the Articles of Incorporation of the Company, the Company accrued employees’ 
compensation and remuneration of directors at rates of 1-25% and no higher than 2%, respectively, of 
net profit before income tax, employees’ compensation, and remuneration of directors. The employees’ 
compensation and the remuneration of directors for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
which were approved by the Company’s board of directors on February 19, 2020 and February 26, 
2019, respectively, are as follows:  

Accrual rate 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Employees’ compensation 15% 15% 
Remuneration of directors 1.5% 1.5% 

Amount 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Employees’ compensation   $ 113,746   $ 125,538 
Remuneration of directors   $ 11,374   $ 12,554 

If there is a change in the amounts after the parent company only financial statements are authorized for 
issue, the differences are recorded as a change in the accounting estimate. 

There is no difference between the actual amounts of employees’ compensation and remuneration of 
directors paid and the amounts recognized in the parent company only financial statements for the years 
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

Information on the employees’ compensation and remuneration of directors resolved by the Company’s 
board of directors in 2020 and 2019 is available at the Market Observation Post System website of the 
Taiwan Stock Exchange. 
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21. INCOME TAXES RELATING TO CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

a. Income tax recognized in profit or loss 

The major components of tax expense (income) were as follows: 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Current tax 
In respect of the current year   $ 91,829   $ 87,079 
Adjustments for prior periods    9    (754) 

   91,838    86,325 
Deferred tax 

In respect of the current year    (726)    (228) 
Adjustments to deferred tax attributable to changes in tax rates 

and laws    -    (372) 

Income tax expense recognized in profit or loss   $ 91,112   $ 85,725 

A reconciliation of accounting profit and income tax expense is as follows: 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Profit before tax   $ 633,184   $ 698,831 

Income tax expense calculated at the statutory rate   $ 126,637   $ 139,766 
Nondeductible expenses in determining taxable income    5,333    741  
Tax-exempt income    (84,175)    (93,488) 
Additional income tax under the Alternative Minimum Tax Act    31,304    36,614 
Unrecognized deductible temporary differences and investment 

credits    12,004    3,218 
Adjustments to deferred tax attributable to changes in tax rates 

and laws    -    (372) 
Adjustments for prior years’ tax    9    (754) 

Income tax expense recognized in profit or loss   $ 91,112   $ 85,725 

The Income Tax Act in the ROC was amended in 2018, and the corporate income tax rate was adjusted 
from 17% to 20%. In addition, the rate of the corporate surtax applicable to the 2018 unappropriated 
earnings was reduced from 10% to 5%. 

In July 2019, the President of the ROC announced the amendments to the Statute for Industrial 
Innovation, which stipulate that the amounts of unappropriated earnings in 2018 and thereafter that are 
reinvested in the construction or purchase of certain assets or technologies are allowed as deduction 
when computing the income tax on unappropriated earnings. 

b. Current tax liabilities 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Current tax liabilities 
Income tax payable   $ 56,576   $ 71,897 
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c. Deferred tax assets 

The movements of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities were as follows:  

Year ended December 31, 2019 

Opening 
Balance 

Recognized in 
Profit or Loss 

Closing 
Balance 

Deferred tax assets 

Temporary differences   $ 2,708   $ 726   $ 3,434 

Year ended December 31, 2018 

Opening 
Balance 

Recognized in 
Profit or Loss 

Closing 
Balance 

Deferred tax assets 

Temporary differences   $ 2,108   $ 600   $ 2,708 

d. Information about tax-exemption 

As of December 31, 2019, profits attributable to the following expansion projects were exempted from 
income tax for a five-year period: 

Expansion of Construction Project Tax-exemption Period 

Fifth expansion of the manufacturing plant January 1, 2015-December 31, 2019 
Sixth expansion of the manufacturing plant January 1, 2016-December 31, 2020 

e. Income tax assessments  

The tax returns through 2017 have been assessed by the tax authorities. 

22. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
Unit: NT$ Per Share 

Year Ended December 31
2019 2018 

Basic earnings per share   $ 7.30   $ 8.13 
Diluted earnings per share   $ 7.26   $ 8.07 
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The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding used in the computation of 
earnings per share were as follows: 

Net Profit for the Year 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Earnings used in the computation of basic earnings per share   $ 542,072   $ 613,106 
Effect of potentially dilutive ordinary shares: 

Employees’ compensation    -    - 
Employee share options    -    - 

Earnings used in the computation of diluted earnings per share   $ 542,072   $ 613,106 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (in thousand shares): 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the 
computation of basic earnings per share    74,247    75,425 

Effect of potentially dilutive ordinary shares: 
Employees’ compensation    387    528 
Employee share options    14    - 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the 
computation of diluted earnings per share    74,648    75,953 

Since the Company can offer to settle bonus to employees in cash or shares, the Company assumes the 
entire amount of the bonus would be settled in shares and the resulting potential shares are included in the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding used in the computation of diluted earnings per share, if the 
effect is dilutive. Such dilutive effect of the potential shares is included in the computation of diluted 
earnings per share until the shareholders resolve the number of shares to be distributed to employees at their 
meeting in the following year. 

Since the exercise price of the options or warrants issued by the Company exceeded the average market 
price of the shares during 2018, they are anti-dilutive and excluded from the computation of diluted 
earnings per share. 

23. GOVERNMENT GRANTS 

The Company applied for AI on the chip R&D subsidy program “The Industrial Technology Foresight 
Research Program of Reconfigurable Analog Artificial Intelligence Chip”, proposed by the Ministry of 
Economic Affairs, and the program was approved on December 18, 2019. The total funds approved were 
NT$85,750 thousand, and the subsidies were NT$34,300 thousand. As of December 31, 2019, the 
accumulated government grants income recognized was NT$1,691 thousand. The collateral provided by the 
Company included cashier checks whose drawees are banking industries and guarantee letters and the 
amounts were NT$34,300 thousand and NT$10,080 thousand, respectively. 
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24. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  

The Company manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Company will be able to continue a going 
concern while maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity 
balance. The Company’s overall strategy has no significant changes. 

The capital structure of the Company consists of issued ordinary shares, capital surplus, retained earnings 
and other equity. 

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

a. Fair value of financial instruments that are not measured at fair value 

The management believes the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities not carried at 
fair value approximate their fair values or their fair values cannot be reliably measured. 

b. Fair value of financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis 

1) Fair value hierarchy 

December 31, 2019 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets at FVTOCI 
Investments in equity instruments 

at FVTOCI 
Unlisted shares   $ -   $ -   $ 15,530   $ 15,530 

December 31, 2018 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets at FVTOCI 
Investments in equity instruments 

at FVTOCI  
Unlisted shares   $ -   $ -   $ 19,180   $ 19,180 

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in the current and prior periods. 

2) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial instruments  

Financial Assets at FVTOCI 
Equity Instruments 

Financial Assets 2019 2018 

Balance at January 1   $ 19,180   $ 18,120 
Recognized in other comprehensive income (included in 

unrealized valuation gain (loss) on financial assets at 
FVTOCI)    (3,650)    1,060 

Balance at December 31   $ 15,530   $ 19,180 
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3) Valuation techniques and inputs applied for Level 3 fair value measurement 

Financial Instruments Valuation Techniques and Inputs 

Unlisted shares - ROC Estimate the value of the target by estimating the assets and 
liabilities items or use the observable stocks price company 
comparing items of balance sheet or income statement, 
calculate the implied value multiplier for the price and 
evaluate the value of the target at balance sheet dates. 

c. Categories of financial instruments 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Financial assets 

Financial asset at amortized cost (Note 1)   $ 1,420,734   $ 1,497,322 
Investment in equity instrument at FVTOCI    15,530    19,180 

Financial liabilities 

Amortized cost (Note 2)    25,362    24,171 

Note 1: The balances include financial assets measured at amortized cost, which comprise cash, 
accounts receivables, accounts receivable - related parties, other receivables, other receivables 
- related parties and other current assets. 

Note 2: The balances included financial liabilities measured at amortized cost, which comprise other 
payables and payables on equipment. 

d. Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The Company’s major financial instruments included equity investments, accounts receivable, lease 
liabilities and other payables. The Company’s corporate financial management function provides 
services to the business, coordinates access to domestic and international financial markets, monitors 
and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Company through internal risk reports 
which analyze exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including 
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The Company’s main financial plans are reviewed by the board of directors in accordance with relevant 
regulations and internal control system. 

1) Market risk 

The Company’s activities exposed it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates (see (a) below) and interest rates (see (b) below). 

There had been no change in the Company’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which these 
risks were managed and measured. 

a) Foreign currency risk 

The Company’s operating activities are partially denominated in foreign currencies and apply 
the natural hedge. The purpose of the Company’s management of the foreign currency risk is to 
hedge the risk instead of making a profit. 
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The carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and 
monetary liabilities are set out in Note 28. 

Sensitivity analysis 

The Company is mainly exposed to the exchange rate fluctuation of USD, CNY and JPY. 

The sensitivity analysis included only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary 
items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign 
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in pre-tax profit associated with 
the New Taiwan dollar weakening 5% against the relevant currency. For a 5% strengthening of 
the New Taiwan dollar against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite 
impact on pre-tax profit and the balances below would be negative. The sensitivity analysis 
included cash, accounts receivable, accounts receivable - related parties, other receivables, 
payables on equipment and other payables. 

USD Impact CNY Impact JPY Impact 
Year Ended December 31 Year Ended December 31 Year Ended December 31 

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 

Profit or loss   $ 10,341   $ 10,954   $ 434   $ 1,131   $ 20   $ 15 

b) Interest rate risk  

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk arising from financial assets both at fixed and 
floating interest rates. 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets with exposure to interest rates at the 
end of the reporting periods were as follows: 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Fair value interest rate risk 
Financial assets   $ 779,513   $ 843,230 

Cash flow interest rate risk 
Financial assets    489,005    492,360 

Sensitivity analysis 

The sensitivity analyses below are determined based on the Company’s exposure to interest 
rates for non-derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate assets, 
the analysis was prepared assuming the amount of the asset outstanding at the end of the 
reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. 

If the market interest rates had increased/decreased by 0.1% and all other variables were held 
constant, the Company’s pre-tax profit for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 would 
increase/decrease by $489 thousand and $492 thousand, respectively, mainly due to the 
Company’s exposure to floating interest rate assets. 

2) Credit risk management 

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations and result in 
financial loss to the Company. As at the end of the reporting period, the Company’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Company due to failure of 
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counterparties to discharge an obligation mainly arise from the carrying amount of the respective 
recognized financial assets as stated in the parent company only balance sheets. 

In order to minimize credit risk, the Company has made credit and receivable management 
regulations to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the 
Company reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting 
period to ensure that adequate allowances are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, 
management believes the Company’s credit risk was significantly reduced. 

The credit risk on liquid funds was limited because the counterparties are banks with good credit. 

Apart from the customers whose balances exceeded 5% of the accounts receivable, the Company 
did not have significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of 
counterparties having similar characteristics. 

The customers whose balances exceeded 5% of the accounts receivable are creditworthy 
counterparties. Therefore, the credit risk is limited. 

3) Liquidity risk 

The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring and maintaining a level of cash deemed 
adequate to finance the Company’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.  

Liquidity and interest risk rate tables 

The following table details the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative 
financial liabilities with agreed repayment periods. The tables had been drawn up based on the 
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities from the earliest date on which the Company can be 
required to pay. The tables included both interest and principal cash flows. 

December 31, 2019 

On Demand 
or Less than 

1 Month 1-3 Months 
3 Months to 

1 Year 1+ Years Total 

Non-derivative 
  financial liabilities  

Non-interest bearing   $ 8,103   $ 16,881   $ 908   $ -   $ 25,892 
Lease liabilities    270    540    2,414    4,343    7,567 

  $ 8,373   $ 17,421   $ 3,322   $ 4,343   $ 33,459 

Additional information about the maturity analysis for lease liabilities 

Less than 1 
Year 1-5 Years 5+ Years 

Lease liabilities   $ 3,224   $ 4,343   $ - 
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December 31, 2018 

On Demand or 
Less than  
1 Month 1-3 Months 

3 Months to  
1 Year Total 

Non-derivative 
  financial liabilities  

Non-interest bearing   $ 8,106   $ 15,759   $ 836   $ 24,701 

26. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

The transactions between the Company and its related parties, other than those disclosed in other notes, are 
summarized as follows: 

a. Related party name and category 

Related Party Name Related Party Category 

PUFsceurity Corporation Subsidiaries 
iMQ Technology Inc. Associates 
Powerchip Technology Corporation  Substantive related parties before May 24, 2018 
Powerchip Semiconductor Manufacturing Corp.  Substantive related parties before May 24, 2018 
HeFeChip Corporation Limited Substantive related parties 
Li-Jeng Chen Key management personnel 
T.C.Chen Key management personnel 
Evans Yang Key management personnel 
Chris Lu Key management personnel 

b. Operating revenue 

Year Ended December 31 
Line Items Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Sales Substantive related parties   $ 1,815   $ 44,707 
Subsidiaries    756    - 
Associates    452    1,802 

  $ 3,023   $ 46,509 

The prices that the Company transferred and granted the professional technology to related parties were 
decided by the two sides. The payment term was open account 30 days. 
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c. Other income 

Year Ended December 31 
Line Items Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Remuneration of directors Substantive related parties 
  received Powerchip Technology 

Corporation 
  $ -   $ 10,000 

Others    -    23 

  $ -   $ 10,023 

Other income Key management personnel   $ 95   $ - 

d. Receivables from related parties (excluding loans to related parties) 

December 31 
Line Items Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Accounts receivable -  Subsidiaries 
related parties PUFsceurity Corporation   $ 787   $ - 

Other receivables -  Substantive related parties 
related parties HeFeChip Corporation Limited   $ 410   $ 251 

Subsidiaries    9    - 

  $ 419   $ 251 

The outstanding trade receivables from related parties are unsecured. For the years ended December 31, 
2019 and 2018, no impairment losses were recognized for trade receivables from related parties. 

e. Other current assets 

December 31 
Line Item Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Temporary payment Subsidiaries   $ 3   $ - 

f. Contract liabilities 

December 31 
Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Substantive related parties   $ -   $ 1,312 
Associates    -    452 

  $ -   $ 1,764 
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g. Other current liabilities 

December 31 
Line Items Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Receipt in advance Substantive related parties 
HeFeChip Corporation Limited   $ 550   $ 550 

Temporary receipt Key management personnel   $ 10   $ 25 

h. Guarantee deposits received 

December 31 
Line Items Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Guarantee deposits  Substantive related parties 
received HeFeChip Corporation Limited   $ 520   $ 520 

i. Lease arrangements 

The Company is lessor under operating leases 

The Company leases out offices, parking spaces and dormitories to its substantive related parties - 
HeFeChip Corporation Limited and key management personnel under operating leases with lease terms 
of 1 to 3 years. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the balance of the operating lease receivable was 
$6,191 thousand and $8,331 thousand, respectively. Lease income recognized for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $3,692 thousand and $3,345 thousand, respectively. 

Lease income was as follows: 

For the Year Ended December 31 
Related Party Category 2019 2018 

Substantive related parties 
HeFeChip Corporation Limited   $ 3,335   $ 3,335 

Key management personnel    357    10 

  $ 3,692   $ 3,345 

j. Compensation of key management personnel 

The compensation to directors and the key management personnel were as follows: 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Short-term employee benefits   $ 81,131   $ 85,100 
Post-employment benefits    1,012    1,002 
Share-based payment transactions    2,564    4,696 

  $ 84,707   $ 90,798 

The remuneration of directors and key management personnel, as determined by the remuneration 
committee, was based on the performance of individuals and market trends.
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27. ASSETS PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL OR FOR SECURITY 

The following assets of the Company were provided as deposits for the tariff of imported raw materials: 

December 31 
2019 2018 

Pledged time deposits (classified as financial assets a amortized cost)   $ 113   $ 112 

28. SIGNIFICANT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DENOMINATED IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES 

The Company’s significant financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies aggregated by 
the foreign currencies other than functional currencies and the related exchange rates between foreign 
currencies and respective functional currencies were as follows: 

December 31, 2019 

Foreign 
Currencies Exchange Rate 

Carrying 
Amount 

Financial assets 

Monetary items 
USD   $ 6,899 29.980   $ 206,829 
CNY    2,015 4.305    8,673
JPY    1,440 0.276    398

  $ 215,900 

December 31, 2018 

Foreign 
Currencies Exchange Rate 

Carrying 
Amount 

Financial assets 

Monetary items 
USD   $ 7,158 30.715   $ 219,843 
CNY    5,057 4.472    22,614
JPY    1,087 0.2782    302

  $ 242,759 

Financial liabilities 

Monetary items 
USD    25 30.715   $ 754 
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The significant unrealized foreign exchange gains (losses) were as follows: 

Year Ended December 31 
2019 2018 

Foreign 
Currencies Exchange Rate 

Net Foreign 
Exchange Gains 

(Losses) Exchange Rate 

Net Foreign 
Exchange Gains 

(Losses) 

USD 29.980 (USD:NTD)   $ (3,602) 30.715 (USD:NTD)   $ 2,070 

29. SEPARATELY DISCLOSED ITEMS 

a. Information about significant transactions and investees: 

1) Marketable securities held (excluding investment in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled 
entities). (Table 1) 

2) Information on investees. (Table 2) 

b. Information on investments in mainland China: (None) 
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